Public Document Pack

CABINET
Thursday, 23 March 2017 at 7.30 pm
Council Chamber, Civic Centre
Members
Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council
Councillor Emma Toal, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Youth &
Community
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor Tony Durcan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration & Enterprise
Councillor Waida Forman, Portfolio Holder for Governance
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for Housing
Other Attendees
Councillor Mark Ingall
Councillor Lanie Shears
Councillor John Strachan
AGENDA
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Declarations of Interest
Councillors’ declarations of interest (if any) in relation to any items on the
agenda.

3.

Minutes (Pages 4 - 7)
To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2017.

4.

Matters Arising
Any matters arising from the minutes of the previous meeting.

5.

Written Questions from the Public
To receive any questions from members of the public in accordance with
Rule 10 of the Council Procedure Rules.

6.

Written Questions from Councillors
To receive any questions from Councillors in accordance with Rule 11 of
the Council Procedure Rules.

7.

Petitions

To consider any petitions that have been referred to the Cabinet under
the Council’s Petition Scheme.
8.

Forward Plan (Pages 8 - 13)
To note the Forward Plan, which lists all upcoming Cabinet decisions and
provides notice of key decisions and those expected to be taken in
private session.

9.

Recent Decisions Taken by The Leader, Deputy or Portfolio Holder(s)
There have not been any decisions taken by Portfolio Holders under
delegated powers since the last meeting of the Cabinet.

10.

Joint Finance and Performance Report, Quarter 3 2016/17 (Pages 14 40)

11.

Housing Revenue Account, Quarter 3 Finance Report 2016/17 (Pages
41 - 49)

12.

Capital Programmes Quarter 3 Finance Report 2016/17 (Pages 51 - 64)

13.

HMO Annual Licensing (Pages 65 - 69)

14.

Procurement of domestic waste and recycling collection services (Pages
70 - 147)

15.

Communications from Committees/Working Groups/Parties and Panels

16.

a)

Referral from Cabinet Overview Working Group - Economic
Development Strategy for Harlow (Pages 148 - 172)

b)

Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Review of Community
Engagement (Pages 173 - 183)

Minutes of Panels/Working Groups
To note the following draft minutes of Cabinet appointed bodies. Minutes
remain draft until approved by the relevant body.

17.

a)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 24 January 2017 of Housing
Standards Board (Pages 184 - 185)

b)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 7 February 2017 of Cabinet
Overview Working Group (Pages 186 - 188)

Matters of Urgent Business
To deal with any matters of an urgent nature.

Agenda Item 3

MINUTES OF THE CABINET
HELD ON
23 February 2017

7.40 - 8.15 pm

PRESENT
Committee Members
Councillor Jon Clempner, Leader of the Council
Councillor Mike Danvers, Portfolio Holder for Resources
Councillor Tony Durcan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Enterprise
Councillor Waida Forman, Portfolio Holder for Governance
Councillor Danny Purton, Portfolio Holder for Environment
Councillor Mark Wilkinson, Portfolio Holder for Housing
Additional Attendees
Councillor Mark Ingall
Councillor John Strachan

Officers
Graham Branchett, Chief Operating
Officer
Andrew Bramidge, Project Director –
Enterprise Zone
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Brian Keane, Head of Governance
Adam Rees, Corporate and
Governance Support Officer

Other Councillors
Councillor Simon Carter
Councillor Joel Charles
Councillor Andrew Johnson
Councillor Eddie Johnson
Councillor Russell Perrin
Councillor Clive Souter

111.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Lanie Shears and
Emma Toal.

112.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

113.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 26 January
2017 are agreed as a correct record and signed by the Leader.

114.

MATTERS ARISING
None.

115.

WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC
None.

3

116.

WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM COUNCILLORS
None.

117.

PETITIONS
None.

118.

FORWARD PLAN
The Leader announced that Item 10 on the agenda would be considered
after items 11a and 11b.
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan is noted.

119.

RECENT DECISIONS TAKEN BY THE LEADER, DEPUTY OR
PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S)
RESOLVED that the following decision is noted.

a)

Portfolio Holder for Housing - 30 January 2017

120.

COMMUNICATIONS FROM COMMITTEES/WORKING
GROUPS/PARTIES AND PANELS

a)

Referral from Scrutiny Committee - Health and Wellbeing in Harlow
Cabinet received a report referred to it by the Scrutiny Committee following
a review into health and wellbeing in Harlow.
Proposed by Councillor Tony Durcan (seconded by Councillor Jon
Clempner) it was:
RESOLVED that the Council’s health and wellbeing approach is
referred to the Overview Working Group with a view to developing a
Health and Wellbeing Strategy through the Council’s Health and
Wellbeing Board.

b)

Referral from Cabinet Overview Working Group - Long-term Sustainability
of Pets' Corner
Cabinet received a report referred to it by the Cabinet Overview Working
Group on the long-term sustainability of Pets’ Corner.
Proposed by Councillor Tony Durcan (seconded by Councillor Jon
Clempner) it was:
RESOLVED that:

4

A The current subsidy for Pets’ Corner of £195,000 in 2017/18 and
£198,500 in 2018/19 is maintained and notes the Overview Working
Group’s opinion that funding of some scale will be required beyond
2018/19, albeit in a potentially diminishing level.
B Pets’ Corner develop a number of initiatives to increase income
targets in order to reduce the level of Council subsidy in the future.
121.

ENTERPRISE ZONE INVESTMENT PROPOSAL
Cabinet received a report on an investment proposal for the Enterprise
Zone, which recommended the Council borrowed up to £4 million for
infrastructure works on the site north of London Road and up to £10 million
to develop and construct an office building.
Proposed by Councillor Tony Durcan (seconded by Councillor Jon
Clempner) it was:
RESOLVED that:
A The Council undertakes borrowing of up to £4 million to
complete the infrastructure works at the London Road North site
of the Harlow Enterprise Zone.
B The Council agrees in principle to undertake borrowing up to
£10 million to develop and construct an office building at the
London Road North site of the Harlow Enterprise Zone.
C Delegated authority is given to the Chief Executive, in
consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet
Portfolio Holders for Regeneration and Finance, to determine
the level of borrowing within the maximum agreed in (A) above
and to negotiate and to agree all contracts necessary to deliver
the infrastructure for which the borrowing is undertaken.
D The Chief Executive reports further to Cabinet on the options for
the provision of the building in (B) above.

122.

MINUTES OF PANELS/WORKING GROUPS
RESOLVED that the minutes of the following meetings are noted.

a)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 6 December 2016 of Housing Standards
Board

b)

Minutes of meeting Thursday, 19 January 2017 of Shareholders SubCommittee

c)

Minutes of meeting Tuesday, 31 January 2017 of Harlow Local Highways
Panel

5

123.

MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS
None.

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

6

Harlow Council Forward Plan
This plan contains all decisions that the Council’s Cabinet expects to take over the coming year. Where relevant, each decision has
been identified as a Key Decision or as involving consideration in private session.
The definition of a Key Decision is given in Article 12 of the Council’s Constitution but is also set out here for clarity.
A ‘Key Decision’ means a Cabinet/Portfolio Holder decision which is likely:
a)
to result in the Council incurring expenditure which is, or the making of savings which are, significant having regard to the
Council’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates. For this purpose, expenditure or savings are deemed
to be significant if they exceed £50,000; or
b)
to be significant in terms of its effects on communities living in an area comprising two or more wards in Harlow.
Each decision listed in this Forward Plan has been assigned an exemption status as follows:
7

Open – members of the press and public are expected to be allowed to attend during consideration of this matter.
Confidential – members of the press and public are expected to be excluded during consideration of this matter. The reasons
for this exclusion will be stated in column 5, and relate to a lawful power to exclude the press and public when specific classes
of information are being discussed, as contained in the Local Government Act 1972.

The current members of the Cabinet are as listed on the Council’s website at the following page
http://moderngov.harlow.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=121

Agenda Item 8

A Decision Notice for each Key Decision is published within five days of it being made. Decision Notices and documents to be
considered by decision makers are open for inspection on the Council’s website www.harlow.gov.uk and at the Civic Centre, The
Water Gardens, Harlow, CM20 1WG. Representations on an upcoming key decision can be made by writing to the Chief Executive,
using the address above.

Ref.

Decision title

Decision
Maker

Expected
Date of
Decision and
Ward(s)
affected

Key Decision and private
consideration status

Documents to
be considered
by decision
maker

Portfolio Holder and
Lead Officer

I005
989

Joint Finance and
Performance Report,
Quarter 3 2016/17

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017

Key decision: No

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Resources (Councillor
Mike Danvers)

Likely exemption status:
Open

Simon Freeman
I006
000

Housing Revenue
Account, Quarter 3
Finance Report
2016/17

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017

Key decision: No

Officer's report

Likely exemption status:
Open

Portfolio Holder for
Housing (Councillor
Mark Wilkinson)
Simon Freeman

8

I005
997

Capital Programmes
Quarter 3 Finance
Report 2016/17

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017

Key decision: No
Likely exemption status:
Open

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Resources (Councillor
Mike Danvers),
Portfolio Holder for
Housing (Councillor
Mark Wilkinson)
Simon Freeman

Ref.

Decision title

Decision
Maker

Expected
Date of
Decision and
Ward(s)
affected

Key Decision and private
consideration status

Documents to
be considered
by decision
maker

Portfolio Holder and
Lead Officer

I005
709

HMO Annual
Licensing

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017

Key decision: No

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Environment
(Councillor Danny
Purton)

Likely exemption status:
Open

Graeme Bloomer

9

I007
054

Procurement of
domestic waste and
recycling collection
services

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017

Key decision: Yes

Officer's report

Likely exemption status:
Open

Portfolio Holder for
Environment
(Councillor Danny
Purton)
Graeme Bloomer

I004
195

Economic
Development Strategy
for Harlow

Cabinet

23 Mar 2017
Subject to
OWG review

Key decision: Yes
Likely exemption status:
Open

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Regeneration &
Enterprise (Councillor
Tony Durcan)
Jane Greer

Ref.

Decision title

Decision
Maker

Expected
Date of
Decision and
Ward(s)
affected

Key Decision and private
consideration status

Documents to
be considered
by decision
maker

Portfolio Holder and
Lead Officer

I005
696

Award of contract for
Legionella Risk
Assessments and
Water Hygiene

Cabinet

June 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)

Key decision: Yes

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Housing (Councillor
Mark Wilkinson)

Likely exemption status:
Open

Andrew Murray

I006
849
10

Local Development
Plan - approval of
statutory consultation
document

Cabinet

June 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)
Subject to the
outcomes of
the duty to cooperate
process and
availability of
technical
evidence from
third parties

Key decision: No
Likely exemption status:
Open

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Environment
(Councillor Danny
Purton)
Graeme Bloomer

Ref.

Decision title

Decision
Maker

Expected
Date of
Decision and
Ward(s)
affected

Key Decision and private
consideration status

Documents to
be considered
by decision
maker

Portfolio Holder and
Lead Officer

I004
191

Health and Wellbeing
Strategy

Cabinet

June 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)

Key decision: Yes

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Youth and Community
(Councillor Emma
Toal)

Likely exemption status:
Open

Jane Greer

11

I006
953

I006
955

Harlow Enterprise
Zone - appointment of
an infrastructure
contractor

Regeneration of Lister
House and
surrounding area of
Staple Tye

Cabinet

Cabinet

June 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)

Key decision: Yes

Old Harlow

Information relating to the
financial or business affairs
of any particular person
(including the authority
holding that information)

Sept 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)

Key decision: Yes

Staple Tye

Officer's report

Likely exemption status:
Confidential

Likely exemption status:
Open

Portfolio Holder for
Regeneration &
Enterprise (Councillor
Tony Durcan)
Simon Freeman

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Regeneration &
Enterprise (Councillor
Tony Durcan)
Jane Greer

Ref.

Decision title

Decision
Maker

Expected
Date of
Decision and
Ward(s)
affected

Key Decision and private
consideration status

Documents to
be considered
by decision
maker

Portfolio Holder and
Lead Officer

I001
163

Non Housing Asset
Management Strategy

Cabinet

Sept 2017
(date of
meeting to be
confirmed)

Key decision: Yes

Officer's report

Portfolio Holder for
Regeneration &
Enterprise (Councillor
Tony Durcan)

Likely exemption status:
Open

Graeme Bloomer

12

Agenda Item 10
REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

JOINT FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE
REPORT, QUARTER 3 2016/17

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR JON CLEMPNER, LEADER OF
THE COUNCIL
COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS, PORTFOLIO
HOLDER FOR RESOURCES

LEAD OFFICERS:

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT TEAM / HEADS
OF SERVICE (01279) 446004

This is not a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I005989
This decision is not subject to Call-in procedures for the following reasons:
The recommendations are within the scope of the original budget and Corporate
Plan approved by Full Council in February 2016.
This decision will affect no ward specifically.
RECOMMENDED that:
A Cabinet acknowledges the projected outturn position set out in sections three
and four of Appendix A to this report for the third quarter (October to
December) of 2016/17 as follows:
(i) A favourable variation on controllable budgets of £314,000
representing a net favourable variance of -0.50 percent of the gross
General Fund Budget.
(ii) A total projected underspend of £481,000 representing a forecast
underspend of -0.77 percent of the gross General Fund Budget.
(iii) The Council performed on target or above target for 44 out of 48
(92 percent) of performance indicators.
B The transfers to reserves as set out in the Major Variations table in Appendix
A to this report are made.
REASON FOR DECISION
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the Council's approved
General Fund Budget and Corporate Plan for 2016/17 and acknowledges the
small variation and the caution that should be applied to it given the financial
challenges the Council may face.

13

BACKGROUND
1. This report sets out the Council’s corporate priorities and financial and
performance position as at the end of December 2016. The report is the third
in the formal reporting process for the 2016/17 financial year.
SUMMARY OF QUARTER THREE FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE - 2016/17
2. A review of the third quarter of 2016/17 indicates that, in total, the controllable
General Fund Budget is projected to be under-spent by £314,000 or -0.50 per
cent when compared to the approved gross General Fund Budget. Section
three of Appendix A summarises major budget variations. This variance is
extremely small given the economic circumstances within which the Council
continues to operate.
3. Taking into consideration the budgets which are not directly under service
area control, the overall position at the end of December 2016 is that the
General Fund is expected to underspend by £481,000 or -0.77 percent when
compared to the approved gross General Fund Budget.
4. Careful management of budgets continues to be exercised across all services
in order to guard against expenditure pressures and to offset income
reductions. The current position represents a small variation given the
economic climate and ongoing Government changes to the welfare state.
5. Included within Appendix A to this report are details of the major variations
across all service areas and for non-controllable budgets. The situation has
been closely monitored during the year and the outturn position will be
reported to Cabinet in July 2017.
SUMMARY OF QUARTER THREE OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE –
2016/17
6. Section four of Appendix A details information about the Council’s operational
performance. The Council performed on target or above target for 44 out of
48 (92 percent) of performance indicators. Eighty-eight percent of all
Corporate Plan milestones were successfully completed or on track for
completion as at 31 December 2016.
Details of the Council’s performance indicators can be found on the Council’s
website, www.harlow.gov.uk/performance/
7. Despite an extraordinarily challenging financial environment, the Council
made performance improvements in several key areas linked to its corporate
priorities during the third quarter of 2016/17 including:
a) Percentage of lost calls for contact Harlow: The actual figure of six
percent for Quarter Three is significantly lower than the target of 15
percent. This demonstrates a balance between ensuring good levels of

14

service and maintaining low waiting times for customers resulting in a
low lost call rate.
b) Average waiting time of calls received by Contact Harlow: The
actual figure of 19 seconds for Quarter Three is significantly lower than
the target of 45 seconds. This demonstrates a balance between
ensuring good levels of service and maintaining low waiting times for
customers resulting in a low lost call rate.
c) People sleeping rough (numbers): This indicator is a snapshot of the
number of people that are sleeping rough on the same night each
quarter. The number of rough sleepers reduced to zero for Quarter
Three. This is an expected figure in Quarter Three due to the annual
provision of The Haven night shelter provided by The Chocolate Run
organisation for the Christmas and New Year period.
d) Processing of minor applications within eight weeks (%): Minor
applications often relate to more contentious schemes, such as
proposals for residential infill development, which often need to be
determined by Development Management Committee. The figure of 93
percent achieved for Quarter Three was based on having an increased
awareness of how significant each application is to our performance
and being mindful that applications may need to be assessed early in
the planning process in order to be reported to Committees within the
statutory expiry period.
e) Street and Environmental Cleanliness (% land assessed having
unacceptable levels of litter): Whilst there has been a slight slippage
in performance of this KPI when compared with the previous year, the
results are better than both the regional and national averages for this
KPI and still represent strong performance.
8. Four out of forty-eight (eight percent) of performance indicators did not
perform as well as expected. Each has a detailed Improvement Action Plan
which explains why the performance did not perform as well. Areas of
reduced performance include:
a) The percentage of customer complaints responded to within
target time: The volume of complaints has increased (by over 10
percent) from the same period last year. The percentage of complaints
upheld was 35 per cent, 50 percent were not upheld and 15 percent
were partially upheld. The Heads of Service are reviewing internal
processes with a view to better monitoring of responses for each of
their respective service arears and improving response times.
b) The average time taken in calendar days to process new claims
for Housing Benefit and/or Council Tax Benefit: The overall
performance for the average number of days to process new claims
has improved in Quarter Three compared with Quarter Two.

15

Performance is improving year on year, moving from an average of
31.02 days in 2014/15 to 26.26 days in 2016/17. The year to date
figure for performance at 31 January 2017 is 24.55 days. The service
is implementing increased on line access for customers and greater
automation which it is anticipated will further improve performance in
future reporting periods.
c) Number of households living in Temporary Accommodation:
Quarter Three has seen an increase of 29 percent from last year and
an increase of seven per cent from Quarter Two 2016/17. Housing
Services pre-assess those that are homeless or threatened with
homelessness by providing a separate housing advice and assistance
service (including those that approach for general housing advice).
This provides an early opportunity to signpost, suggest or provide other
housing solutions available. This approach has been successful and is
seen to save costs in the long run, and prevent the actual incidence of
homelessness by early intervention. The Council is also considering
the potential impact/opportunities from the new Homelessness
Reduction Bill which is increasing the statutory role of the Council to
prevent homelessness which is going through the parliamentary
process.
d) Litter bins and dual use bins emptying performance: This minor
indicator measures the percentage of those bins reported as being full
and/or overflowing. One of the 31 bins reported as overflowing in
Quarter Three failed to be dealt with by Kier Harlow Ltd within the
prescribed timescale of 3.5 working hours and so the indicator fell
below target. To set some context to the performance, in Quarter
Three the 460 bins subject to this performance indicator were emptied
(cumulatively) almost 12,000 times. Whilst there was one failure, the
performance has improved upon the previous quarter. Options are
currently being explored with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd to
enhance the bin emptying service town wide.
SIGNIFICANT RISKS / OPPORTUNITIES
9. The Council is operating in a period of major change driven by both the worldwide economic condition and the legislative changes being introduced by the
Government. Some of the key changes that will or are already impacting on
the Council include:
a) The volatility associated with the Government’s localisation of Council
Tax support and business rates.
b) Long term austerity measures which continue to be placed upon
Council funding by the Government leading to the need for the Council
to make significant annual savings.
c) The impact on the Council’s treasury management activities following

16

the EU Referendum vote for ‘Brexit’ together with the announcement
by the Bank of England in August of its cut in base rate to 0.25
percent.
d) Variations in income from fees and charges as public spending habits
respond to the economic climate.
10. Section six of Appendix A details information about the two exceptional risks
(rated 20 or higher – high likelihood, high impact) recorded in the Council’s
Risk Register as of 31 December 2016* which are that:
a) The Government’s fiscal policy in respect of deficit reduction reducing
public sector funding, combined with the Council’s limited ability to
raise income could result in the Council’s financial resilience being at
risk.
b) Harlow requires a suitable housing mix to attract new and retain
existing residents for an evolving and sustainable community. Supply
must be balanced with demand and housing need, taking into account
National Housing and Planning policies. As part of that mix, housing for
local people that is genuinely affordable remains a high priority for the
Council.
* These risks relate to 31 December 2016 and may have changed between
that period of time and the meeting of Cabinet.
IMPLICATIONS
Place (includes Sustainability)
None other than set out in the report.
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place
Finance (Includes ICT)
The Financial implications are set out within the report and its appendix.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
None other than set out in the report
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
As contained within the report
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
Any specific implications are set out in the report.
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance

17

Background Papers
None
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
IAP – Improvement Action Plan
KPI – Key Performance Indicator
Appendices
Appendix A – Joint Finance and Performance Report for the period ending
31/12/2016, Quarter 3

18

APPENDIX A

Harlow Council
Joint Finance and Performance Report for the
period ending
31/12/2016, Quarter Three

19

The Council’s aim for 2016-17 –

“to improve Harlow for residents, businesses and
visitors”
The Council’s priorities:
1. More and better housing

2. Regeneration and a
thriving economy

3. Wellbeing and social inclusion

4. A clean and green environment

5. Successful children and young people

20

How to use this report
You may wish to consider the following questions to form an idea on how well the
Council is doing in achieving its priorities and objectives.
Questions which the reader may wish to consider:
1. What are the reasons for the performance being below target?
2. What is the Council’s expenditure on this service?
3. Has performance fluctuated between quarters and what are the reasons for this?
4. Is it anticipated that the target will be met by the end of the year?
5. What are the proposed actions to improve performance and achieve the target and
when will this be done by?
6. How well is the Council responding to gaps in performance or shortfalls in income?
Other areas for consideration could include:
7. Is the indicator a high priority for the Council? Is this reflected in the budget?
8. How does the service compare to other local authorities in terms of value for money –
how does the Council’s expenditure on this service and performance achieved
compare to similar local authorities?
9. What are other Council’s doing to improve performance in this area?
10. Are there any overspends/underspends in the budget area within which the under
performing indicator sits?
11. Are there any future projects planned that will enhance existing performance?
12. How severe or likely are risks associated with lower level performance?
Performance Symbols:
Symbols used to measure performance.
Below Target:
e.g. more than 5%
worse than target

On Target:
e.g. within 5% of target

Above Target:
e.g. more than 5%
above target

Data not yet available:
e.g. survey information
pending









Direction of Travel (DOT) Symbols:
The direction of travel is from the same quarter in the previous year.
Going up and
getting better
e.g. % of rent
collected

Going down and
getting better e.g.
crime levels

Exactly the
same as
previous year

Going up and
getting worse e.g
levels of litter

Going down and
getting worse e.g.
income generated











21

Section One: Key considerations for Quarter Three

FINANCE

22



Continued long term austerity measures placed upon local
government by central government.



Impact on the Council’s treasury management activities
following the EU referendum vote for ‘Brexit’ together with the
announcement by the Bank of England in August of its cut in
base rate to 0.25%.

RISK

CR01 – Financial resilience
CR03 – Lack of Suitable Housing Mix

The Council is on target to meet eighty-eight per cent of its
Corporate Plan milestones with 49 out of 168 key corporate
milestones completed between April 2016 and December 2016.
Two milestones were ‘red’ and five milestones are ‘not started’
for quarter ended 31 December 2016.

CORPORATE PLAN

The following exceptional residual risks (rated as high
likelihood, high impact) have been highlighted for this quarter:

PERFORMANCE

The key issues relating to the Council’s finances, performance, risks and corporate projects (excluding the HRA):
The forecast outturn position for 2016/17 is that the controllable
The following performance indicators did not meet their
General Fund revenue budget will underspend by £314,000 on its
performance target:
gross controllable costs. This represents an underspend of
-0.50% of the Council’s approved gross budget for the General
Community Wellbeing Service : CS25q Percentage of
Fund. Taking into consideration the budgets which are not
customer complaints responded to within target time
controllable by services, together with anticipated transfers to
reserves, the forecast underspend is £481,000 or -0.77%.
Finance Service : BF005 Average days to process new claims
Housing Service : NI156 Number of households living in
Key risks in relation to financial management are currently:
Temporary Accommodation
 The risks and volatility associated with the Government’s
localisation of council tax support and business rates.
Place Service : JVC 114 Litter and dual bins emptying
performance (2.15) (%)
 Variations in income from fees and charges as public
spending habits respond to the economic climate.

Section Two: What our customers are telling us (complaints)
Summary:
The Council provides and commissions a large number of services to a population of
over 85,000 residents. In its role as a Housing Provider with over nine thousand
properties, each year it undertakes in excess of 600,000 housing transactions, deals
with hundreds of thousands of enquiries at Contact Harlow and provides Housing
Benefit and Local Council Tax Support administration for a caseload of nine
thousand benefit claimants.
The Council takes all complaints seriously and aims to respond to and resolve all
stage one and stage two complaints within ten working days and stage three
complaints within 15 working days.
The trend line on the chart below, shows that the overall number of complaints has
remained fairly static over the last year and monthly trends are reflected year on year
with decrease in volumes during this quarter. Seventy nine per cent of complaints
were resolved by Stage One.
Complaints Received

Complaints Trend

160
140
120

100

80

97

90

73

67

80
60

91

89
63

67

86

72

82

60

52

39

40
20
Dec-16

Nov-16

Oct-16

Sep-16

Aug-16

Jul-16

Jun-16

May-16

Apr-16

Mar-16

Feb-16

Jan-16

Dec-15

Nov-15

Oct-15

0

In quarter three (October to December 2016) there were 180 performance, 23
person and 17 policy related complaints. The main areas of complaints were 47 per
cent Kier Harlow Ltd - Housing and 30 per cent Housing Services. Detailed
information is fed back to service managers to ensure that lessons can be learned
and improvements made where required.

23

Section Three: Latest Financial Performance
The Council continues to face financial challenges as identified within its Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) which was approved by Full Council on
2 February 2017. The Council has adopted the Government’s four year Formula
Funding settlement and whilst this has protected against further funding cuts, the
Government’s formula drives annual reductions in the grant it provides to the
Council. The impact on the 2017/18 budget places a reduction in Government grant
of nearly £631,000 which equates to a cut of 15.9% in the Council’s core funding.
The contents of this report highlight the extremely tight financial control being placed
upon existing budgets and the degree to which services are looking ahead and
planning to manage lower funding levels before the reductions actually take effect.
The forecast service underspend on the controllable budgets in 2016/17 total
£314,000 or -0.50% of the Council’s gross budget. Taking into account the reduction
in the HRA recharges to the General Fund together with the approved carry forwards
from 2015/16 and the proposed transfer to the Regeneration Enterprise Reserve, the
forecast underspend is £481,000 or -0.77% of the gross budget.
The Council has been determined to continue to deliver key services to and for the
benefit of Harlow residents despite unprecedented Government funding cuts. Further
contributions have been made to support some key discretionary services to be
delivered into the future. This provides confidence that the Council’s services will
strive to manage with ever reducing funding levels wherever possible.
Simon Freeman, Head of Finance

24

Movements in General Fund Balance in Quarter Three 2016/17
£000s*
General Fund opening balance as at 1 Apr 2016

3,888

 Service budget variations (favourable)

314

 Other variations

667

 Anticipated transfer to Regeneration Enterprise Reserve

(500)

 Budget carry over from 2015/16 into 2016/17 (approved Cabinet 21/7/16)

(137)

Balance on General Fund at 31 March 2017 (Projected)

4232

* Note: Figures in brackets () reduce the projected General Fund Balance.

3%

2.5
%

2016/17 Projected Outturn

2%

1.5
%

1%

The Council projects to
underspend by a margin of
–0.77% on its gross
General Fund revenue
budget.

0.5

-0.
5%

-1%

-1 .
5%

-2 %

-2.
5

-3%

25

%

%

Latest Financial Performance (Budget Variations / Exceptions):
Major Variances – Quarter 3 of 2016/17:
Adverse
Favourable
Service
£000s
£000s
Community Wellbeing
The Playhouse

Net
£000s

Main Contributing Factors to
Variations
25 This forecast overspend is due to

25

the increased costs of shows and
productions of £22,000 and the
non-achievement of the vacancy
savings target (£19,000) offset by
lower than anticipated energy
costs due to reduced prices
(£12,000) and business rates
being lower than had been
forecast (£4,000).
Regeneration Team

(61)

(61) This variation reflects reduced
salaries due to vacancies,
(£24,000), the share of the
2015/16 HUB profits (£47,000)
offset by net increase in running
expenses, £10,000.

Other Minor Variations

(17)

Total Community
Wellbeing

(17)
(53)

Place
Latton Bush Centre

(51)

(51) Increased service charges
income as a result of full
occupation of the Centre.

Hackney Carriages and
Private Hire

31

Bus Terminus

31

31 Increased employee costs due to
provision of cover for long term
sickness.

31 This variance is due to the living
wage increase in the cleaning
contract plus reduced net income
from bus departure fees following
the withdrawal of operator
licences for two bus operators.

Housing Garages
(General Fund)

(78)

(78) The variation reflects the impact

Commercial Properties

(35)

(35) Increased rental income.

The Stow Shopping
Centre

(45)

(45) Forecast increased rental income.

Water Gardens Car Park

(53)

(53) Increased income from Penalty

of this year’s increase in weekly
garage rent charges.

Charges Notices.
Civic Centre

32 Increases in overtime and energy

32

costs together with the uplift in the
cleaning contract costs.
Building Control

(26)

(26) Reduced employee costs as a
result of a staff member retiring.

26

Service
Planning Services

Adverse
£000s

Favourable
£000s

Net
£000s

Main Contributing Factors to
Variations

166 The variance is the result of a

166

reduction in employee costs due
to vacancies and maternity leave
(£33,000) and the receipt of
DCLG grant income of £6,000.
This is offset by a forecast
£200,000 reduction in income
from planning applications due to
the uncertainty around the timing
of a number of potential major
applications.
Car Parks

(70)

(70) This favourable forecast is due to
an increase in income from the
Pay & Display car parks.

Other Minor Variations

90

90

Total Place

(8)

Housing (General Fund)
Supporting People

(117)

(117) Income from dispersed alarms is
better than expected due to
prudent assumptions made for
the phasing of charges and the
level of demand for alarms (note:
£94,000 of this underspend will
be passed onto the HRA at yearend). This forecast saving is due
to staff vacancies and part year
flexible retirement.

Other Minor Variations

(20)

Total Housing

(20)
(137)

Finance
Revenues and Benefits

33 This forecast overspend includes

33

the costs associated with training
provided to staff on the Civica
revenues and benefits system.
Accountancy

34 Agency staffing costs offset by

34

staff vacancies.
Insurance

(68)

(68) Policy excess projected
underspend.

Early Retirement / Under
Funding Pension
Scheme

(59)

Other Minor Variations

(56)

(59) Projected underspend on Added
Years Superannuation which is
offset by financial strain
payments.

Total Finance

(56)
(116)

Service Specific Variations

(314)

27

Subtotal

Service

Adverse
£000s

Favourable
£000s

Net
£000s

Main Contributing Factors to
Variations

Other
Costs chargeable to/from
the HRA

94

Other Income

(523)

(429) This includes an underspend

(238)

(238) Windfall income over and above

within Garages – General Fund of
(£390,000) against the revenue
contribution to capital budget due
to there being reduced
expenditure on garages in the
capital investment programme in
2016/17 and £94,000 of the
underspend in the Supporting
People cost centre noted above.

the amount budgeted in 2015/16
as a result of the good work
carried out in Revenues and
Benefits to target fraud and error
on Council Tax accounts and a
general reduction in the number
of claimants receiving Localised
Council Tax Support. The sum
was adjusted in the July 2016
precept payment to ECC and
therefore included in the
Collection Fund at Quarter 2. It
has now been transferred from
the Collection Fund to the
General Fund.

Total Other Variations

(667)

Total Budget Variations

(981)

Reserve Movements
Earmarked Reserves

500 Anticipated transfer to the

500

Regeneration Enterprise Reserve.

Total General Fund Budget
Variations

(481)

**Note: Figures in () are credit e.g. income or underspend.

28

Service based analysis
Community Wellbeing, Jane Greer
Overall, financial control is good with a net underspend partly contributed to
vacancy savings. However, a loss of hirers fees at the Playhouse has had a
negative impact on income and has contributed towards an overspend of the
Playhouse budget, which continues to be monitored closely.
Place Services, Graeme Bloomer
The Council’s commercial estate portfolio is performing well with a very high
occupancy rate yielding better than expected rental returns.
Parking fee income is yielding better than anticipated results.
On the less favourable side, anticipated planning applications for major sites (e.g.
Newhall, Gilden Way) have not come forward and hence the downward adjustment
to planning fee income.
Overall the Place Services budget is on track for a slight underspend.
Housing, Andrew Murray
Resources for housing need are continually being reduced through on-going
prioritisation and targeting of resources against continued increases in the costs
and increasing competition locally principally from London Boroughs associated
with the supply of external temporary accommodation. These reductions are set
against increased demand for temporary accommodation both locally and
nationally. The service continues to prioritise homelessness prevention initiatives
in an attempt to reduce the increased demand thus reducing the Council`s
statutory provision and overall costs.
ECC have confirmed the cessation of funding and commissioning for Housing
Related Support (HRS) activities in December 2016.
Governance, Brian Keane
Good financial control continues to be maintained during the third quarter of the
2016/17 financial year with no major variations to be reported at this stage of the
year. Issues which may arise will generally be staffing related, through the
occurrence of vacancy savings currently built in to the service budget. Income from
Land Charges will be monitored closely as this will be largely determined by the
housing market locally.
Finance, Simon Freeman
The current forecast for the Finance Service is that it will underspend by
£116,000 in 2016/17 which is in line with the Quarter Two projection. The
underspend is largely attributable to areas of the service budget which
support corporate activity such as Insurances and Pensions offset by some
one off cost pressures in specific service areas as detailed in the major
variances table within this report.

29

Section Four: Performance
Harlow Council performed on target or above target for 44 out of 48 (92 per cent) of
performance indicators. Sixty-six per cent of indicators have been maintained or
improved compared to Quarter Three 2015/16.

Percentage of
indicators within or
better than target
Percentage of
indicators improving
or unchanged from
the same period last
year

Qtr ended
31/12/2015

Qtr ended
31/03/2016

Qtr ended
30/06/2016

Qtr ended
30/09/2016

Qtr ended
31/12/2016

91%

93%

89%

90%

92%

Qtr ended
31/12/2015

Qtr ended
31/03/2016

Qtr ended
30/06/2016

Qtr ended
30/09/2016

Qtr ended
31/12/2016

70%

66%

64%

60%

66%

Good Performance:
Harlow Council continues to improve performance in a number of areas. Twenty one
out of 48 (44 per cent) performance indicators performed significantly above their
target. Listed below is a selection of KPI’s which are contributing towards the
achievement of the Council’s priorities.
31/12/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2016
Actual
Target
Actual
Target
CS02b Lost calls for
7.25
15
6.06
15
Contact Harlow (%)
This demonstrates a balance between ensuring good levels of service and
maintaining low waiting times for customers resulting in a low lost call rate.
CS50 Average
time of calls
26
45
19
45
 waiting
received by Contact
Harlow
This links with CS02b and demonstrates a balance between ensuring good levels of
service and maintaining low waiting times for customers resulting in a low lost call
rate.
BV202 People
2
12
0
14
 sleeping rough
(numbers)
The number of rough sleepers has reduced to zero this quarter (previously Quarter
One (12) and Quarter Two (18)).



This is an expected figure in Quarter Three due to the annual provision of ‘The
Haven’ night shelter provided by ‘The Chocolate Run’ organisation for the Christmas
and New Year period from 23 December 2016 to 1 January 2017.
This indicator is a snapshot of people that are sleeping rough on one night of each
quarter and is expected to rise in quarter four after the provision for this period
expires.

30

31/12/2015 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2016
Actual
Target
Actual
Target
NI157b Processing
of minor
88.89
65
93.30
65
 applications within
8 weeks (%)
Minor applications often relate to more contentious schemes, such as proposals for
residential infill development, which often need to be determined by Development
Management Committee.
Improved statistics are based on having an increased awareness of how significant
each application is to performance and being mindful that applications may need to
be assessed early in the planning process in order to be reported to Committees
within the statutory expiry period.
NI195a Street &
Environmental
(% land
0.89
4
2.67
4
 Cleanliness
assessed having
unacceptable levels
of litter)
Whilst there has been a slight slippage in performance of this KPI when compared
with the previous year, the results are better than both the regional and national
averages for this KPI and still represent strong performance.

31

Section Five: Improvement Action Plans
Harlow Council keeps track of any indicator which has been subjected to an
Improvement Action Plan (IAP) during the past 12 months. The table below
illustrates how each indicator subjected to an IAP has performed over time.
QTR 3 QTR 4 QTR 1 QTR 2 QTR 3
Performance Indicators
15/16
15/16
16/17
16/17
16/17
CS25q percentage of customer
complaints responded to within
target time











BF005 Average days to process
new claims











BF006 Average days to process
change events











BV012 Average number of working
days / shifts lost to sickness &
absence











JVC 302 Urgent Housing Requests
within 5 days (4.8) (%)











NI156 Number of households living
in Temporary Accommodation











BV082ai Household waste recycled
(%)











BV082bi Household waste
composted (%)











JVC 114 Litter bins not overflowing
(2.15) (%)











JVC 207d Tree works carried out
within 80 working days (four
months) (3.14d) (per cent)











JVC 402 % standard Non Housing
repairs within 20 days (5.3)











JVC 403 % Non Housing Property
statutory tests before due date (5.4)











NI195c Improved street and
environmental cleanliness (graffiti)











Number of under-performing
indicators

4

4

5

5

4

32

Improvement Action Plan
Reporting Period Ended: 31/12/2016
Performance
Indicator
CS25q Percentage
of customer
complaints
responded to within
target time

Performance
to
31/12/15
Harlow
Actual
Harlow
Target

to
31/03/16

to
30/06/16

to
30/09/16

to
31/12/16

80.90

82.70

80.37

85.20

78.18

85

85

85

85

85

Description
The quarterly
percentage of total
customer
complaints (posted,
emailed or
telephoned) that
were responded to
within Council’s
target time. A
higher percentage
of customers
complaints
responded to within
target time
demonstrates good
performance

Performance Chart

Direction of Travel


What is the performance situation?
The volume of complaints has increased (by over 10 per cent) from the same period
last year although the overall volumes for 2016/17 are forecast to match those for
2015/16. In December 2015, the Council received the lowest amount of complaints in a
single month which has contributed to the comparative increase this quarter.
The percentage of complaints upheld was 35 per cent; not upheld 50 per cent; and
partially upheld 15 per cent.

What practical steps are being taken to improve?
In addition to the complaints being monitored and reviewed by Contact Harlow,
detailed breakdown reports are sent to CMT/Heads of Service on a monthly basis.
Using this information they are reviewing internal processes with a view to improve
monitoring of responses for each of their respective service areas to improve response
times.

33

Improvement Action Plan
Reporting Period Ended: 31/12/2016
Performance
Indicator
BF005 Average
days to process
new claims

Description
The average time
taken in calendar
days to process
new claims for
Housing Benefit
and/or Council Tax
Benefit

Performance
to
31/12/15
Harlow
Actual
Harlow
Target

to
31/03/16

to
30/06/16

to
30/09/16

to
31/12/16

23.93

23.24

21.99

26.26

24.33

22

22

22

22

22

Performance Chart

Direction of Travel


What is the performance situation?
The overall performance for the average number of days to process new claims is
improving in Quarter Three compared to Quarter Two.
Performance is improving year on year, moving from an average of 31.02 days in
2014/15 to 26.26 days in 2016/17. The year to date figure for performance at 31
January 2017 is 24.55 days.
What practical steps are being taken to improve?
The service is implementing increased online access for customers and greater
automation which is anticipated will further improve performance in future reporting
periods. Whilst measures are being implemented to mitigate the situation it is likely that
a degree of fluctuation year on year will be experienced and will relate to claimant
activity and Department for Work and Pensions/Government scheme changes and
reviews.

34

Improvement Action Plan
Reporting Period Ended: 31/12/2016
Performance
Indicator
NI156 Number of
households living
in Temporary
Accommodation

Performance
to
31/12/15
Harlow
Actual
Harlow
Target

to
31/03/16

to
30/06/16

to
30/09/16

to
31/12/16

173

175

181

199

213

160

160

175

175

175

Description
This indicator
measures the
numbers of
households living
in temporary
accommodation
provided under the
homelessness
legislation

Performance Chart

Direction of Travel


What is the performance situation?
The Council has a statutory duty to assist those people that are homeless. They are
accommodated in emergency accommodation pending a formal homeless decision.
The Improvement Action Plan Quarter 2 2016/17 outlined the predicted increase for
the remaining two quarters 2016/17 and forecast the increase is likely to be over 30
per cent by the end of Quarter Four.
The Performance Indicator is a snapshot of the total number of households in
temporary accommodation (TA) at the end of each quarter. Quarter Three has seen an
increase of 29 per cent from last year and an increase of 7 per cent from Quarter Two
2016/17. National data shows that England (excluding London Boroughs) has seen a
45 per cent increase in TA placements from 31 March 2012 up to 30 June 2016.
Homelessness due to the loss of an assured shorthold tenancy continues to be the
largest factor in new cases of homelessness, currently 31per cent of all cases. Harlow
has seen a 70 per cent increase in the twelve months from between June 2015/16 and
June 2016/17. TA costs impact on both General Fund and Housing Revenue Account
expenditure. There has been a 48 per cent increase in homelessness acceptances and

35

a 40 per cent increase in the number of formal applications.
The last nine months has also seen the closure of Occasio House and the relocations
associated with Phase 2 of the redevelopment of The Briars, Aylets Field and Copshall
Close. This will significantly impact on the numbers in TA whilst reducing the number of
units available to applicants in TA.
It is expected this number of homelessness cases will continue to rise throughout the
next twelve months and the trend will also impact on the length of time applicants
spend in TA due to the shortage of social housing and the increase in demand via the
Housing Needs Register.
What practical steps are being taken to improve?
The Council will continue to focus its resources on the prevention/relief of
homelessness. To enable this, Housing Services pre-assess those that are homeless
or threatened with homelessness by providing a separate housing advice and
assistance service (including those that approach for general housing advice). This
provides an early opportunity to signpost, suggest or provide other housing solutions
available. This approach has been successful and is seen to save costs in the long
run, and prevent the actual incidence of homelessness by early intervention.
The Council continues to manage the increased in expenditure between the Housing
Revenue Account (HRA) and General Fund (GF). In addition, it uses empty properties
from the Priority Estates areas, aligned to the current phasing plan. As well as using
more of its own stock of available studio flats, reviewing procurement opportunities for
securing properties making use of derelict Council land therefore reducing the reliance
on private sector accommodation and associated costs.
The Council is also considering the potential impact/opportunities of the new
Homelessness Reduction Bill which increases the statutory role of the Council to
prevent homelessness which is going through the parliamentary process.

36

Improvement Action Plan
Reporting Period Ended: 31/12/2016
Performance
Indicator
JVC 114 Litter bins
and dual use bins
emptying
performance (2.15)
(%)

Performance
to
31/12/15
Harlow
Actual
Harlow
Target

to
31/03/16

to
30/06/16

to
30/09/16

to
31/12/16

99.20

98.82

96

93.46

94.24

100

100

100

100

100

Description
Full and
overflowing litter
and dual use bins
will be emptied
within 3.5 hours of
the report being
received

Performance Chart

Direction of Travel


What is the performance situation?
This indicator measures the percentage of those bins reported as being full and/or
overflowing that were emptied within 3.5 working hours of the report being received.
Performance has improved significantly. In Quarter Three only one bin reported as full
or overflowing was not emptied within the target timescale. However because of the
year-to-date nature of the reporting of this KPI reported performance will not fully
recover to 100 per cent during any year in which some reports have taken longer than
3.5 hours to clear. To set some context to the performance: in Quarter Three the 460
bins subject to this performance indicator were emptied (cumulatively) almost 12,000
times.
What practical steps are being taken to improve?
Management of the work stream has been revised. The Council has arranged for
provision of more bins at Spurriers café area by the concession holder. Of 14 largercapacity bins to be provided in the Town Park 10 are in place. As the opportunity
arises to renew bins within existing resources, larger capacity bins will be supplied.
Options are currently being explored with HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd to
enhance the bin emptying service town wide.

37

Section Six: Key Corporate and Financial Risks

Risk Owner

Inherent
Likelihood

Inherent
Impact

Controls Already in Place

Residual
Likelihood

Residual
Impact

Residual
Risk Score

Residual
Foreseeable Foreseeable Foreseeable Additional actions to
Risk
DoT
Likelihood
Impact
Risk Score mitigate risk
Indicator

Last
Reviewed

CR01 - Financial resilience

38

IF : If a sustainable budget is not secured
THEN : Then the Council will lack financial resilience
BACKGROUND : The Government's fiscal policy in respect of deficit reduction reducing public sector funding combined with the Council's limited ability to raise income could result in the
Council's financial resilience being at risk.
Development of the
Council's MTFS and the
Whilst the pressures
detailed planning of
generated in the
future budgets is now
Council's grant income
undertaken early in the
are largely driven by
financial year and is an
Government policy the
ongoing process rather
financial situation
than an annual review
continues to be
and is linked with the
monitored at a high
Freeman,
Moderate
monthly Budget
Likely (4)
Major (4)
Likely (4)
Major (4)
21
Likely (4)
17 frequency. The
31/12/2016
Simon
(3)
Monitoring process.
Administration will
However, for the period
continue to be provided
of the MTFS there are
with detailed financial
substantial budget
information and will be
reductions required to
appropriately supported
meet the Government's
in reaching decisions
funding cuts which may
upon how these financial
impact on deliverablility
challenges can be faced.
of a sustainable budget
in the medium term.

CR03 - Lack of Suitable Housing Mix

IF : If the town lacks a suitable housing mix
THEN : Then it will not attract or retain residents
BACKGROUND : The town requires a suitable housing mix to attract new and retain existing residents for an evolving and sustainable community. Supply must be balanced with demand and
housing need, taking into account National Housing and Planning policies. As part of that mix, housing for local people that is genuinely affordable remains a high priority for the Council.
Duty to cooperate
discussions. Housing
Bloomer,
Moderate
Implement Local
Likely (4)
Major (4)
Likely (4)
Major (4)
21
Major (4)
18
31/12/2016
studies including joint
(3)
Graeme
Development Plan
ones to support the Local
Plan.

Section Seven: Progress in delivering the Corporate Plan
Corporate Priorities Milestone Tracker as at 31/12/2016
The Corporate Plan includes an Action Plan setting out the milestones the Council needs to complete in order to deliver its
objectives. Below is a status update of how well the Council is doing in delivering its Plan.

Eighty-eight per cent (147 out of
168) of all milestones are selfassessed as completed or on
track as at 31 December 2016.

39

Eight per cent (14 out of 168) of
milestones have lapsed or
require further action to ensure
they are brought back on track.
One per cent (2 out of 168) of
milestones is significantly off
target as at 30 December 2016.
(See next page for explanation)

Completed Milestones
On Track Milestones
Further action required
Significantly off target
Not Started Milestones

Number
%
49
29%
98
58%
14
8%
2
1%
5
3%

Three per cent (5 out of 168) of
milestones have not started.

Milestones that are assessed as significantly off track (red)
Objective

HSG02 – Implement
the new Housing and
Planning Act

Action

HSG02.01 – Review
impact of policy
changes

40

FIN05 – Maintain,
improve and enhance a FIN05.03 – to ensure
secure IT and
the security, integrity
telephony service to
and availability of data
the Council

Milestone

Due Date

RAG
Status

HSG02.01.01 – Impact
assessments made

31/10/2016



FIN05.03.01 –
Continued PSN code of
connection certification
/ business critical
services are
maintained

31/07/2016



What is the performance
situation?
Partially complete.
Government guidance is
outstanding on ‘fixed term’
tenancy rules, sale of high
value voids and Housing
Revenue Account financial
implications.
Cabinet Office formally
notified authorities
(13/02/2017) that Certification
will not be issued to any
authority operating Windows
2003 Servers. The ICT
Service will accelerate the
transition from the 2003
servers and will look to
complete transfer by end of
April 2017.

Agenda Item 11

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT, QUARTER
3 FINANCE REPORT 2016/17

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS,
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR RESOURCES
COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON,
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR HOUSING

LEAD OFFICER(S):

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE
(01279) 446228
ANDREW MURRAY, HEAD OF HOUSING
(01279) 446676

CONTRIBUTING
OFFICER(S):

ANDREW SMITH, FINANCE MANAGER
(01279) 446212
ALISON CURTIS, SENIOR SERVICE
ACCOUNTANT (01279) 446211

This is not a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I005997
The decision is not subject to Call-in procedures for the following
reason:
The recommendations are within the scope of the budget which has been
approved by Full Council.
This decision will not affect any ward specifically
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:
A Notes:
(i)

A favourable variation against the approved Housing Revenue
Account (HRA) operational/controllable budget of (-)£508,000
representing (-)0.90 percent of the gross HRA budget.

(ii)

A favourable non-operational variance of (-) £3,588,000
representing (-)6.39 percent of gross HRA budget which includes
adjustments to capital programme financing as a result of the
revised outturn for 2016/17.

B Notes the forecast balances at 31 March 2017, of £10,287,000 in respect of
the Housing Revenue Account and nil in respect of the Major Repairs
Reserve.

41

REASON FOR DECISON
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the approved HRA
Business Plan and acknowledges the operational variations in light of the
challenges the Council may face.
BACKGROUND
1.

This report sets out the Council’s financial performance against the agreed
HRA Budget 2016/17 and provides an indication of the budget projection as
at 31 March 2017.

2.

The Council approved a minimum revenue balance of £4,327,000 in 2016/17.

3.

The 2016/17 HRA original budget estimate anticipated a working balance on
the HRA of £6,191,000 at 31 March 2017. The projected balance at quarter
three is £10,287,000 which equates to a total variance of (-)£4,096,000
(-)7.29% of the gross HRA budget

ISSUES
Variances
4.

The operational variance for 2016/17 against the original estimate totals
(-)£508,000 underspend (see Appendix A). Key items driving this variation
are:
(i)

A favourable variance of (-)£389,000 from staffing vacancies in
General Management. It has proven difficult to recruit to some
posts resulting in vacancies in certain areas and where appropriate
posts have been covered by temporary staff. This has been
reflected in the estimates which project the full year savings.
Restructuring of staff teams has also provided savings against
salary budgets.

(ii)

The schedule of work to Priority Estates was revised with Phase
One fully decanted by 31 March 2016. In order to maintain the
security and cleanliness of the estates in this period of movement
and demolition, work estimated to total £72,000 is required. This
has not been budgeted for. Home loss payments and moving
incentives of (-)£70,000 arising from this process are in large part
statutory and also demand led and will need to be carried over to
2017/18 to fulfil potential commitments.

(iii)

Rental income from housing stock is lower than estimated in part
due to a higher level of right to buy sales to date and the
subsequent realigning of the three year phasing for The Briars,
Copshall Close and Aylets Field.

(iv)

The HRA supports homeless applicants who are identified as future

42

tenants by providing transitional funding. Due to rising demand for
temporary and homeless accommodation there is a projected
overspend of £253,000 (original budget £267,000).
a) Savings against estimated insurance costs (-)£110,000
identified in the mid-year revised projections.
(v)

Lower anticipated utility and contract costs have resulted in a
reduction in estimated recharges to tenants and leaseholders of
£273,000 in 2016/17.

(vi)

Accounting for leasehold contributions to work carried out within the
capital programme is now reported in the HRA. This, together with
an increase in projected income from tenant recharges, results in a
favourable variance of (-)£679,000.

5.

There is a capital related variance totalling (-)£3,588,000. This is substantially
due to a revenue contribution to capital of £3,670,000 to 2017/18 identified in
the Housing Capital Programme and reported in the Capital Programmes
Report to Cabinet 26 January 2017. The impact of the carryover and the
consequent effect on leasehold contributions to capital financing results in a
projected direct revenue contribution for 2016/17 of £7,713,000 (original
estimate including funding of 2015/16 carryovers, £11,383,000).

6.

At 31 March 2016 there was a nil balance on the Major Repairs Reserve
(MRR). The estimated depreciation charge for 2016/17 of £10,859,000
(original estimate £10,777,000) is expected to be used in full to support the
Housing Capital Programme.

7.

The regulations require that the MRR balance can be used either to finance
the capital programme or to repay housing debt. The HRA Business Plan
2016-46, approved by Council in February 2017, states that external
borrowing will be renewed on maturity in March 2026 and hence MRR is
being applied to finance capital expenditure.

HRA Balances 2016/17
8.

In February 2016 the Council approved HRA estimates for the current year
that anticipated a Working Balance at 31 March 2017 of £5,257,000. The
Working Balance at 31 March 2017 is now estimated to be £10,287,000
including the financing of the carryovers to 2016/17 as set out below.

Revised approved balance in hand 1.4.16
Increase in balance in hand (July Cabinet)
Actual balance in hand 1.4.16
i) Deficit including carryovers 2015/16
ii) Capital variations
iii) Operational variations
Projected Working Balance at 31.3.2017

43

£ million
7.226
5.072
12.298
(6.107)
3.588
0.508
10.287

9.

The HRA Business Plan 2016-2046 was approved at Council on 2 February
2017 with a projected working balance of £10,242,000 at 31 March 2017. It is
now £10,287,000, which is £45,000 higher.

SIGNIFICANT RISKS / OPPORTUNITIES
10. The following risks have been identified which could affect the HRA Business
Plan:
(i)

Welfare Reform: the Government’s reduction in benefits to
non-working families may have an adverse impact on tenants’
ability to pay rent. Also, Essex County Council has reduced
Housing Related Support to the Council.

(ii)

Rent income: The Government announced in July 2015 a
legislative requirement for social landlords to decrease rents
annually by one percent over four financial years (2016/17 –
2019/20). This challenged councils to make efficiencies in order to
deliver sustainable services.

(iii)

Continuing development of a Capital Programme to deliver decent
homes in partnership with contractors, and the need to deal with
unexpected outcomes especially in light of constraints arising from
the reduction in rental income from 2016/17.

(iv)

The continuing work in the Housing Capital Programme means
there is a higher risk of finding and removing asbestos from
properties, which in turn may increase removal and compensation
costs in the revenue budget.

(v)

Details of Government policy is still awaited in respect of the sale of
larger properties in support of Registered Social Landlord (RSL)
Right to Buy proposals.

(vi)

The result of the EU Referendum has brought uncertainties
regarding the economy, with low interest rates and inflationary
pressure on expenditure.

(vii)

It is anticipated that the Government’s introduction of the Homeless
Reduction Bill, will place a legal duty on Council’s to take steps to
prevent families from becoming homeless, with a key element
being to intervene to prevent homelessness happening in the first
place, rather than focusing on accommodating people who are
already homeless. This will have financial implications for the
Council due to the increased new duties that the Council would be
expected to provide.

(viii)

The Government has introduced new plans to fix the ‘broken
housing market and build more homes across England’. This

44

includes:
a) Measures to reduce the obstacles to house building and help
local authorities, developers and small and medium sized
builders build the homes Britain needs.
b) Measures to improve affordability and protections for renters
and home purchasers.
(ix)

Amongst many headlines, there is a view that Councils
existing/new Housing Companies will be subject to Right to Buy
processes. The consultation on the new Housing White Paper
closes on 5 May 2017

IMPLICATIONS
Place Services (includes Regeneration)
None specific.
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place Services
Finance (Includes ICT)
As contained in the body of the report.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
As contained in the body of the report.
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
None specific.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
None specific.
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance
Background Papers
CIPFA Code of Practice 2012/13
CIPFA Financial Advisory Network paper ‘HRA Depreciation, Impairment and
Valuation Losses (England)’
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
HRA – Housing Revenue Account
MRR – Major Repairs Reserve
RSL – Registered Social Landlord
CLG – Department of Communities and Local Government
RTB – Right to Buy
HTS – HTS (Property & Environment) Ltd

45

Appendices
Appendix A - HRA Operational Variances (against Revised Estimate) and Non
Operational Variances Period 9
Appendix B - Housing Revenue Account Budget Summary 2016/17 Period 9

46

APPENDIX A

Period 9
HRA Operational Variances (against Original Estimate)

Item

Adverse
£000's

General Management

General Management

Favourable
£000's
(-)389

72

Net
£000's
(-)389

72

Main contributing Factors to
Variations
Savings in salaries due to delays in
recruitment, as it has proved difficult to
recruit to vacant posts. Revised forward
forecast aligned to updated recruitment
plan.
Unbudgeted cost of street cleaning and
security in the remaining areas of the
Priority Estates.
Lower anticipated demand for moving
incentive within Priority Estates.
Savings in the cost of the Contact Centre
identified after estimates approved.

General Management

(-)70

(-)70

General Management

(-)29

(-)29

General Management

(-)50

(-)50

Savills efficiency gain from participation in
Catalyst Framework agreement.

General Management

(-)54

(-)54

Increased income from revised estimate of
RTB sales and lower contract costs.

General Management

(-)22

(-)22

Saving on anticipated Garage Strategy
recharge no longer required.

Special Management

253

253

Special Management

(-)93

(-)93

Repairs

(-)33

(-)33

Repairs

(-)40

(-)40

(-)110

(-)110

Repairs / Insurance
Dwelling Rents

313

Garage Rents

Charges for Services and
Facilities

Charges for Services and
Facilities

(-)35

273

(-)679

47

Increased demand for temporary
accommodation which the HRA supports
through transitional funding.
Reduction in recharge from GF to HRA for
supporting people work due to lower costs
and higher income than estimated.
Mid year amendment of Kier repairs and
maintenance contract in line with change
in building maintenance contract.
Reduction in anticipated revenue element
of communal capital works.
Projected insurance costs lower than
anticipated

313

Revised estimate of rental income taking
into account decanted Priority Estate
properties held in Orchard in 2016/17 and
reported rent income.

(-)35

Higher income from garage rents due to
lower void rates, improved maintenance,
changes to lettings policy.

273

Lower anticipated tenant and leasehold
income including adjustment for 2014/15
service charges

(-)679

Estimated income from work to leasehold
property in 2016/17 and tenant recharges.
This is a change to reporting leasehold
income which was originally reported as
income in capital and not originally

budgeted for in the HRA.

Rent Rates and Taxes

10

10

Interest Charges

98

98

Other minor variances

77

77

Variance

1,096

(-)1,604

(-)508

Increase in expected council tax due on
void properties
Higher interest payable on PWLB loan
than estimated.

Net favourable

Non Operational Variances
Item

Direct Revenue Financing
of Capital Expenditure
Major Repairs Reserve
(depreciation)

0

(-)3,670

(-)3,670

82

0

82

Variance

82

(-)3,670

(-)3,588

HRA Operational Variance
HRA Non Operational Variance
TOTAL Projected HRA Underspend

Reduction in funding to the Housing
Capital Programme due to carryovers to
2017/18.

Net favourable

(-)£ 508,000
(-)£3,588,000
(-)£4,096,000

48

APPENDIX B
HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT BUDGET SUMMARY 2016/17
PERIOD 9

EXPENDITURE
General Management
Special Management
Repairs
Rents Rates Taxes & Other
Charges
Provision for Bad & Doubtful
Debts
Supporting People Transitional
Arrangements
Major Repairs Reserve
Debt Management Expenses
Interest Charges
Direct Revenue Financing of
Capital Programme

INCOME
Dwelling Rents
Garage Rents
Other Rents
Charges for Services &
Facilities
Interest Receivable

Balance in hand at 1 April
Surplus / (Deficit) for year
Balance in hand at 31 March

2016/17
Original Budget
revised for
carryovers*

Forecast

£

£

Variance

Outturn
£

11,995,084
5,603,057
9,477,990

11,545,376
5,743,187
9,302,252

(-)449,708
140,130
(-)175,738

30,000

40,000

10,000

200,000

200,000

0

6,100
10,777,000
16,520
6,677,000

6,100
10,859,000
16,520
6,774,914

0
82,000
0
97,914

11,383,000
56,165,751

7,713,000 (-)3,670,000
52,200,348 (-)3,965,403

45,183,000
1,005,000
22,000

44,869,862
1,039,886
22,000

313,138
(-)34,886
0

3,791,197
57,000
50,058,197

4,205,948
51,130
50,188,826

(-)414,751
5,870
(-)130,629

12,298,385
(-)6,107,554
6,190,831

12,298,385
(-)2,011,523
10,286,863

0
4,096,031
4,096,031

*Budget 2016/17 includes revenue carryovers from 2015/16, £315,000 and direct
revenue funding relating to capital carryovers from 2015/16.

49

Agenda Item 12

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES QUARTER 3
FINANCE REPORT, 2016/17

PORTFOLIO HOLDER(S):

COUNCILLOR MARK WILKINSON,
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR HOUSING
COUNCILLOR MIKE DANVERS,
PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR RESOURCES

LEAD OFFICER(S):

SIMON FREEMAN, HEAD OF FINANCE
(01279) 446228

This is not a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I005197
This decision is not subject to Call-in procedures for the following
reasons:
The recommendations are within the scope of the budget which has been
approved by Full Council.
This decision will affect no ward specifically.
RECOMMENDED that Cabinet:
A

B

Notes the progress made in the delivery of the Council’s Housing and
Non-Housing Capital Programmes as at 1 January 2017 as follows:
(i)

Housing Capital Programme – forecast outturn of £21,097,000,
(revised estimate £22,714,000).

(ii)

Non-Housing Capital Programme – a forecast outturn of
£6,320,000.

Approves new business cases:
(i)

Work to Stort Valley Ponds and Ditches funded by Essex County
Council (paragraph 17).

(ii)

Fuel Station Replacement at Mead Park Depot funded by a direct
revenue contribution (paragraph 18).

(iii)

Work to Mead Park Depot to comply with regulations as part of
the terms of a new lease to HTS (Property and Environment) Ltd,
funded by a direct revenue contribution (paragraph 18).

(iv) Refurbishment of Nichols Field Multi-Use-Games- Area, funded
from an approved budget underspend (paragraph 19).

50

(v)

To construct a Pay and Display Car Park at River Way Car Park,
funded from an approved budget underspend (paragraph 20).

(vi) Disabled toilet near Pets Corner/Walled Garden in the Town
Park, fully funded by a grant of £105,000 from Essex County
Council (paragraph 21).
C

Approves the utilisation of up to £100,000 from the Regeneration and
Enterprise Reserve as set out in the report to support town centre
development work.

REASON FOR DECISION
A To ensure that Cabinet reviews performance against the Council's approved
2016/17 Housing and Non-Housing Capital Programmes.
BACKGROUND
1. This report on the Capital Programme forms part of the suite of budget
monitoring reports provided to CMT/HOS on a monthly basis to ensure close
supervision over the Council's financial position throughout the year.
2. In February 2017 Council approved a Housing Capital Programme for
2016/17 totalling £21,366,000 (original estimate £20,910,000) and a NonHousing Capital Programme totalling £7,043,000 (original estimate
£4,284,000).
3. The Housing Capital Programme in 2016/17 continues to deliver the
investment plans for the Council’s housing assets in order to maintain
decent homes standard, improve energy efficiency, address issues of
compliance to statutory regulation and maintain a programme of disabled
adaptations to council dwellings.
SUMMARY OF THE PERIOD 9 CAPITAL PROGRAMMES’ FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE – 2016/17
Housing Capital Programme
4.

Table 1 below provides a summary of the approved Housing Capital
Programme (including 2015/16 approved carry forward schemes) and the
projected outturn to 31 March 2017.
TABLE 1 - Housing Capital Programme as at Period 9
2016-17 Budget Stage
Original budget

£000s
20,910

Carryovers from 2015/16

3,824
24,734

51

Date Approved
4 Feb 16
21 July 16

2016/17 Revisions (Quarter 1)

(-)1,000

15 Sept 16

2016/17 Revisions (Quarter 2)

(-)1,100

8 Dec 16

2016/17 Revisions Revised Estimate (-)1,500
Disabled Adaptations

200

Other

32

2 Feb 2017

Projected Outturn – revised estimate 21,366
2016/17 Carryovers (Quarter 3)

(-)513

Other variances

244

Projected Outturn as at Period 9
5.

21,097

Table 2 below provides a more detailed view of the approved programme and
the forecast outturn to March 2017 against each main element. As a result of
the current forecast it is expected that Direct Revenue Financing required
from the HRA will be £7,713,000 and this is driving the variations in the HRA
budget.

TABLE 2 - Housing Capital Programme 2016/17

Current
Budget
(Revised
Estimate)
£000s

Internal Works
Windows & Doors
Damp & Structural
Works
External Works
Other Works inc
Leasehold
Electrical Upgrades and
Fire Safety
Energy Efficiency
Disabled Adaptations
Total Fees
Housing IT Development
TOTAL EXPENDITURE

Financed by:
Capital receipts – Right
to Buy
Major Repairs Reserve

Net Spend to Projected
date
Outturn

£000s

£000s

Variance
Revised
estimate
to
Projected
Outturn

Details in
report or
ANNEX A

£000s

Para 6 /
A4
Para 6

7,732
2,419

5,433
2,439

7,619
2,611

-113
192

80

73

78

-2

3,497

898

3,533

36

Para 6 /
A1

1,155

857

1,080

-75

Para 7

1,622
2,138
1,106
1,219
399

324
1,168
642
841
44

1,622
2,138
1,106
1,210
100

0
0
0
-9
-299

21,366

12,719

21,097

-269

-2,497
-10,859

0
0

-2,497
-10,859

52

Para 8

Para 10
Para 12

Current
Budget
(Revised
Estimate)
£000s
Leaseholder
Contributions
General Fund Direct
Revenue Financing
Direct Revenue
Contribution
TOTAL FINANCING

6.

Net Spend to Projected
date
Outturn

£000s

£000s

Variance
Revised
estimate
to
Projected
Outturn

Details in
report or
ANNEX A

£000s

0

0

0

0

-28

-28

-8,010

-7,713

297

-21,366

-21,097

269

Para 11

The forecast year end expenditure of £21.097 million includes:
(i)

Carryovers totalling £3.5 million identified in respect of external
works arising from contractor resource scheduling and delays in
leaseholder consultation. In addition £500,000 was made
available to support internal works to kitchens and bathrooms.

(ii)

An over commitment of work to windows and doors with a
reported outturn of £2.611 million, (quarter two £2.419 million).

(iii)

A carryover of internal budget of £315,000 to extend two
temporary accommodation properties is necessary due to
planning permission being required. The work will provide an
additional two units and accommodate eight people. In addition
minor budget amendments ensure that Housing Revenue
Account short term priorities are being met.

(iv)

A carryover in the Housing IT budget of £299,000 to support the
HTS year one ICT improvement plan, enhanced repairs reporting
and corporate priorities relating to workflow, Customer Services
Review and channel shift to new technology.

7.

Additional budget of £200,000 has been allocated to Disabled Adaptations
to ensure that the waiting list for adaptations to tenanted properties is
substantially reduced and that commitments made to residents are kept.

8.

The Housing Capital Programme had delivered 40,323 new components
such as windows, doors, kitchens, bathrooms and boilers in dwellings
between 1 April 2013 and 31 March 2016, with a further 9,463 planned by
31 March 2017.

9.

The Council only pays for completed work when it is signed off by an
independent clerk of works. There is a time lag, however, with this invoicing
due to the necessary requirement that works can only be invoiced once
they are satisfactorily completed and all the associated paperwork has been
compiled and formally handed over. The Council is committed to prompt
payment once these processes have been completed.

53

10. The outturn of the Housing Capital Programme is subject to a final report on
the delivery of SCAPE in 2016/17 from Kier Harlow Ltd.
11. The revised estimate approved by Full Council on 2 February 2017
assumed 99 Right to Buy (RTB) sales in 2016/17 (original estimate 60).
Seventy-three RTB disposals had been completed by the 1 January 2017.
The increased sales results in estimated additional income to the Housing
Capital Programme of £1,141,000.
12. Capital financing for 2016/17 originally included income from capital work to
leasehold properties (revised estimate £677,000). This income at year end
will be accounted for in the HRA, which will have an impact on the direct
revenue contribution from the HRA to support capital work.
13. At 31 March 2016 there was a nil balance on the Major Repairs Reserve
(MRR). Under proper accounting practice, the charge to the HRA for
depreciation is projected to be £10.859 million (original estimate £10.777
million) in 2016/17. At year end this is transferred to the MRR which, in turn
is utilised to support the Housing Capital Programme for an equivalent sum.
Non-Housing Capital Programme
14.

Council 2 February 2017 approved a Non Housing Capital Programme of
£7,043,000. More detail is provided in Table 3 below:
TABLE 3 - Non Housing Capital Programme as at Period 9
2016-17 Budget Stage
Original budget
Carryovers from 2015/16

£000s
4,284
2,762
7,046
(58)
6,988
55
7,043

Approved changes to programme
Approved budget
Approved changes to programme
Revised Estimate
Projected Outturn

6 320

Variance from revised estimate

(-)723

Date Approved
4 Feb 16
21 July 16

8 December 16
2 February 17

15.

Further details of expenditure relating to projects are contained within
Annex A to this report, together with financing implications related to
these.

16.

Capital receipts have been received in respect of the disposal of Ram
Gorse (£600,000) and overage from the Fifth Avenue Development
(£270,000).

54

17.

A new business case is included in the programme for work to improve
ponds and drainage on Council land in the Stort Valley (£24,000), to be
grant funded by Essex County Council.

18.

HTS will be carrying out the housing and environmental works from
February 2017. As part of a new lease for Mead Park Depot, works are
needed to meet regulatory requirements resulting in business cases for
refurbishment works being included in the non housing capital
programme. These include the installation of a new fuel pump metering
station (£20,000) at the Depot and health and safety work to mitigate fire
risks, purchase a new compactor and improve the lift (£110,000).
Funding will be by direct revenue contribution from the JVCo
demobilisation budget.

19.

A business case to make safe and regenerate the Nichols Field MultiUse-Games-Area (MUGA) adjacent to Nichols Field Pavilion, playground
and playing fields is included in the non housing capital programme. It is
funded from savings in the Public Tennis Court programme of work,
£46,000.

20.

A business case for work to construct a new Pay and Display car park at
River Way to regulate parking for local businesses and users of the Town
Park tow paths along the River Stort. The cost of £60,000 will be funded
from the re-allocation of the budget approved for work to the Post Office
Car Park. This scheme is being reviewed and is not deemed a priority.

21.

A business case to erect a new standalone Changing Places, disabled
access toilet located near the entrance to Pets’ Corner in the Town Park.
The toilet will be installed and fully funded using a grant of £105,000
administered by Shortbreaks for disabled children and Young People
accessed through Essex County Council (ECC).

22.

Virements to provide funding for the demolition of the Hummingbird
Public House totalling £130,000 were included in the report to Cabinet on
8 December 2016. Subsequent to the report, the tender return increased
the cost to £150,000 so that the virements required and individually
signed according to financial regulations are £68,000, £75,000 and
£7,000 from the approved Windows and Doors, Asbestos Compliance
and Ladyshot Pavilion budgets respectively. The scheme for windows
and doors will be included in the 2017/18 estimates and the remaining
budget for Ladyshot Pavilion is among the carryovers requested for
2016/17.

23.

Carryovers relating to schemes within the Non Housing Capital
Programme were reported at quarter two and to Full Council on 2
February 2017 totalling £534,000. A further £301,000 has been identified
for works to complete in 2017/18 totalling £753,000 (Annex A18).

24.

Estimated internal borrowing in 2016/17 is £2,871,000 (Original estimate
£2,567,000).

55

25.

Details of the Non-Housing Capital Programme expenditure and
financing are given in Table 4 below.

TABLE 4 - Non-Housing Capital Programme 2016/17

Expenditure:
Governance
Finance

Approved
Current
budget

Projected
Outturn

£000s

£000s

Variance:
Projected
Outturn
to
Revised
Budget
£000s

0
586

0
256

0
-330

Community Wellbeing

1,689

1,506

-183

Place Services
Place Services (Town Park HLF)
GF Garages
Latton Farm

3,504
334
280
650

3,441
334
132
650

-63
0
-148
0

7,043

6,320

-723

-201
-807
-1,184

-201
-869
-1,274

0
-62
-90

-620

-484

136

-615
-5
-3,611

-615
-5
-2,871

0
0
740

-7,043

-6,320

723

Total expenditure
Financed by:
Capital Receipts - Right To Buy
Asset Disposals/overage
Earmarked Resources
Direct Revenue Contribution
Disabled Facilities GrantStrategic Housing
Renovation Loans
Prudential Borrowing
Total Financing:

Impact of Prudential Borrowing
Borrowing to support Non Housing
Capital Programme as at 31 March 2016

Proposed
carryovers

£000s

3,809
New borrowing to finance shortfall in Non
Housing Capital Programme, 2016/17
2,871
Borrowing to support Non Housing
Capital Programme as at 31 March
2017
6,680

Risks and Opportunities

56

Details in
report or
ANNEX
A

£000s

A18
A11:12:13:
18
Para 21
A18/
Paras 17
& 18

26 Key risks in the delivery of the five year Housing Investment programme are
the performance of contractors and the Council’s capacity to deliver a
housing capital programme revised in light of changing priorities and funding
available from the HRA.
27 Housing capital funding is affected by reducing rents until 2020.
28 Key risks in the Non-Housing Capital Programme are centred on the outcome
of the stock condition surveys and reviews including the result of the local
plan review and the implications for future capital budgets.
29 The town centre and its regeneration is a priority for the Council and as such
Cabinet agreed to establish a reserve of £1 million to help in the delivery of
improvements and regeneration projects.
30 Works in Market Square have now started with an architect commissioned to
produce design proposals and it is anticipated for physical works will start
during summer 2017. A brief for development proposals at Post Office Road
Car Park is also currently being developed with the intention to go to market
spring 2017 with the project commencing 2018/19.
31 A planning application for major development of the Harvey Centres’ block in
Broad Walk, East Gate and West Gate is expected later in 2017 and as part
of planning process discussions will take place to explore joint funding to
improve both East Gate and West Square.
32 With some momentum now beginning to build there is a requirement to incur
expenditure to ensure this continues and that the initiatives outlined above
are able to be resourced appropriately. This report therefore recommends
that up to £100,000 of the reserve are now earmarked for use against these
initiatives and that a drawdown of funding takes place as required up to this
value in the next six months.

IMPLICATIONS
Place Services (includes Regeneration)
Contained within the body of the report.
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Regeneration
Finance (Includes ICT)
As contained in the body of the report.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
As contained in the body of the report.
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)

57

None specific.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
None specific.
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
CMT/HoS
CLG
EA/ DDA
FMS
HRA
JVCo
LBC
SCAPE
HCA
ECC
HTS
EPC

Corporate Management Team and Heads of Service
Department of Communities and Local Government
Equality Act and Disability Discrimination Act
Financial Management System
Housing Revenue Account
Joint Venture Company (i.e. the arrangement the Council has with
Kier Harlow Ltd)
Latton Bush Centre
Scape is the procurement vehicle owned by a number of Midlands
based Local Authorities.
Homes and Communities Association
Essex County Council
Harlow Trading Services (Property and Environment) Ltd
Energy Performance Certificate

58

ANNEX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMMES PERIOD 9 FINANCE REPORT, 2016/17
Update on the Status of Capital Projects
Housing Capital Programme
A1. Due to delays in starting the external works programme in 2015/16 a
carryover of £3m was requested. The initial preparation work for the external
works contract suggested that non-standard roof construction may result in
additional costs to mitigate fire risk. Further investigation has determined that
this is not a concern, however, contractor issues and delays in leasehold
consultation have further delayed the start of the work resulting in a £3.1m
carryover to 2017/18 and the reprogramming of work to years 3 and 4 of this
8 year programme, (ie. 2017/18 and 2018/19).
A2. A budget of £1.3m has been allocated to undertake fire risk works as part of
the Council’s statutory compliance duties. This includes work to loft hatches
and trunking. The full budget of £1.6m includes electrical compliance work.
A3. Prior year SCAPE work not previously accounted for was identified after year
end and incorrectly allocated to internal works. The expenditure is correctly
related to garages.
A4. Following Cabinet approval on 23 July 2016, Kier Harlow Ltd has been
awarded housing works packages under the SCAPE National Minor Works
Framework up to a value of £4,885,100 covering the 10 months of the JVCo
contract to 31 January 2017. This is EU procurement compliant and covers
internal work to properties including windows and doors, disabled adaptations
and garages.
A5. The SCAPE works packages have been aligned to link closely to local area
investment planning. This will reduce the impact of delivering multiple works
to tenants’ properties and should alleviate potential issues with access whilst
providing a more efficient service.
SCAPE Works Packages

Work Content

Internal works

Kitchens, Bathrooms, Heating and Electrical
work
Windows and Doors
Garage Improvement Programme
Various major and minor adaptations

External works
Related Assets
Disabled Adaptation Works
Non-Housing Capital
Programme: Garages

Value
(£’000)
1,032
2,611
352
808
82

Total

4,885

A6. Forming part of the 2016/17 housing capital programme are the Kier Harlow

59

fixed price works allocated to Kier Harlow through the annual service charge.
This work is undertaken in void properties and is estimated to deliver
improvements as follows:
- 85 kitchens,
- 51 rewires,
- 137 boiler / heating upgrades
A7. Work to upgrade the district heating systems in the town and reduce fuel
poverty continues with budgets totalling £2.1m in 2016/17. Schemes include
work to Tanys Dell to remove the oil supply and replace it with gas, and to a
number of sheltered schemes to upgrade the communal heating and install
heat meters.

Non-Housing Capital Programme
A8.

The stock condition survey was split into four phases, 1; 2A; 2B and 2C.
As well as these main phases, which report on the condition of the main
elements of the various properties, Energy Performance Certificate
(EPC) surveys are being carried out to identify what work is required to
bring them up to the minimum standard when the new energy
performance legislation comes into force in April 2018. Individual surveys
have also been carried out on the Kao Hockham Building, Mead Park
Depot and the Town Park Footbridge over the Railway due to leases
becoming due or because of the issues with working on or near Network
Rail property.
All site surveys have been completed for phases 1; 2A and 2B, Kao
Hockham Building and Mead Park Depot.Phase 2C has commenced and
the EPC surveys will commence in mid February. It is anticipated that
these surveys will be completed by the end of the financial year, with the
exception of the Grade 2 listed wall at Passmores House and a few EPC
surveys.
The Town Park Footbridge survey is ongoing and will not be completed
by the end of the financial year due to the complexities in resolving all
issues relating to Network Rail. Specialist consultants who have the
relevant permits to work on railway property have had to be engaged.
The reports for the final properties in phase 2A and 2B are being quality
checked before being issued. These two phases are expected to be
completed by the 20 February 2017.
The loading of the survey information onto the HDC database, is delayed
due to coding issues which are being resolved, with the work expected to
continue into the new financial year.
The survey work once on the database will enable a 20 year programme
to be drawn up covering the development or disposal of non housing
assets and will help shape and inform the future capital investment

60

requirements for the non-housing asset portfolio.
A9.

IT schemes in 2016/17 include continuing work to upgrade backup and
disaster recovery software and to progress the Windows migration
project (carryover £47,088). The planned works to improve the IT
infrastructure will carryover to 2017/18 delayed by other work priorities.
Within the Revenue and Benefits service area work will continue on the
Civica software upgrade (£55,000) that will enable the service to interact
digitally with customers and automate a range of manual processes. This
work is funded from reserves and will carryover into 2017/18 due to other
IT priorities.

A10. Cabinet on 28 January 2016 approved the contract award under
delegated authority for the upgrade of the Financial Management
System, Agresso. The new financial management system went live in
December 2016. Full outturn on budget (£173,000) is anticipated in
2016/17.
A11. In Community Wellbeing schemes in 2016/17 include work to refurbish
the Playhouse totalling £554,000 and work to Pets Corner and the Town
Park of £105,000, with carryovers of £190,000 identified. In addition there
is a budget of £40,000 to upgrade Townwide CCTV.
Carryovers from 2015/16 of £707,000 will continue or complete schemes
for Pitch Regeneration work to tennis courts, Leah Manning Centre
lighting and mini bus and work to the Playhouse glazing.
A12. Cabinet on 15 September 2016 approved an increase in funding to
enable the refurbishment of Nichols Field Pavilion as part of the Pitch
Regeneration programme. The increased outturn and additional funding
are included in the non housing capital programme 2016/17 and as a
carryover of £80,000 to enable the work to complete in 2017/18.
A13. Health and safety work to the Town Park Playground (£20,000) is being
undertaken and will be funded from reserves. In addition a contribution to
work in front of the Town Park bandstand of £8,000 is receivable from the
design contractors.
At Parndon Mill Lock Meadows work continues in partnership with the
Land Trust (£33,000) which is fully grant funded.
A14. Offices 19b/19c/26/27 at Latton Bush Centre require extensive work to
improve the standard of the work space. The current tenants have
offered to carry out the work at an estimated cost of £110,000 with the
Council making a contribution of £33,000. The work will ensure that the
offices meet current DDA and building regulations. The Council’s
contribution will be funded from the part of the approved budget for the
Old Dining Room and Kitchen at Latton Bush Centre with the remaining
approved budget being used to refurbish the area for election team

61

offices.
A15. Fernhill Travellers Site scheme to refurbish 10 plots at Fernhill Caravan
Site as detailed in the report to Cabinet 23 July 2015. A Tripartite
Agreement between the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA), Harlow
District Council (HDC) and Essex County Council (ECC) was signed in
April 2016 setting out the contractual terms of the agreement. A
Contractual Agreement between ECC and HDC dated 22 June 2016
describes the practical arrangements between the parties. The original
Cabinet report requested approval for a funding contribution of up to
£69,000 from HDC with an equal amount from ECC and a grant of
£490,000 from HCA (total £628,000).
The outturn of £594,000 is the HCA grant of £508,000 and HDC
contribution of £86,000, as the work is managed by ECC who will
therefore apply the ECC contribution directly.
A16. The approved budget for Disabled Facilities work to owner occupied
properties is £800,000 plus carryover of £43,000, which is supported by a
grant from Communities and Local Government (CLG). The amount of
grant received for 2016/17 is £615,000 (original estimate £300,000). The
non housing capital programme financing has been amended
accordingly. The Council has a statutory duty to carry out disabled
facilities work to both tenanted and private properties.
A17. Home Repairs Assistance Loans are made available by the Council to
owner occupiers for work to improve homes which are repayable when
the property is sold. Demand for such loans has increased in recent
years such that a budget of £20,000 has been allocated for 2016/17.
A18. Summary of carryovers 2016/17
Schemes

£000's

Community Wellbeing
Pets Corner Stable Block and Gift Shop
Roof
Tennis Courts/MUGA Nichols Field
Town Park Showground Lighting
Town Park Walled Garden
Changing Places WC
Playhouse Boiler

38
46
64
22
80
42

Latton Bush Centre:
Structural Repairs
Commercial Properties
Stewards Farm (cladding)
Bush House Office Refurbishment
Leah Manning Garages

8
12
11

Other:
Mead Park HSE works
ECC Flood Alleviation work

60
49

7

62

River Way Car Park
VM Software – IT
GIS software
Civica upgrade

55
275
11
55

Total Carryovers Period 9

835

A19. The Council is currently in dispute with one of the contractors following
completion of the work to the Town Park. On legal advice a goodwill
payment was made pending any action the Council may take on this
matter.

63

Agenda Item 13

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

HMO ANNUAL LICENSING

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR DANNY PURTON, PORTFOLIO
HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENT

LEAD OFFICER:

GRAEME BLOOMER, HEAD OF PLACE
(01279) 446270

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114

This is not a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision number I005709
Call-in Procedures may apply
This decision will affect no ward specifically.
RECOMMENDED that:
A New or renewed licenses for Houses in Multiple Occupation under section 55
(2) (a) of the Housing Act 2004 be issued for a period of one year.
B The scheme of fees and charges adopted for the Council’s Additional
Licensing Scheme for Houses in Multiple Occupation be applied to new or
renewed licenses for Houses in Multiple Occupation under section 55 (2) (a)
of the Housing Act 2004.
REASON FOR DECISION
A There are historical differences between the Council’s discretionary
Additional HMO Licensing Scheme and its approach to mandatory HMO
licensing. The proposed changes to the latter would eliminate the resulting
anomaly.
BACKGROUND
1.

Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) are defined in the Housing Act 2004
sections 254 -260: for every-day purposes they may best be described as
houses or flats occupied by tenants who do not form a single household
where there is sharing of basic amenities, such as WCs bathrooms and
facilities for the preparation and cooking of food. HMOs satisfy demand for
relatively low cost housing; however the style of occupation can lead to
pressure on basic amenities, a higher risk of fire, and management

64

challenges which can all adversely affect residents and sometimes impact on
neighbours.
2.

Recognising the particular issues that HMOs give rise to, successive
governments have legislated to provide and refine discretionary reactive
powers to impose basic standards for space, amenity, means of escape in
case of fire and other fire precautions and management of existing HMOs. In
enacting the Housing Act 2004 the then Central Government went further by
introducing a licensing requirement for the largest HMOs, specifically those
that were of three or more storeys with five or more tenants.

3.

The Council implemented such mandatory licensing when the relevant
legislation was brought into effect, in accord with Central Government
guidance. However, relatively few dwellings in Harlow are of three storeys or
more and most Harlow HMOs were not affected by mandatory licensing.

4.

Following a review of issues connected with multiple occupation in Harlow in
2014, the Council resolved to adopt an Additional Licensing Scheme applying
licensing requirements to other HMOs in Harlow, using powers in the Housing
Act 2004.

ISSUES
5.

It has reasonably been a priority for the Council to implement its Additional
Licensing Scheme, since its introduction. However, that scheme is now
established.

6.

There is therefore now an opportunity to consider whether the Council’s
approach to mandatory licensing should be adapted in the light of experience
with the Additional Licensing Scheme.

7.

The principal differences between schemes in practice is that under the
Additional Licensing Scheme, annual licences are issued at fees and charges
intended to reflect the Council’s costs in operating the scheme at the level of
input implied by annual licensing. Under the Mandatory Scheme licenses
were issued for five years, at fees that reflect this lower level of input and
which were set without reference to more recent case law.

8.

HMOs subject to the Mandatory Scheme are, in principal, in a higher risk
category than other HMOs, but are licensed for five years. Other HMOs are in
principle, in a lower risk category and are licensed annually by the Council.
The Housing Act 2004 provides that mandatory licenses should not be issued
for more than five years, but permits a shorter period at the discretion of the
Council. The difference between the schemes is historical, but the opportunity
to align them now arises as mandatory licenses will soon be due for renewal
for the first time since the Additional Scheme was introduced. Annual

65

licensing would give the opportunity for annual review, and would give
landlords the flexibility to return a HMO to single family use, should they wish
to do so, after a shorter period without having paid for a long licence.
9.

Central Government currently proposes to review the scope of mandatory
licensing and revised legislation may require review of both the Council’s
Additional HMO Licensing Scheme, and its approach to mandatory licensing.
However, any such national changes are not expected to be implemented
imminently. A case for removing the anomalous differences between the
Council’s schemes therefore remains.

PROPOSALS
10. It is proposed to align the Council’s approach to mandatory HMO licensing
with its discretionary Additional Licensing Scheme by issuing all new or
renewed HMO licenses for a period of one year, and by applying the fees and
charges scheme that applies to the Additional Scheme to mandatory HMO
licensing. For these purposes an HMO requiring a mandatory licence would
be treated in the same way as a large HMO under the Council’s Discretionary
Scheme. Current and proposed fees and charges for mandatory and
discretionary HMO licensing are shown at Appendix A, which shows an
extract from the schedule of fees and charged approved by the Council on
adoption of the budget for 2017/18.

IMPLICATIONS
Place (includes Sustainability)
As set out in the report
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place
Finance (Includes ICT)
The proposed fees are calculated to recover as far as is practicable the Council’s
costs in annual licencing of HMOs subject to the mandatory scheme.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
None specific
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
More frequent review of HMO licenses may assist in ensuring that all landlords
take responsibility for their premises which can be of benefit to potentially
vulnerable tenants and maintain good relationships with neighbours.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing

66

Governance (includes HR)
The mandatory scheme was introduced by Housing Act 2004 [the Act] wherein
HMO were to be licenced for not more than five years. The Council at that time
introduced five year licences for those HMO’s caught by the mandatory
provisions of the Act. In October 2014 Cabinet made the decision to introduce a
discretionary scheme of licensing for HMOs outside the mandatory criteria, these
licences being annual.
This has led to the anomaly between the two licencing schemes, in light of the
experience the Council has had with the discretionary scheme Cabinet is being
requested to adopt the recommendation to enable both schemes to be operated
within the same parameters. The would have the effect of treating all HMO’s the
same, the fact that those subject to the mandatory licensing scheme are the
larger HMOs by bringing both in line will effectively give better protection to those
living in the properties due to the inspection processes that can be undertaken.
Though the Council may be open to challenge on the reasonableness of the
decision bearing in mind the slight increase in cost for annually licensing, by
balancing the fact that those HMOs under the mandatory scheme are those at the
highest risk and should therefore be scrutinised more often to ensure that the
Council is maintaining its duty of care to those living within its area should
mitigate the risk.
The Council should have regard to the public equality duty under s149 Equality
Act 2010, in proposing that both mandatory and discretionary licences are dealt
with the same will minimise disadvantages to those who share protected
characteristics.
Author: Amanda Julian, Legal Services Manager, on behalf of Brian Keane,
Head of Governance
Background Papers
Cabinet Report 16 October 2014 - Additional Licensing of Houses in Multiple
Occupation
http://moderndb/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=121&MId=566&Ver=4
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
HMO – Houses in Multiple Occupation
Appendices
Appendix A – Analysis of Fees and Charges

67

APPENDIX A

ANALYSIS OF FEES AND CHARGES

(all fees include VAT where applicable)

Environmental Health

2016/17

2017/18
Proposed
Proposed
Current Fee
Increase
Fee
with effect from 01/04/2017
£.p
%
£.p

HMO Lice 3 story 5 year licence
DBS Check for HMO Licence
HMO Licence Renewal
HMO Licence Variation
Large HMO Additional Licensing Scheme
application full fee
application reduced fee
annual renewal full fee
annual renewal reduced fee
re-inspection full fee
re-inspection reduced fee
Smaller HMO - Additional Licensing Scheme
application full fee
application reduced fee
annual renewal full fee
annual renewal reduced fee
re-inspection full fee
re-inspection reduced fee
Additional charges small and large HMOs Additional Licensing Scheme
application form incomplete
avoided licence application until found by Council
investigation
avoided licence application reminder letter
missed appointment house inspection
licence holder change once granted
sending a final reminder
recommencing licensing process following final
reminder
recovery fee - dishonoured cheque

68

800.00
44.00
390.00
0.00

5.00
0.00
2.56
0.00

840.00
44.00
400.00
0.00

505.00
412.00
190.00
165.00
154.00
154.00

3.96
1.94
4.21
1.82
3.90
0.00

525.00
420.00
198.00
168.00
160.00
154.00

395.00
310.00
165.00
145.00
103.00
103.00

5.06
3.23
3.03
2.07
2.91
0.00

415.00
320.00
170.00
148.00
106.00
103.00

26.00
205.00

3.85
3.41

27.00
212.00

42.00
103.00
113.00
26.00
42.00

2.38
1.94
1.77
3.85
2.38

43.00
105.00
115.00
27.00
43.00

31.00

3.23

32.00

Agenda Item 14

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

PROCUREMENT OF DOMESTIC WASTE AND
RECYCLING COLLECTION SERVICES

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR DANNY PURTON, PORTFOLIO
HOLDER FOR ENVIRONMENT

LEAD OFFICER:

GRAEME BLOOMER, HEAD OF PLACE
(01279) 446270

CONTRIBUTING OFFICER:

MICHAEL PITT, ENVIRONMENT AND
LICENSING MANAGER (01279) 446114

This is a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision number I007054
Call-in Procedures may apply
This decision will affect no ward specifically
RECOMMENDED that:
A The Council commences procurement of a domestic waste and recycling
collection contractor as set out in paragraphs 13 to 20 of the report.
B Authority to approve all necessary procurement documentation be delegated
to the Head of Place in consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Environment.
C Cabinet receive a further report on the outcome of the procurement process
and the appointment of a preferred bidder.
REASON FOR DECISION
A Domestic waste collection is a statutory function currently carried out by an
external service provider under contract to the Council. The contract expires
at the end of June 2018 and cannot be further extended. To comply with
statutory requirements the procurement process must be commenced at this
time to ensure continuity of service beyond June 2018.
BACKGROUND
1.

The Council is required by the Environmental Protection Act 1990 to collect
household waste, and Essex County Council is required to make
arrangements for its disposal. Effective services can make a significant
contribution to delivery of environmental performance goals, locally and at

69

county partnership, national and international levels. Domestic waste
collection and disposal services operate within a number of regulatory
constraints, while the Inter Authority Agreement (IAA) between the Council
and Essex County Council supports a collection methodology calculated to
best align with available disposal options, notably mechanical and biological
treatment. Income received under the IAA, arising from avoided disposal
costs to the Waste Disposal Authority, makes an important contribution to
meeting the Council’s costs in service delivery.
2.

Future service design must take account of these constraints to fulfil statutory
responsibilities whilst achieving the most appropriate balance between
environmental performance cost and service quality.

3.

A review of the current approach and a future service options appraisal has
been carried out. A detailed report setting out this context, reviewing
performance of the current approach, and considering options to inform the
Council’s choice in securing service beyond 2018 is attached at Appendix A.

ISSUES
4.

The core elements of the Council’s current approach are alternate weekly
collection of residual waste one week and dry mixed recyclables the next
week, using wheelie bins with generous capacity for recyclables, and
sufficient capacity to accommodate residual waste if reasonable attention is
given to removing recyclables. Alternate weekly collection was quite
innovative when implemented in Harlow but is now mainstream collection
practice. A review of this approach shows it is well-tuned to international,
national and Council environmental objectives, local circumstances, and
Essex Waste partnership goals, as reflected in the IAA. The implication is that
it should form the basis for future service provision.

5.

Extending the period between collections can in principle reduce collection
costs and may improve diversion of recyclate by placing still more emphasis
on separation to minimise build-up of residual waste between collections. A
number of collection authorities have introduced or trialled periods of longer
than three weeks, however adverse public reaction to perceived reduction in
convenience and service quality has been notable. Market intelligence
suggests that changing to a three-weekly residual collection service might
offer a small reduction in overall service costs in Harlow, of the order of a few
percent. However, the likelihood of public acceptance, significant logistical
issues such as changing all wheelie bins to offer enough capacity,
communicating new arrangements effectively, and the impact of introducing
new and unfamiliar rounds across the town, would need to be weighed
against any cost benefit.

6.

Collecting garden waste is not a statutory requirement. Where garden waste

70

can be composted on site, this is the most appropriate option with regard to
the environmental impact. The Council currently offers the choice of an
occasional bookable service for bagged material, or a regular subscription
service using wheeled bins. Charges for both contribute towards the cost of
service provision. Market intelligence suggests that ceasing the ad hoc
service would increase efficiency in delivery of a regular subscription service.
This would allow charges to be reduced which is likely to attract more users,
generating a greater income and overall reducing service costs. This may
increase administrative work. Service providers may be able to offer
administrative support to the Council’s advantage.
7.

The current contractor provides bookable bulky waste collection services for
the Council. The Council makes a charge for bookings which are lower than
those made by comparator councils. Charges may affect demand and the
resources a contractor would have to provide. If the Council is minded in
future to align its bulky waste collection charges with those of comparator
councils, this may have some effect on bids.

8.

Food waste collection from flats has in recent years been provided with the
help of specific fixed term Government funding of approximately £270,000 per
year. This funding will not be available beyond expiry of the contract. The
capture rate of food waste per premises is relatively low in flats, perhaps
because it is relatively inconvenient for residents. Ceasing to offer separate
food waste collection from flats might, subject to approval under the IAA
avoid the budget pressure that would result from cessation of Government
financial support, with modest impact on diversion performance. This would
however mean returning to providing a different service to people living in
flats.

9.

Voluntary sector organisations may assist the Council in delivering its waste
minimisation objectives, and already some useful diversion of reusable items
from the bulky waste stream is achieved in this way in Harlow. A procurement
exercise offers the opportunity to maximise opportunities for such
contributions.

10. Financing waste collection vehicles will form a substantial component of the
operational cost in delivering waste collection services. The Council may as a
public body be able to finance vehicles more cost effectively than a private
sector contractor, with a resulting benefit in reducing costs.
11. Contract duration is often influenced by the expected life of capital assets with
current operating circumstances it may be reasonable to expect a vehicle life
of as long as ten years, and this consideration is likely to shape bids.
12. ICT systems have developed significantly since the existing contract was put
in place and it is reasonable for the Council to expect crews to be equipped

71

with mobile technology that can gather real-time service data and for
contractors’ back-office systems to be capable of interfacing with the
Council’s systems to allow better customer service and possibilities for selfservice.
PROPOSALS
13. The Council’s service specification will reflect decisions taken on issues
outlined above, and will in other respects reflect the existing core service, with
the expectation of collection frequencies and container types matching
current provision.
14. Subject to Cabinet approval, the Council will invite bids for a subscription
based garden waste collection service without an option for ad-hoc booked
collections. The procurement process will explore the potential benefits of
administration by the service provider.
15. The Council will also invite bids based on the expectation that it will in future
align its bulky waste collection charges with the average of comparator
authorities.
16. The Council will invite bids based on the expectation that it will not
necessarily require separate collection of food waste from flats.
17. The Council will require bidders to demonstrate how they will maximise the
contribution that can be made by working with organisations, particularly in
bulky waste collection and reuse and potentially in delivery of garden waste
services. The Council will engage with relevant voluntary organisations to
understand local capabilities and opportunities, to inform the selection of a
preferred bidder
18. The Council will invite bids that identify the financial benefit to the Council if
the Council were to finance capital requirements such as collection vehicles.
19. The Council will expect contract duration to be from eight years to ten years
with advantages of bidders’ proposals as to contract length to be identified in
bids.
20. The extent to which bidders’ ICT offers can effectively integrate with Council
systems to enhance customer experience will be reflected in the Council’s bid
quality assessment criteria.

IMPLICATIONS
Place (includes Sustainability)

72

Contained within the report.
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place
Finance (Includes ICT)
The waste collection contract represents a significant annual cost to the Council.
Although it is anticipated that the collection arrangements set out in the service
specification and detailed in this report will be largely unchanged from the current
contractual arrangements, there is the possibility that the cost of any new service
provision could be higher than the current charges. If this was to be the case then
it may be necessary to reconsider the specification in order to reduce the costs or
to consider additional budget pressures being reflected in the Council’s Medium
Term Financial Strategy to accommodate any price increase.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
As outlined in the body of the report.
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
As contained within the report.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
The Council is the statutory Waste Collection Authority under s.30(3)
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
The undertaking of a competitive procurement process will ensure the lawful
award of a new contract and preserve the Council’s position (and funding) under
the IAA. In addition the process will identify and settle any TUPE and pensions
arrangements arising.
In the event that the Council will act as funder, the appropriate commercial terms
must be applied to any advance to avoid offending State Aid principles.
Author: Julie Galvin, Assistant Solicitor on behalf of Brian Keane, Head of
Governance
Background Papers
None.
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
IAA – Waste Inter-Authority Agreement with Essex County Council
Appendices
Appendix A – Harlow District Council: Report Regarding the Procurement of a

73

Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied Services

74

Harlow District Council
Report Regarding the Procurement of a
Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services
February 2017

The Pavilion, Botleigh Grange Office Campus, Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 2AF
Tel: 02382 022 800
Email: waste.enquiries@wyg.com

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

75

Document Control
Project:

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Client:

Harlow District Council

Job Number:

A099013

File Origin:

A099013/R-1 Feb 17

Document Checking:
Prepared by:

Len Attrill

Signed:

Checked by:

Joanne O’Sullivan

Signed:

Verified by:

Len Attrill

Signed:

Issue

Date

Status

1

January 2017

Final Draft

2

January 2017

Final

3

February 2017

Final with edits

4

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

76

Contents Page
1.0

INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND ............................................................................................... 1

1.1

General Background ............................................................................................................ 1

1.2

Objectives of this Study ....................................................................................................... 2

1.3

The Legislative Background.................................................................................................. 3

1.4

Essex CC ............................................................................................................................ 5

2.0

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS ........................................................................................... 6

2.1

Systems for Waste Collection ............................................................................................... 6

2.2

Options for Changes to the Service ....................................................................................... 6

2.3

Options for Changes to the Method of Service Delivery ........................................................... 8

2.4

Other Observations ............................................................................................................. 9

3.0

CURRENT PERFORMANCE ......................................................................................................... 11

3.1

Overall Recycling / Composting Performance ....................................................................... 11

3.2

Kerbside Collection Performance for Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours and Essex Authorities ...... 13

3.3

Garden Waste Service ....................................................................................................... 19

3.4

Bulky Waste Service .......................................................................................................... 22

4.0

FUTURE OPTIONS: SERVICE DESIGN ........................................................................................ 26

4.1

Residual Waste ................................................................................................................. 26

4.2

Garden Waste ................................................................................................................... 29

4.3

Bulky Waste ..................................................................................................................... 29

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

77

4.4

Dry Recycling.................................................................................................................... 30

4.5

Greater use of Communal Collection Points ......................................................................... 31

4.6

Food waste....................................................................................................................... 32

5.0

FUTURE OPTIONS: MEANS OF SERVICE DELIVERY ..................................................................... 33

5.1

Overview of Options .......................................................................................................... 33

5.2

Delivery In-House or through a LACC .................................................................................. 35

5.3

Contracted-Out Service ...................................................................................................... 41

5.4

Risk Analysis ..................................................................................................................... 43

6.0

ADDITIONAL MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION ........................................................................... 47

6.1

Four-Day Working ............................................................................................................. 47

6.2

Model............................................................................................................................... 49

6.3

Modelled Resources........................................................................................................... 49

6.4

Provision of Capital............................................................................................................ 51

6.5

ICT .................................................................................................................................. 53

6.6

Contract Period ................................................................................................................. 54

6.7

Procurement Process ......................................................................................................... 55

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

78

Table Contents
Table 1: Recycling/Composting (%) for Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours and Essex Authorities
(2015/16) .................................................................................................................................... 12
Table 2: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours ............................. 14
Table 3: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and Essex Authorities ...................................... 16
Table 4: Garden Waste Collections in Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours and other Essex
Authorities ................................................................................................................................... 21
Table 5: Bulky Waste Charges in Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours ........................................ 24
Table 6: Bulky Waste Charges in Harlow and Essex Authorities ................................................. 25

Appendix Contents
Appendix A – Detailed Risk Analysis

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

79

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

1.0 INTRODUCTION & BACKGROUND
1.1

General Background

1.1.1

WYG has been engaged by Harlow District Council (HDC) to assist with the re-procurement of
its contract for waste collection, recycling and allied services. The current contract, which is
held by Veolia Environmental Services (VES) expires at the end of June 2018.

1.1.2

HDC is a Waste Collection Authority (WCA) with Essex; and Essex CC is the Waste Disposal
Authority (WDA). HDC delivers its residual waste and compostable waste to Essex CC; but,
as further explained in 1.4 below, HDC retains the ownership of, and is responsible for the
treatment of, dry recyclables collected (in accordance with Section 48 of the Environmental
Protection Act 1990 (EPA). Through this latter arrangement, HDC is paid recycling credits by
the WDA.

1.1.3

The system design for collecting waste is as follows:


Residual waste collected fortnightly from a 180-litre wheeled-bin;



Dry mixed recyclables (DMR) collected fortnightly, co-mingled including glass, from a
240-litre wheeled-bin;



Garden waste collected fortnightly from a 240-litre wheeled-bin or via a bookable bag
service, both on a chargeable basis; and



Food waste collected weekly from food waste containers and from flats in 140-litre
wheeled-bins.

1.1.4

In addition, HDC operates a chargeable bulky waste service (which we discuss more fully in
3.4); and a collection service for nappies and associated hygiene products (AHP collections).
There are currently ca. 80 customers who use this weekly collection service: entitlement is
calculated according to the amount of such waste generated, with collections provided to
those households which produce three or more bags of such waste each week.
1

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

80

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

1.2

Objectives of this Study

1.2.1

The objectives of this study are to undertake an options appraisal that will examine and
recommend a preferred methodology for the services that will form part of the replacement
contract. In this report we review the current methodology and its costs, performance, risks
and whether it is delivering value for money; and we also consider other methodology
options for possible replacement services and their likely costs, performance, risks and
assessment of value for money, culminating in a recommended preferred methodology for
the replacement service.

1.2.2

The Council has, in the brief, identified that the options for the methodology of the
replacement service should include but not to be confined to the following:
a) Refinement of existing methodology to optimise net cost of collection and disposal of
DMR [e.g. revise materials collected, provide separate collection of paper, glass etc.]
b) Introduction of 3-weekly residual waste collection
c) Introduction of 4-weekly residual waste collection
d) Introduction of 4-day working
e) Maximisation of “green” waste collection
f)

1.2.3

Introduction of Communal Waste and recycling containers for low-rise housing

Further, the brief states that the Council expects options for how the service should be
delivered to include but not to be confined to the following:
a) Competitive Procurement from within existing commercial market.
b) Shared service with a neighbouring authority.
c) “In-house” provision [for example through Teckal-compliant trading company].
d) Where appropriate consideration of optimum contract duration.

1.2.4

Finally, the brief requires that the replacement service must satisfy the following key
requirements:
a) The lowest net cost to Harlow District Council.
2

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

81

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

b) Deliverable in the context of the Waste Disposal Authority.
c) Complies with the provisions of the IAA.
d) Delivers top quartile environmental performance.
e) Compliant with the Council’s statutory responsibilities including Waste England and Wales
Regulations 2011 [“TEEP” requirements].
f)

Minimises the Council’s exposure to significant risk from market conditions or service
failure.

g) Capable of being procured within the resources and time available.
h) Sustainable collection methodology that will remain fit for purpose until 2025.
1.2.5

We were required to submit a report by the start of January 2017 and we have met with this
timescale. We would like to thank the Officers of HDC for the provision of information in a
timely fashion that has enabled this deadline to be met.

1.3

The Legislative Background

1.3.1

Much of the current legislation surrounding waste is EU-based: however, a good deal of this
has been transposed into UK strategies and, in some cases, into UK regulations. It is too
early to say whether the result of the referendum of June 2016, when the UK voted to leave
the EU, will have very much effect on UK waste policies: although, clearly, once the UK
formally leaves the EU there is no basis for the EU to fine the UK for not achieving targets.

1.3.2

At present there are no statutory local targets much less targets for individual local
authorities. Overall, the Government’s most recent aims which affect HDC are set out in
Waste Strategy 2007 and commented on in DEFRA’s Waste Management Plan for England
published in December 2013.

1.3.3

Waste Strategy 2007 set out the following aims:


To reduce waste: to 225kg per person by 2020;



To increase recycling: to 40% by 2010, to 45% by 2015 and to 50% by 2020; and



To achieve recovery of Municipal Waste: at 75% by 2020.
3

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

82

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

1.3.4

HDC has to abide by the Waste (England & Wales) Regulations 2011. These enshrine the
principles of the Waste Hierarchy, whereby waste prevention is given the highest priority;
then re-use; then recycling; then recovery; and disposal (landfill and incineration without
energy recovery) which is seen as the worst option.

1.3.5

These Waste Regulations were amended in 2012 including adding Regulation 13 regarding
the collection of glass, metal, paper and plastic for recycling; and the amendment was
subsequently the subject of a judicial review. The requirement of Regulation 13 is that these
materials (i.e. glass, metal, paper and plastic for recycling) should be collected separately:
but may be collected on a different basis in certain circumstances where it can be shown that
it is not technically, economically or environmentally practicable (TEEP). WYG assisted HDC
in October 2014 in undertaking a TEEP assessment to ensure compliance.

1.3.6

Waste Regulation 13 is commonly misunderstood. It does not mean that these materials
cannot be co-mingled: but if they are, then a test needs to be carried out to compare the
technical, economic and environmental practicabilities of not collecting them separately in
comparison to the methodology chosen.

In late April 2014 WRAP published the Waste

Regulations Route Map to carry out such tests: and since its publication WYG has carried out
over 30 such tests for local authorities that do not collect these materials separately;

and all

have passed this test using this methodology.

1.3.7

As far as recovery is concerned, DEFRA states that the landfill tax is ‘the key driver to divert

waste from landfill to ensure that we meet EU targets under the Landfill Directive’. For now,
we assume that Landfill Tax will continue and will be increased in line with inflation, but
probably no more, in the future.
1.3.8

DEFRA also notes that the ‘waste producer and the waste holder should manage waste in a
way that guarantees a high level of protection of the environment and human health. In
accordance with the polluter-pays principle, the costs of waste management shall be borne
by the original waste producer or by the current or previous waste holders’.

1.3.9

In addition to the legal constraints described above, HDC is subject to the Inter-Authority
Agreement that operates between Essex CC and its constituent WCAs which we now go on to
describe.
4

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

83

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

1.4

Essex CC

1.4.1

Essex CC is, as mentioned earlier, the Waste Disposal Authority for HDC.

1.4.2

As WDA, Essex CC provides tipping facilities for each WCA: and where these are not
proximate to the WCA pays ‘tipping away’ payments to that WCA in accordance with the EPA.

1.4.3

Essex CC does not provide tipping facilities for dry recyclables, unless charged for. This is in
accordance with the arrangement described in Section 45 of the EPA whereby WCAs retain
ownership of the recyclate; and under this arrangement Essex CC pays the WCA recycling
credits (on a ‘per tonne’ basis).

1.4.4

Essex CC has an Inter Authority Agreements with the WCAs and also makes payments in
respect of residual waste diversion by the collection of food waste.

1.4.5

It is worth noting at this stage that HDC’s current service design fits with the general
strategic thrust of the WDA. A number of Essex WCAs collect waste differently: and the WDA
has concerns regarding:


WCAs that collect food waste and garden waste co-mingled: since this means that the
total waste stream has to be treated as if it were food waste, whereas if they were
separate then the garden waste could be windrow composted, which is a much cheaper
process; and



WCAs that do not take effective action to minimise waste by restricting the capacity: a
number of Essex WCAs still collect residual waste weekly.

1.4.6

In considering options for the future HDC would need to continue to keep separate food
waste collections and to ensure that total waste arisings are minimised. We examine HDC’s
achievements to date in terms of waste minimisation as well as its general performance in
Section 3.

5

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

84

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY OF FINDINGS
2.1

Systems for Waste Collection

2.1.1

HDC’s current system for waste collection delivers good results which in some matters are
excellent.

2.1.2

The system was assessed as compliant with Waste Regulation 15 (TEEP): and given
continued performance, it continues to be compliant. In particular, its capture rate for dry
recycling is such that its rate of 31.9% places it amongst the top ten authorities in England
(8th from 228 WCAs reported in 2015/16); and it achieves the highest diversion compared to
its Nearest Neighbours and other Essex authorities.

2.1.3

As far as food waste is concerned, HDC has the 2nd highest yield for separate food waste
collection among its ‘nearest neighbour’ group.

Garden waste performance is however

somewhat lower than for other comparable authorities.
2.1.4

More generally, analysis of the most recent data confirms that Harlow’s overall performance
in 2015/16 for recycling/composting (at 44.9%) is above average compared to other English
waste collection authorities (placed 104th from 228 WCAs reported 2015/16; excluding unitary
and disposal authorities).

2.1.5

HDC’s system for waste collection does much to minimise overall waste arisings: it has the
lowest overall level within its ‘nearest neighbours’ group and the level is well below the
average level for Essex authorities.

2.1.6

HDC’s system for waste collection fits entirely within the general aims of the Waste Disposal
Authority, Essex CC. Performance enables significant financial contributions from Essex CC.

2.2

Options for Changes to the Service

2.2.1

We are asked to consider options which could deliver savings: we have not examined
changes which would add cost, either in collection costs or in terms of lower performance
which could threaten the income stream from Essex CC.

6

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

85

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

2.2.2

HDC could move to a system of collecting residual waste every three weeks instead of every
fortnight: such a change could deliver savings of ca. £170,000 per annum in collection costs.
However, such a change is likely to be controversial and lead to adverse public reaction: thus
far, only a few English waste collection authorities have made such a move. Further, there
would be a need for most households to have a larger residual waste bin than at present,
which incur a one-off cost of ca. £600,000; and taking into account the costs of publicity etc.,
the effective annual saving over the next contract period might be only £100,000 per annum
or so.

2.2.3

HDC could change the way in which garden waste is collected and move to a wheeled-bin
subscription service. We estimate that there would be cost improvement of ca. £100,000 per
annum and it could be popular amongst some residents who currently pay for a premium
service, and possibly more generally.

2.2.4

We have looked at the option of collecting glass as a separate stream as several other Essex
authorities do: but can see no reason to recommend such a change.

2.2.5

We believe that there should be a review of bulky waste charges: on a benchmarking basis
they are relatively low. The bulky waste service is discretionary and few councils operate on
a ‘break-even’ basis. Although increases in charge may influence demand, the benchmarking
suggests that a relatively small increase which brings them into line with other councils
should reduce the net cost.

2.2.6

We believe that the option of collecting residual waste from communal collection points will
raise many challenges and will incur significant one-off costs to introduce. Taking these into
account then the cost benefit is uncertain, given that the quantity and quality of recyclate is
likely to fall, affecting treatment costs and income from Essex CC.

2.2.7

It may be appropriate for the option of not collecting food waste from flats could be explored
as part of the re-procurement, given that the current external funding for this service of ca.
£270k per annum will disappear in 2018: we understand that the capture rate from flats is
(perhaps predictably) lower than that from individual properties. The question as to what the
saving might be would need to be considered alongside the principle of equal access to
services.
7

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

86

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

2.3

Options for Changes to the Method of Service Delivery

2.3.1

In accordance with the brief, we have considered three options – in-house, Teckal / LACC
and contracted-out (the latter being the current method for service delivery).

2.3.2

We have identified a number of risks with the first two options which do not exist in the
latter.

2.3.3

We have undertaken a detailed Risk Assessment which gives the following results:
Number of factors assessed as:

2.3.4

Green

Amber

Red

Total Risk
Points

Contracted-out service

9

3

0

44

Bring the services in-house

7

3

2

62

Deliver through
arrangement

5

7

0

60

a

Teckal

This shows that on our current risk scores:
 The option for an in-house service has the highest overall risk and two Red risks;
 The Teckal option has the second highest overall risk but with no Red risks (though the
scores could be mitigated in the longer term through experience gained from HTS);
 The option to re-tender carries the lowest overall risk, and has no Red risks;
 The differential between the three options is not great: but the Red risks make the inhouse option the least attractive (in our view);
 The Amber risks within the other two options could be ‘managed out’ but more effort
would be required in the case of the Teckal option, particularly in this early stage of its
development.

2.3.5

The contracted-out option, essentially the status quo option, offers the lowest risk. The
challenge to this proposal may be to identify the potential rewards, since some would argue
that simply avoiding risks is not a compelling argument. The evidence of the current market
8

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

87

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

for tendered services indicates that benefits can be had without aggregating demand.
Confirmation from potential suppliers that the combined contract package remains attractive
and (from Veolia) that the contract does not lose money are important pieces of evidence
that inform our assessments.
2.3.6

On that basis we recommend the contracted-out option to replace the current Veolia
contract: but that this be re-examined in the future taking into account the Council’s
experiences with the LACC/Teckal company it is establishing (HTS).

2.3.7

We understand that the Council has ambitions to work with the third sector. We believe that
it is entirely possible to get a contractor to arrange this, particularly for services such as bulky
waste (which may then be re-used).

Having the contractor arrange this means that the

contractor can deal with legal compliance, including Health & Safety etc.; and we have seen
successful arrangements elsewhere.

2.4

Other Observations

2.4.1

We believe that there is no clear-cut answer as to whether collecting over a four-day week
offers any significant savings compared to a five-day week: but in a tendering exercise we
believe that tenderers could be asked to tender on either or both scenarios.

2.4.2

We believe that savings could be gained by the Council financing capital purchases (vehicles)
although the precise level would depend upon the particular circumstances of a winning
contractor – savings between ca. £37,000 and ca. £80,000 per annum could be possible.

2.4.3

We believe that since the last procurement there have been advances in the ICT systems
used in the industry: and that in any procurement the Council should seek to exploit these
advances to the benefit of itself and its customers.

2.4.4

We believe that the appropriate procedure for procuring a replacement contract is the
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (CPN).

2.4.5

In terms of overall costs in the future, at the time that the extension was agreed Veolia’s
costs were considered representative of the market. The options appraisal provides evidence
that the service is now close to being optimal for the district; if the service remains essentially
9

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

88

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

unchanged, intelligence from recent tendering exercises would suggest that it might be
possible to make some savings, particularly if the Council can provide capital. However, we
should point out that some areas of cost remain volatile: e.g. the cost of fuel is higher now
than at the time the extension was agreed.
2.4.6

We would expect any contractor to use a modern ICT system using in-cab technology which
would either interface directly with HDC’s systems or give direct access to HDC staff to assist
in dealing with customer queries etc.

10

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

89

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

3.0 CURRENT PERFORMANCE
3.1

Overall Recycling / Composting Performance

3.1.1

In October 2014 WYG carried out a TEEP analysis of Harlow’s kerbside waste collection
scheme which concluded that “the current system has been chosen because it is seen as
more technically practicable, environmental and economic than collecting the four materials
separately”. The system was assessed against WRAP’s Waste Regulations Route Map and
found to be TEEP compliant as per Regulation 13 of the Waste (England and Wales)
Regulations 2011.

At the time we considered Harlow’s overall recycling/composting

performance and kerbside diversion for different waste streams. This section revisits and
updates this information using the most recent publically available data and relevant
benchmarks. At the time of our analysis the 2015/16 datasets for local authority collected
waste in England had been published by DEFRA (15.12.16) providing an indication of overall
recycling/composing performance; however, detailed data for 2015/16 was not available on
WasteDataFlow and so our kerbside analysis is limited to 2014/15 data.
3.1.2

Harlow DC achieved an overall recycling/composting diversion of 44.9% in 2015/16, a slight
decrease in performance compared to 2014/15 and 2013/14 (45.9% and 47% respectively).
This mirrors the national picture in England which has seen a 0.9% decrease in the
recycling/composting rate in 2015 (43.9%) compared to 2014 (44.8%). DEFRA notes that

“This is the first time the rate has fallen since it began in 2010, though the 2015 figure still
represents the second highest annual value on record.” DEFRA suggests that a decrease in
organic waste for composting may have contributed to this fall in overall performance;
however WYG believes that another significant factor is the change in reading habits,
meaning that there are fewer newspapers and magazines in the waste stream for recycling.
Analysis of the most recent data confirms that Harlow’s overall performance in 2015/16 is
above average compared to other English waste collection authorities (placed 104th from 228
WCAs reported 2015/16; excluding unitary and disposal authorities).
3.1.3

Table 1 compares Harlow’s performance in 2015/16 with its CIPFA Nearest Neighbours (NN),
listed in order of socio-demographic similarity to Harlow, and with other Essex authorities.
This indicates that Harlow’s overall performance is the fifth highest compared with its Nearest
Neighbours, ranging from 49.1% (Basildon) to 25.9% (Rushmoor), but is the third lowest
compared with other Essex authorities (66% in Rochford to 26.2% in Tendring). It is worth
11

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

90

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

noting that Essex’s top performing authority, Rochford, is also the second highest performing
council in England for recycling/composting diversion.
Table 1: Recycling/Composting (%) for Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours and Essex
Authorities (2015/16)
NN

Authority

Recycling %

Composting %

Total %

(0)

Harlow

31.9

13.0

44.9

(1)

Stevenage

19.9

19.6

39.4

(2)

Ipswich

22.9

17.9

40.8

(3)

Redditch

29.6

1.9

31.5

(4)

Basildon

24.4

24.7

49.1

(5)

Corby

24.7

18.0

42.7

(6)

Tamworth

26.9

18.8

45.7

(7)

Rushmoor

19.4

6.5

25.9

(8)

Gravesham

20.1

14.8

35.0

(9)

Welwyn Hatfield

21.5

27.1

48.5

(10)

Crawley

23.3

4.3

27.6

(11)

Chesterfield

22.3

23.2

45.5

(12)

Preston

23.1

15.0

38.1

(13)

Lincoln

19.9

15.8

35.8

(14)

Wellingborough

23.2

17.7

40.8

(15)

Gloucester

18.7

18.5

37.3

23.2

16.0

39.3

Essex Harlow

31.9

13.0

44.9

Essex Basildon

24.4

24.7

49.1

Essex Braintree

24.4

28.0

52.4

Essex Brentwood

28.9

17.0

45.9

Essex Castle Point

24.1

23.3

47.5

Essex Chelmsford

15.2

26.4

41.6

Essex Colchester

28.3

19.3

47.6

Essex Epping Forest

27.8

30.0

57.7

Essex Maldon

21.9

25.1

47.0

Essex Rochford

27.1

38.9

66.0

Average NN

12

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

91

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Essex Tendring

19.4

6.8

26.2

Essex Uttlesford

31.3

18.9

50.2

24.1

20.4

44.5

Average Essex

3.1.4

The Council is to be commended for its dry recycling diversion performance: its rate of 31.9%
places it amongst the top ten authorities in England (8th from 228 WCAs reported in 2015/16)
and it achieves the highest diversion compared to its Nearest Neighbours and other Essex
authorities.

3.1.5

Harlow collects much less compostable waste than other authorities: its composting rate is
13%, which is lower quartile performance in England (at 169th amongst 228 collection
authorities). Compared to its Nearest Neighbours, Harlow collects the fourth lowest amount
of compostable material (Redditch diverts the least at 1.9%) and, amongst the Essex
authorities, the second lowest (Tendring diverts the least at 6.8%).

This is entirely

understandable given that, although Harlow collects food waste on a weekly basis, the
Council operates a chargeable garden waste service. We discuss this in more detail in 3.3.

3.2

Kerbside Collection Performance for Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours
and Essex Authorities

3.2.1

Table 2 overleaf shows Harlow’s kerbside collection performance in kg per household per
year (kg/hh/yr) in 2014/15 (as noted the latest available year for which detailed data for all
English authorities is publicly available). It compares Harlow’s performance with its CIPFA
Nearest Neighbours (NN), listed in order of socio-demographic similarity to Harlow. The
kerbside streams are: dry non-bulky recycling (net of rejects), food waste, garden/mixed
composting waste and residual waste with rejects from kerbside recycling included. A total is
also shown for these kerbside streams.

3.2.2

Compared with its Nearest Neighbours, Harlow has (along with Corby) the 4th highest yield in
kg/hh/yr for kerbside dry recycling (above the average of 176kg/hh/yr), the 2nd highest yield
for separate food waste collection, the lowest yield for kerbside garden waste (or mixed
composting) – excluding Redditch which does not collect garden waste, the 2nd lowest yield
for kerbside residual waste including rejects (below average) and the second lowest yield for
13

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

92

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

total kerbside waste (Crawley has the lowest, but only by 1kg/hh/yr at 674kg; while Basildon
has the highest at 940kg/hh/yr).
Table 2: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours

NN

Authority

(0)

Harlow

(1)

Stevenage

Recycling
(exc.
rejects)
207

Food

Garden/
Mixed

Residual
+rejects

Total

87

15

366

675

157

#

172

451

781

170

494

801

0

543

758

249

458

940

(2)

Ipswich

138

#

(3)

Redditch

215

0

#

(4)

Basildon

233

#

(5)

Corby

207

27

151

490

875

(6)

Tamworth

240

0

132

464

836

(7)

Rushmoor

143

0

49

542

734

(8)

Gravesham

131

59

42

459

690

176

#

260

355

791

(10) Crawley

156

0

31

487

674

(11) Chesterfield

163

#

189#

433

785

(12) Preston±

160

5

127

465

757

(13) Lincoln

177

129

137

466

909

(14) Wellingborough

191

0

161

499

852

(15) Gloucester

121

0

109

484

753

176

58

125

466

788

(9)

Welwyn Hatfield

Average

#

#

# Food and garden waste collected together so reported as combined kg/hh
± Preston - rejects stated as minus figure in DEFRA stats, Q100 in WDF suggests 189 tonnes
Note: Basildon, Gravesham, Stevenage, Ipswich, Tamworth, Welwyn Hatfield, Lincoln - rejects from
DEFRA published statistics

14

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

93

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

3.2.3

These kerbside yields are illustrated in Figure 1 below.
Figure 1: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours

3.2.4

A similar analysis has been carried out to compare Harlow’s performance against its
neighbouring Essex authorities. Table 3 details the kerbside yields for each of the waste
streams and also notes each authority’s Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) – the lower the
IMD, the more affluent the authority.

3.2.5

Compared with the other Essex authorities, Harlow’s kerbside dry recycling yield is above
average (the highest yield is achieved by Uttlesford at 248kg/hh/yr); the joint highest yield
for separate food waste collection (with Uttlesford); the second lowest yield for kerbside
garden waste (or mixed composting); and the 2nd lowest yield for kerbside residual waste
including rejects and for total kerbside waste. Total kerbside waste is well below the average
in Essex and, as we noted in the TEEP report, many other districts report much higher figures
e.g. Chelmsford 957kg; Rochford 951kg; Basildon 940kg; Epping Forest 930kg.

15

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

94

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Table 3: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and Essex Authorities
IMD
23.7

Authority

Recycling
(exc.
rejects)

Harlow

Food
87

Garden/
Mixed

Residual
+rejects

Total

15
249#

366
458

675
940

20.6

Basildon

207
233

14

Braintree

157

70

200

411

838

9.6

Brentwood

221

31

124

430

807

204

409

849

#

14.9

Castle Point

236

#

#

9.6

Chelmsford

168

51

229

509

957

14.8

Colchester

166

0

118

407

691

14.5

Epping Forest

240

0

295

395

930

12.7

Maldon

168

45

165

455

833

371

335

951

9.4

Rochford

245

#

#

24.6

Tendring

91

28

8

486

613

7.9

Uttlesford

248

87

28

414

777

Average

198

57

167

423

822

# Food and garden waste collected together so reported as combined kg/hh NB Castle Point no longer
collects these streams together.
Note: Basildon, Braintree, Brentwood, Maldon - rejects from DEFRA published statistics

3.2.6

These kerbside yields are illustrated in Figure 2 below.

16

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

95

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Figure 2: Kerbside Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and Essex Authorities

3.2.7

Figure 3 focuses on the kerbside dry recycling yields for Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours,
sorted by collection type and then by decreasing yields.

Authorities that collect fully co-

mingled including glass (which includes Harlow) tend to collect more than authorities with
different collection types; however, while the three best performing authorities in the NN
group (Tamworth, Basildon and Redditch) all collect co-mingled one collects glass separate
(Basildon) and one does not collect glass at all in the co-mingled mix (Redditch). The lowestperforming authority, Gloucester, collects materials separately (NB new service being
introduced January 2017).

17

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

96

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Figure 3: Kerbside Dry Recycling Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and its Nearest
Neighbours

3.2.8

Conducting the same analysis for the Essex authorities, including Harlow, demonstrates a
similar picture (see Figure 4): authorities that collect fully co-mingled including glass tend to
collect more than those with different collection types (e.g. Uttlesford and Rochford).
However, some of those authorities that collect recyclate co-mingled but with glass separate
have captured a greater amount of material than Harlow; up to 33kg/hh/year more than
Harlow achieved in 2014/15 (using Epping Forest). If we consider Basildon, which is also one
of Harlow’s Nearest Neighbours, it can be seen that the authority captured an additional
26kg/hh/year compared to Harlow: but one should also consider that Basildon has higher
waste arisings in any case and collects recyclate weekly.

18

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

97

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Figure 4: Kerbside Dry Recycling Yields (kg/hh/yr) for Harlow and Essex
Authorities

3.3

Garden Waste Service

3.3.1

As previously noted, Harlow DC operates a chargeable collection service for garden waste
and there are 598 customers using the Premium Service (fortnightly wheeled-bin) which
represents under 2% of total households. The charge is £96 per household for the calendar
year (April 2016 to March 2017) and this decreases by £8 per month for those that chose to
subscribe part way through the year (e.g. £88 for 11 months, from May, and £8 for March
only). Alternatively, residents can book a bagged green waste collection, either using prepaid bags available from the Council (£20 for 17 bags) or by using their own bags (collection
cost 85p per bag).

3.3.2

Annual income this year is expected to be around £75,000 of which, based on the number of
customers noted above, £57,408 is attributed to customer payments for the Premium Service
and the balance to those using the pre-paid bag service (so almost 21,000 sacks sold at 85p
each). The service is resourced by use one dedicated vehicle operating three days per week
19

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

98

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

- so 100% of the cost of a vehicle and 60% of a crew and fuel – which we estimate would
cost between £125,000 and £130,000 per annum.
3.3.3

Table 4 shows garden waste collection details for Harlow, its nearest neighbours and Essex
authorities using waste tonnage data from 2014/15 (Redditch is not included as it does not
provide a free or chargeable service for the collection of garden waste). The Nearest
Neighbour number is shown: the lower the number, the more it is like Harlow. The table is
sorted by whether the collections are free or there is an annual charge, then by the index of
multiple deprivation (IMD); the lower the IMD, the more affluent the authority. The table also
shows the frequency of collections; the main containers provided; the annual charge (blank if
free); the initial charge per container and for delivery and setting up the subscription; the
percentage of households; the kg per household for all households in the authority; and the
kg per household with the service.

3.3.4

Out of Harlow’s fifteen Nearest Neighbours and the twelve authorities in Essex, totalling 26
authorities (as Basildon is a Nearest Neighbours and an Essex authority), 10 have annual
subscriptions for garden waste.

Harlow charges the highest annual fee at £96 (for a

premium service) while both Lincoln and Preston charge the least amount at £30.
3.3.5

Three of these authorities also have an initial charge to cover containers, delivery and setting
up the subscription: £25 for Tendring; £20 for Uttlesford and £12 for Lincoln.

Lincoln

residents are also given the option of subscribing to additional bins, up to a limit of four, and
this is charged at £12 per bin per annum.
3.3.6

The majority (eight) of the annual subscription authorities operate fortnightly collections
while only Maldon operates a weekly service, although collections reduce to fortnightly
between December and February. Wheeled-bins are the preferred method of collection for
the majority of authorities (including Harlow), while Rushmoor provides reusable sacks.
Harlow is the only authority that enables residents to book their collections on a chosen day,
the others allocate a regular day per household (which, for economic reasns, is not generally
the same day as for other waste collections).

20

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

99

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Table 4: Garden Waste Collections in Harlow, its Nearest Neighbours and other Essex

Y

9.6

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

kg/ hh with
service

Wheeled-bin

kg/hh (all)

Weekly

% hh with
service

9.4

Food included?

Y

Initial charge
per container

Main container

Annual charge

Frequency
IMD

Authority

Essex

Nearest
Neighbour

Authorities

Free
Rochford
Chelmsford
Welwyn Hatfield

1

9

Braintree
Epping Forest
2

12.4

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

Y

14.0

Weekly

Wheeled-bin/sacks

Y

14.5

Weekly

Wheeled-bin

Colchester

Y

14.8

Fortnightly

Sacks

Castle Point

Y

14.9

Weekly

Sacks

16.8

Fortnightly

Stevenage

1

Tamworth

6
4

Y
Y
Y
2

2

£3.70

99% 371

375

99% 229

231

87% 260

299

86% 200

233

90% 295

327

91% 118

129

100% 204

204

Wheeled-bin

Y 100% 172

172

3

95% 132

139

19.7

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

20.5

4

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

100% 161

161

20.6

Weekly

Wheeled-bin

Y

86% 249

289

Wellingborough

14

Basildon

4

Chesterfield

11

24.3

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

Y

91% 189

208

Ipswich

2

24.8

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

Y

77% 170

202

Corby

5

27.3

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

92% 151

164

Y

Annual charge
Uttlesford

Y

7.9

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£40

£20.00

13%

28

218

Brentwood5

Y

9.6

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin/sacks

£41

£0.265

84% 124

149

12.3

Fortnightly

Reusable sacks

£39

18%

96

271

Rushmoor
Maldon

7

5

Y

6

5

12.7

Weekly

Wheeled-bin/sacks

£32

100% 165

165

Crawley7

10

16.9

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

7

11%

31

317

Gravesham*

8

19.5

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£35

12%

42

353

Gloucester*

15

20.9

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£36

33% 109

334

Harlow5

0

Tendring

£1.00

Y 23.7 Fortnightly Wheeled-bin/sacks £96 £0.855
Y

24.6

100%

15

15

8

242

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£50

£25.00

3%

£12.00

37% 137

Lincoln

13

27.2

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£30

Preston8

12

29.4

Fortnightly

Wheeled-bin

£30

8

8

375
8

1

Welwyn Hatfield: Currently a free service including food waste, but the Council is considering moving
to a chargeable service of garden waste only (and no longer collecting food waste).
2

Colchester: garden waste sacks are £3.70 each, but annual collections are free of charge.
21

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

100

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

3

Tamworth: figures include some food waste which was collected with garden waste during the
2014/15 period.
4

Wellingborough: Collections are fortnightly with no service during the winter months, restarting March
2017.
5

Brentwood, Maldon and Harlow: In addition to the annual subscription scheme, sacks are also
available on a pay-as-you-go basis (PAYG), making customer numbers and kg per customer unreliable,
hence why 100% is used for % of households using the service is used. The price per PAYG sack is
shown under initial charge per container.
6

Maldon: Collections are fortnightly December to February and weekly the rest of the year.

7

Crawley: Service is currently full so no detail on cost, operates 9 months per year (March to
November).

8

Preston: no data yet available as new chargeable service since June 2016, no longer collect food
waste.

3.3.7

The reported percentage of customers subscribing to the schemes ranges between 3%
(Tendring: pilot scheme only in 2014/15) and 37% (Lincoln).

3.3.8

Brentwood, Maldon and Harlow allow purchase of sacks on a pay-as-you-go (PAYG) basis in
addition to the subscription scheme and Brentwood (with 84%) and Harlow (with 100%)
appear to include all households eligible to participate in the scheme in their customer
numbers (according to data available on WasteDataFlow).

3.4

Bulky Waste Service

3.4.1

The Council operates a collection service for bulky household waste including fridges and
freezers. Residents can book a collection at a cost of £15 for up to five items or £22.50 for
six to eight items. Electrical items, including fridges and freezers, are collected free of charge
as these can be recycled.

3.4.2

Table 5 shows bulky waste charges in Harlow and for its Nearest Neighbours, including their
indices of multiple deprivation (IMD). A similar table is provided to illustrate bulky waste
charges for Harlow compared to other Essex authorities. Neither Lincoln nor Tendring have
been included in the following analysis as they do not provide a standard bulky waste
collection service. Lincoln offers a free collection for those who receive a pension or benefits,
or those with a disability, and all other residents are directed to Biffa to request a quote.
Tendring District Council directs residents to a local reuse charity or to contact Veolia for a
quote.
22

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

101

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

3.4.3

Examining the data for the benchmarking group in more detail indicates that the minimum
charge for one collection ranges from £8 (Redditch) to £60 (Stevenage). The average cost to
the customer is £24.78 with Harlow charging less than this at £15. Looking at an equivalent
cost per item indicates a range from £2 (Basildon) to £25 (Crawley), with an average of
£8.84. Harlow’s equivalent cost per item is below this average at £3.

3.4.4

Similarly, comparing the Essex authorities bulky waste charges with those levied in Harlow
(Table 6) indicates that the Council charges a lower than average fee (£23.36 average cost,
ranging from £10 in Basildon to £41.41 in Colchester). The average equivalent cost per item
is slightly lower than the benchmark group at £7.77, but Harlow is still below this average.

3.4.5

Those authorities with an IMD score within two points of Harlow charge anywhere from £8
(Redditch – for one item only) to £27 (Ipswich – for five items); while Harlow charges £15 for
a standard collection, slightly below the average of £16.15.

On the basis of this

benchmarking data we would suggest that there may be merit in considering an increase in
bulky waste charges at Harlow.

23

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

102

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Table 5: Bulky Waste Charges in Harlow and its Nearest Neighbours
Fridge/
freezers

103

IMD

0

Harlow

23.7

£15.00

5

£3.00

£22.50

8

£0.00

1

Stevenage

16.8

£60.00

6

£10.00

£60.00

6

£60.00

2

Ipswich

24.8

£27.00

5

£5.40

£27.00

5

1

1

Max. number of
items collected per
booking

Authority

£22.50

8

£27.00

£81.00

15

£14.00

will quote

4+

3

Redditch

21.8

£8.00

1

£8.00

4

Basildon

20.6

£10.00

5

£2.00

£10.00

£10.00

5

5

Corby

27.3

£22.50

10

£2.25

£22.50

£22.50

10

6

Tamworth

19.7

£16.00

1

£16.00

£6.60

1

£16.00

£35.80

4

7

Rushmoor

12.3

£38.00

3

£12.67

£38.00

3

£38.00

£114.00

9

1

6

£4.17

1

£25.00

6

£31.98

£31.98

4

£25.00

£8.00

Max. items
Max. charge

Minimum charge

Number of items
covered by each
additional charge

Charge for
additional items

Additional items
Equivalent charge
per item (standard
charge)

Max. number of
items covered by
standard charge

NN

Standard charge
for 1 collection

Standard charge

8

Gravesham

19.5

9

Welwyn Hatfield

12.4

£31.98

4

£8.00

10

Crawley

16.9

£25.00

1

£25.00

£25.00

1

£27.50

11

Chesterfield

24.3

£14.60

1

£14.60

£7.60

4

£14.60

£29.402

10

12

Preston

29.4

£19.00

3

£6.33

£6.80

1

£19.00

£39.40

6

3

£35.60

£35.60

5

£24.00

unlimited

13

Lincoln

27.2

Free

14

Wellingborough

20.5

£35.60

5

£7.12

Gloucester

20.9

£24.00

3

£8.00

15
1
2
3

£15.00

£8

1

unlimited

£10 for up to 3 ‘metal’ items e.g. cookers, washing machine, microwaves etc; charge for fridge/freezers covers up to 3 items
£22.20 for 2-5 items; £29.40 for 6-10 items; ring for quote (based on hourly rate) for 10+ items or larger loads
Free collections if receive pension, benefits or have a disability; otherwise Council advises residents to contact Biffa for a quote

www.wyg.com

24

creative minds safe hands

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Table 6: Bulky Waste Charges in Harlow and Essex Authorities

104
2
3
4

Fridge/
freezers

Harlow

23.7

£15.00

5

£3.00

Basildon

20.6

£10.00

5

£2.00

Braintree

14.0

£36.00

6

£6.00

£27.00

5

£36.00

Brentwood

9.6

£20.00

2

£10.00

£10.00

1

£20.00

Castle Point

16.8

£30.00

3

£10.00

£5.00

1

£22.50

1

Chelmsford

9.6

£27.00

3

£9.00

£7.00

Colchester

14.9

£41.412

6

£6.90

£66.46

3

£15.00

£37.50

8

£10.00

£10.00

5

£30.00

£65.00

10

3

£27.00

1

£54.00

10+

12

£22.45

£66.46

12

3

7

£24.00

£60.00

15

£88.00

12

Epping Forest

14.5

£24.00

3

£8.00

Maldon

12.7

£22.00

3

£7.22

£22.00

3

£22.00

9.4

£15.00

1

£15.00

£7.00

1

£15.00

£16.50

2

£8.25

£8.25

1

£16.50

4

Tendring

24.6

Uttlesford

7.9

Max. number of
items collected per
booking

IMD

Max. items
Max. charge

Minimum charge

Number of items
covered by each
additional charge

Charge for
additional items

Equivalent charge
per item (standard
charge)

Max. number of
items covered by
standard charge

Additional items

Authority

Rochford

1

Standard charge
for 1 collection

Standard charge

£36.00

£34 for 4-6 items; £40 for 7-10 items; hourly rate £71 for large loads, BUT charges to be revised 1.1.17 to £12 for one item, £6 for up to 8 additional items
£12.12 for electrical items (per item)
Charges banded according to number of items - £36 for 4-7 items; £47 for 8-10 items; £60 for 11-15 items
Tendring does not provide a bulky waste collection service but advises residents to contact local reuse organisation or Veolia direct

www.wyg.com

25

creative minds safe hands

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

4.0 FUTURE OPTIONS: SERVICE DESIGN
4.1

Residual Waste

4.1.1

As stated, at present HDC collects residual household waste every fortnight: but a few councils
have implemented collections every three weeks, while some others are actively considering such a
move.

4.1.2

Our detailed analysis (for which we have started to research such data as there is: the number of
authorities from whom data can be gathered is small) will be the subject of a future report which
we intend to publish. For now, we can simply note that:
 None of these benchmarks appears to have an exceptionally high recycling/composting rate;
 All have reduced the frequency of collection with a view to reducing costs, not to improving
performance;
 The lower frequency of collecting residual waste is not at all suitable for some properties
(particularly flats and HMOs);
 Even with food waste removed, there are resident concerns regarding hygiene waste (e.g.
nappies); and
 The lower frequency of collecting residual waste appears to result in higher contamination of the
recyclable / compostable waste streams.

4.1.3

As stated only a few councils have reduced the frequency of collecting residual waste from
fortnightly to three-weekly. Therefore there are only a few case studies and caution needs to be
taken in using the data for this reason. One might expect there to be an effect on the capture rate
for food waste (where this is a feature of the collection system) and for dry recycling from a
reduction in the frequency of collecting residual waste: as supporting evidence it is worth noting
that the vast majority of the high performers for dry recycling collect residual waste fortnightly
rather than weekly.

The move to collecting every three weeks appears to have had a very

significant impact upon the capture rate for food waste in those authorities that have made this
change; and some impact (but arguably not significant) upon the capture rate for dry recyclables.
There is some evidence that overall waste has reduced but the evidence appears patchy and the
reduction is certainly less than was widely expected to be the case.
26

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

105

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

4.1.4

Specifically, Falkirk have experienced a 75% increase in food waste capture whilst this increase was
45% in Somerset and 35% in Gwynedd.

Clearly, there are many councils which operate

fortnightly collections of residual waste but who offer no food waste collection service: and from
this one might deduce that many households can cope with a fortnightly residual waste service
without needing to participate in a food waste collection scheme (as is the case at Swindon). With
a reduction to residual waste collections every three weeks there may be a greater need to dispose
of food waste outside of the residual waste service.
4.1.5

At Bury the food waste is co-mingled with garden waste and WasteDataFlow shows that this
increased 12% in October-December 2014 and January-March 2015 compared with the same
periods in the previous years, equivalent to 15 kg/hh/yr, after roll-out of three-weekly residual and
recycling collections in October 2014, with mixed food and garden waste remaining fortnightly.

4.1.6

For dry recycling the only council reporting a very significant increase in capture rates is Somerset
with a 28% increase: but their new scheme collects a wider range of materials and this explains
much of the increase.

At Bury dry recyclables increased 9% on average in three quarters from

October 2014 compared with the same period in the previous year: but the service changed from
paper and cardboard every four weeks, and co-mingled glass, plastic bottles, cans, aerosols and foil
every four weeks to every three weeks – i.e. 13 collections a year for each container to 17
collections a year for each container.

More realistically, Falkirk reported a 6% increase in dry

recycling in the target areas in early trials: but this was from a relatively low base and indeed
residual waste dropped by just 2kg per household per week.
4.1.7

Turning back to this option as it might affect HDC, then, a change from fortnightly to three-weekly
collections is likely to lead to a small increase in the amount of dry recycling captured (but not so
great as to require any additional collection resource for dry recycling); a saving in costs for
collecting residual waste; and, despite having a separate food waste collection service, lead to an
adverse public reaction, particularly since a number of other Essex authorities currently retain a
weekly residual waste collection service (at the time of writing: we understand there may be
changes at e.g. Basildon and Chelmsford soon).

4.1.8

In broad-brush terms, a three-weekly service would mean that the weekly activity would be to
collect ca. 800 tonnes of residual waste from just over 12,000 properties. We believe that the
number of rounds could be reduced; but not by more than one, since the additional tonnes
collected per property would fill the vehicles up faster. The likely saving (in terms of payments to
27

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

106

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

the collection contractor) could therefore be in the order of £170,000 per annum. However, to
effect such a change it is likely that almost all residents would require a larger capacity wheeled-bin
than at present (excepting those using communal facilities and some single-person household): and
allowing for the replacement of ca. 30,000 bins, including distribution and collecting the smaller
bins) is likely to incur a one-off cost of ca. £600,000. In addition, there would be the costs of
publicity etc. and the effective annual saving over the next contract period might be only £100,000
per annum or so.
4.1.9

As stated, we would expect adverse public reaction. The most obvious case to examine here is
Bury, since the three-weekly collections are well-established here. Bury had a majority of political
support for the transition as demonstrated by defeat of a motion in October 2014 calling for the
decision to move to three weekly collection be referred back to the Cabinet Member for
consideration (11 for the motion and 34 against). Public reaction is rather different. Householders
in Bury submitted petitions and set up social media sites (such as a Facebook page) to protest
about the change, and 75% of people polled for the Bury Times were not happy with the change.

4.1.10 However, Bury found no increase in side waste, street cleansing waste, fly-tipping or arisings at the
HWRCs in the Council area in the 12 month period after the introduction of three-weekly collections
compared with the 12 months prior to the change. Waste audits were carried out at 370
households where residents had concerns about the new service.
4.1.11 Relatively recently there has been reported adverse public reaction in Northampton / Daventry
where changes to a three-weekly service have been proposed as a cost saving measure; whilst the
move to three-weekly collections in Wales has led to some councils having to introduce a separate
collection service for nappies and similar projects (on top of a weekly food waste collection service),
with some dispute as to householder entitlement for this service.
4.1.12 It is not for us to make a judgement as to whether it is appropriate to make this change: but some
might see an effective saving of ca. £100,000 per annum as relatively small given the likely adverse
public reaction: certainly our recommendations regarding garden waste (discussed below) appear
much less controversial.

28

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

107

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

4.2

Garden Waste

4.2.1

At present the garden waste service involves contractor collection costs of ca. £125,000 to
£130,000 per annum and generates ca. £75,000 of income per annum (see 3.3.2 above). This
means, excluding administrative costs, a net cost of between £50,000 and £55,000 per annum.

4.2.2

From the benchmarking data, a more common methodology is to establish a chargeable garden
waste service where an annual charge is made and collections are made fortnightly using wheeled
bins. Take-up and charges vary considerably among the benchmarking group: but we believe an
annual charge of £30 could lead to a take-up of around 20% in Harlow. What this could mean is
that the number of customers would be such that they could be serviced by one round (with a cost
of ca. £170,000 per annum); but would also be such to generate an annual income of over
£220,000 per annum. This means, excluding administrative costs, a net income of over £50,000: a
cost improvement of over £100,000 per annum compared to the current system.

4.2.3

We appreciate that wheeled-bins would need to be purchased: but our benchmarking shows that
several authorities make a one-off charge to cover this cost. We appreciate also that there would
need to be a new administrative system: but many councils pass this function to their contractor
and HDC could choose to do this in a ‘contracted out’ scenario.

4.2.4

It should be clear that in making such a change HDC would be following a path that many other
councils (including several in Essex) have chosen: and although there are bound to be some
complaints, the change is relatively non-controversial (compared e.g. to reducing frequencies for
collecting residual waste).

4.3

Bulky Waste

4.3.1

Our benchmarking suggests that bulky waste chares could be increased. This is not likely to make
a very serious impact on the net cost of services but it would have some impact and would bring
HDC more in line with its benchmark group and with several other Essex authorities.

4.3.2

We understand that the Council has ambitions to work with the third sector. We believe that it is
entirely possible to get a contractor to arrange this, particularly for services such as bulky waste
(which may then be re-used). Having the contractor arrange this means that the contractor can

29

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

108

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

deal with legal compliance, including Health & Safety etc.; and we have seen successful
arrangements elsewhere.

4.4

Dry Recycling

4.4.1

One of the key points in favour of the current system for dry recycling by HDC is that it has been
found to pass a TEEP test and is therefore compliant with Waste Regulation 13.

4.4.2

We believe that this position still holds: our benchmarking shows high yields for dry recycling in
Harlow, and in particular much higher yields than for similar authorities collecting using kerbside
sort methodologies. Further, the collection resources used remain cheaper, even after considering
material values.

4.4.3

We noted in the TEEP test that HDC could consider collecting glass as a separate stream, as
practiced by a number of other Essex authorities.

4.4.4

4.4.5

The advantages of such a change might be:


That the glass would have a value albeit a low one;



That the glass would not have to be treated by the MRF; and



That this might give a greater choice as to MRFs.

The disadvantages of such a change might be:


That there would be additional collection costs;



That a communications campaign would be needed, incurring one-off costs;



That additional containers would be required, incurring costs and not always convenient for
customers; and



That some glass would remain in the co-mingled mix and would be treated as a non-target
material or contaminant.

4.4.6

To try and quantify these points, we would first estimate that the volume of glass might amount to
ca. 1,900 tonnes: and that separating this from the co-mingled stream might generate a saving in
30

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

109

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

MRF costs plus a small income stream, to give a financial benefit of up to £95,000 per annum. On
the other hand, HDC would need to purchase additional containers costing the equivalent of £2,500
per annum; and there would be also additional collection costs (in terms of additional loaders per
round and additional costs for each vehicle, using split-backs). Taking these into account, together
with the costs of a one-off campaign, we believe the costs would wipe out the financial saving.
4.4.7

On balance we consider HDC’s current dry recycling system performs well and we see no reason to
change.

4.5

Greater use of Communal Collection Points

4.5.1

In the brief we are asked to consider the option of making greater use of communal collection
points, rather than collecting bins etc. from individual households.

4.5.2

Under the Environmental Protection Act 1990 (EPA) this is perfectly feasible: but it does require a
positive action by the Council in the form of serving notices to make such a change, since the EPA
states ‘…the authority may, by notice served on him, require the occupier to place the waste for
collection in receptacles of a kind and number specified’.

4.5.3

There are other challenges too: one would be to find enough suitable communal points; another
would be the likely fall-off in recycling / composting rates with consequent reductions in income
from Essex CC, since in our experience participation in recycling/composting (particularly for food
waste but also for dry recycling) is lower when communal facilities are used. At the same time,
contamination is higher, particularly for dry recycling, which will affect the costs of treatment.
Additionally, there would be a one-off cost for creating such communal sites; and an on-going cost
for maintaining such sites, including regular cleansing.

4.5.4

Other questions which come to mind: for example, whether these sites be locked so only a specified
number of residents could use them, since if not, there could be a problem with excess waste
and/or fly-tipping; and how would the Council determine how many households per communal
storage area would be needed. We believe that it would be a significant job in itself to survey
properties in the borough to work out how many storage areas are required/where to locate them
etc.; and we think it would be very unpopular with residents.

31

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

110

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

4.5.5

Although there would be some saving in collection costs, we think that this could be outweighed by
the one-off costs and potential reductions in income and increases for recyclate treatment.

4.6

Food waste

4.6.1

We have noted that, overall and on a benchmarking basis, HDC collects 87 kg of food waste per
household; and no council in the benchmarking group, or in Essex, collects more than this.

4.6.2

We understand that, at present, the Council receives funding of ca. £270k per annum for the
collection of food waste from flats: but that this funding will cease in 2018.

4.6.3

It may be appropriate for the option of not collecting food waste from flats could be explored as
part of the re-procurement: we understand that the capture rate from flats is (perhaps predictably)
lower than that from individual properties. The question as to what the saving might be would
need to be considered alongside the principle of equal access to services.

32

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

111

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

5.0 FUTURE OPTIONS: MEANS OF SERVICE DELIVERY
5.1

Overview of Options

5.1.1

The options that are considered in this report – a continuation of the current contracted-out
arrangement; delivery in-house; and delivery through a Teckal arrangement (also termed a Local
Authority Controlled Company or LACC) – are clearly identified in the brief. We have added the
joint venture option since this is one that we have explored with some of our clients and one that
exists elsewhere.

5.1.2

The first option – to continue to contract-out the service – needs little explanation since it is a
continuation of the current arrangement. The contractor’s role is to employ the staff, procure and
manage the vehicle fleet etc. and to manage the delivery of the service in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the contract and the specification. The Council’s role is to act as a ‘client’
and to engage with the public in terms of engagement, management of customer enquiries etc.
The contracting out of services such as these is well-established in England and there are several
specialist companies which deliver these services for councils. This is the second most common
arrangement for waste collection and related services in the UK.

5.1.3

The second option – in-house delivery – also needs little explanation since it is how services are
delivered at many councils including locally at e.g. Brentwood, Basildon and Uttlesford. Here all
staff are employed and managed by the council and the council manages the vehicle fleet and
organises the workload etc. as well as undertaking the ‘client’ role and engaging with the public.
With some in-house arrangements a ‘client / contractor’ split exists to clarify roles; but this is not
essential and, particularly for a small council, this can add costs. This is – still – the most common
arrangement for waste collection and related services in the UK. It is worth noting that a few
councils have returned previously outsourced operations to an in-house service: most recently at LB
Islington and previously at e.g. Chelmsford, Teignbridge and Thanet.

5.1.4

The Teckal arrangement is a relatively recent phenomenon and there are therefore only a few case
studies for these services to draw upon.

A Teckal company (from the case Teckal s.r.l v the

Commune of Viano C-107/98) is one where a public body (or in certain circumstances, public
bodies jointly) exercises over an entity a control which is similar to that which it exercises over its
own departments and, at the same time, that person carries out the essential part of its activities

33

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

112

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

with the controlling local authority or authorities. In such a case the award of a contract to such an
entity is excluded from the Procurement Directives. The ruling in the Teckal case gives rise to two
tests for determining whether the exception applies:
(i)

the “control” test (whether the contracting authority “exercises over the person

concerned a control which is similar to that which it exercises over its own departments”); and
(ii)

the “function” test (whether the tenderer “carries out the essential part of its activities

with the controlling local authority or authorities”).
5.1.5

A key difference between the Teckal arrangement and the in-house arrangement is – potentially
and in theory at least – in regard to the terms and conditions on which staff are employed. In
general, local authority staff usually enjoy more favourable terms and conditions of employment
than the private sector as well as a final salary pension scheme. The Teckal arrangement could
(potentially) be set up on the basis of different terms and conditions for staff than exist more
widely in HDC.

5.1.6

Following the meeting on 7 December, we understand that the a Teckal company is to be
established at HDC to deliver the functions of street cleansing, housing maintenance etc. currently
delivered through an arrangement involving Kier (entitled Kier Harlow). This Teckal company is
likely to have its own terms and conditions: and the Teckal company might need to have admitted
body status to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) to accommodate any staff currently
part of this pension scheme: but the Teckal company could otherwise have its own pension scheme
and staff not already in the LGPS would then not be able to join it.

5.1.7

In terms of detail, we understand that HDC has established a Teckal-compliant Group, (HTS); and
at the moment a single subsidiary HTS (Property and Environment) which will be the “successor” to
Kier Harlow. There are in principle options to tease out and clarify:


The domestic waste services might be assigned to a new Teckal Company in the HTS group.
That company would not have on its own, even using TUPE transferred assets, the capacity to
operate vehicles and manage a specialised service like waste collection and it could not “buyin” these services from the Council. Adding that capacity as an overhead would make it very
inefficient.

34

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

113

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services



HTS (P&E) has more capacity, it will have an “O” licence, it does have some waste industry
connections (enough to run a small waste transfer station) and it will have a little more
strength in its management team: so a slightly better argument might be made for the work to
be added to their remit. However it does not have genuine waste collection industry expertise;
it does not have the back office resources of a national/multinational company to draw on; and
it is now tackling the challenges of establishing a new company without the support of Kier
Group that Kier Harlow Ltd. could rely on where needed.



The risks noted of equal pay claims escalating costs would clearly apply if the waste collection
service were taken on by HTS (P&E); and adding waste collection could put at risk the other
services, which are vital. Separating them reduces risk.

5.1.8

In our risk assessment, then, we have assumed that any Teckal company for waste collection
services would be a separate subsidiary under the HTS Group.

5.1.9

A Joint Venture arrangement is one whereby a special arrangement (a Joint Venture company) is
established which is governed by the council and another organisation, typically a private sector
company, but occasionally involving another council. This is not a common arrangement for the
delivery of such services: one of the difficulties can be persuading an external organisation that this
is a better arrangement than for a simple contract.

5.1.10 It should be noted that both the Teckal and Joint Venture arrangements require a separate
governance structure than that which would exist for either of the other two options.
5.1.11 For the contracted-out option and the Joint Venture, resources such as labour, supervisory and
managerial resources etc. would be provided by a contractor or partner: typically the Council would
supply the depot and might (as discussed later) also provide capital. In the case of the in-house or
Teckal option, the Council or Teckal company (respectively) would provide all of the ‘contractor’
resources, including the management of risks associated with those resources.

5.2

Delivery In-House or through a LACC

5.2.1

As explained earlier, WYG has considerable knowledge of in-house service delivery: indeed, just
over half of WYG’s local authority clients deliver services in this way (reflecting the general national
picture). We have also worked with councils who provide services through a separate arms-length

35

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

114

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

management organisation, though mainly for streetscene operations: there are not many which
cover waste collections, although Tewkesbury BC and Havant BC, for whom WYG has worked
extensively, have moved to such an arrangement.
5.2.2

Additionally, WYG has assisted one council (Thanet DC) in taking a previously outsourced operation
back in-house and therefore understands the challenges in doing so. In setting up an in-house or a
Teckal arrangement, HDC needs to consider carefully how it, or the Teckal company, will supply all
of the services provided by the contractor (Veolia) who provides resources in the form of labour,
vehicles and infrastructure. We consider the various challenges under these three headings.
Labour

5.2.3

HDC does not have a significant manual workforce (if any at all); if working alone it could therefore
face a considerable challenge in terms of setting up an in-house arrangement for these services
(compared to some other authorities that have retained some manual services in-house) since it
does not have HR procedures and policies, including gradings and a job evaluation system, that
reflect the needs of a manual workforce. For the Teckal option, given the over-arching HTS and
the subsidiary HTS (P&E), there would be HR procedures and policies, including gradings and a job
evaluation system, that reflect the needs of a manual workforce: but these would need to be
amended within the separate company to deal with waste related jobs and to mitigate cost
increases, implying a workload to be undertaken in amending them.

5.2.4

We have been unable to obtain precise details of the terms and conditions under which Veolia’s
employees are engaged; neither do we have precise details of the remuneration package for each
level of employee. But, from the data that we had in relation to negotiating an extension, it is likely
that the costs of employment in-house would be greater than the present level of costs. That said,
the National Living Wage is likely to narrow this difference in future years.

5.2.5

We have noted earlier that one of the advantages of the Teckal arrangement is that it could employ
staff under different terms to the local authority: but the challenge then would be to develop such
a set of terms and conditions.

5.2.6

The final factor that should be considered in terms of employee costs and risks is in terms of the
management of sickness absence. In general, private sector waste collection operations achieve a
lower level of sickness absence than in-house organisations do (although there are some

36

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

115

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

honourable exceptions, including locally at Basildon). We are currently working with an in-house
organisation where we believe that the additional cost of sickness absence is in excess of £1 per
household: and this is not the worst performer we have encountered.
Vehicles
5.2.7

In this area, HDC could be said to have a distinct disadvantage in terms of setting up an in-house
arrangement for these services, since the Council has no sizeable vehicle fleet, holds no Operator’s
License and has inadequate arrangements in place for maintenance, licensing, insurance etc. for an
operation of this kind. This is a serious matter in terms of bringing an operation such as this inhouse; although contractual arrangements could be set up for maintenance etc., with no named
individual with a Certificate of Professional Competence the Council could not get an Operator’s
Licence and therefore could not (by law) operate these functions. As noted, there would be some
expertise within HTS (P&E); but given waste would be within a separate company, the challenge
would remain: and the size of the waste fleet is significant.

5.2.8

In either case (in-house or Teckal) the Operator’s Licence would need to be secured before the
vehicles were purchased: and the timescale for purchase would require an OJEU notice for
procuring the vehicles to be placed in the late autumn of 2017.

5.2.9

Although there is evidence that contractors can purchase the required specialist vehicles more
cheaply than local authorities can (chiefly because of discounts offered to the private sector
because of the higher volumes each purchases), there is also evidence that, in terms of overall
costs, this is negated because local authorities can borrow money more cheaply than private sector
waste companies can (or, in the case of contract hire arrangements, they receive preferential terms
through their ‘blue chip’ status). That said, as explained in 6.2 below a number of councils are now
providing capital in the case of out-sourced contracts.

5.2.10 We see no major risks associated with this element in terms of unit costs, but there is a major risk
in terms of compliance unless the required management infrastructure can be quickly put in place.
Infrastructure
5.2.11 In terms of infrastructure, HDC has one key advantage that would not apply to many other
authorities considering bringing back services in-house, but compared to others it has some
disadvantages. It has retained its depot, but as mentioned, it has no significant manual operational
37

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

116

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

services currently delivered in-house; and it does not have a vehicle fleet with an associated ‘O’
Licence, nor a sufficient maintenance contract.
5.2.12 We are unsure as to whether there would be sufficient capacity within some parts of the Council (or
in the newly-established Teckal company) to deal with the needs of an enlarged workforce,
meaning that additional on-going staff resources might be needed in this regard. If these services
are brought in house, there will be impacts on the workloads in HR, health and safety,
procurement, payroll, finance, insurance, and ICT to name the obvious support services. In the
most optimistic scenario, all of the support services can provide the marginal additional service to
the operation; but in the most pessimistic scenario, each of the support service managers has to
recruit extra staff to meet the additional demands, and the costs will be significant. It is extremely
unlikely that any support staff would transfer from Veolia.
5.2.13 We see Health and Safety as a major concern; in particular, the waste industry is increasingly the
subject of enforcement attention from HSE and others. It is now one of the highest risk sectors,
with reportable incidents and fatalities both running at four times national averages; and in terms
of deaths per employee it is currently the second highest scoring industry (after ariculture). Dayto-day waste collection operations carry an inherent level of risk – from the machinery used, from
the weather conditions, and from having to work on the highway – as in the Glasgow case which
has received much media attention. Health & Safety management is a major consideration when
contemplating returning operations such as these in-house, and HDC would incur some one-off
costs in putting new processes into place for new operations (e.g. risk assessments).
5.2.14 If the Teckal option is chosen, one of the key decisions is to where the ultimate responsibility for
Health & Safety sits. In the case of the in-house option this would be with the head of the paid
service: but it is not at all clear that this would be appropriate for a Teckal company, in which case
the decision must be carefully made.
5.2.15 The difficulty of achieving and maintaining acceptable performance in this area should not be
underestimated. The appropriate mitigating actions involve focussing specialist advice on detailed
operational matters, and ensuring appropriate senior management attention. These actions will
incur costs.
5.2.16 Although Veolia employs a Manager who would almost certainly appear on the TUPE list, industry
experience is that this person is highly unlikely to leave Veolia in the event of a TUPE transfer. The
38

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

117

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

successful delivery of these services depends on having a good quality manager: if there was a
need to recruit, then we would assess this is a significant risk, as there is not guaranteed to be a
strong pool of field of candidates competing for such a job.
5.2.17 Service Resilience is another potential area of concern; as a newly-established arrangement, the
support networks within HDC to cope with operational challenges such as extreme weather,
legislative change, staff turnover, and mechanical or technical difficulties would be tested. We
assess this as a potential risk not only to the service itself, but also to the wider reputation of HDC.
The public treat the reliability of their refuse and recycling collection services as an indicator of the
overall performance of the Council, and so any interruption of normal service can have
consequences far beyond the severity of the original problem.
5.2.18 The Council’s Organisational Culture should be examined also: HDC’s recent experience has been to
secure large-scale operational services via contracts, and so the current culture in this area is one
of contract management, not operational management.

A successful organisation (whether in-

house or Teckal) will have to have good arrangements for managing staff absence, and be backed
up in this by corporate processes in Occupational Health, Industrial Relations and Human
Resources; and until these are in place there remains a potential risk that the organisation will not
be sympathetic to the needs of the new operation. As mentioned above, the appropriate senior
management attention to Health and Safety matters will extend beyond the operational
management of the waste collection service, and Officers will have to be attuned to the nuances of
maintaining high standards of Health and Safety. It is also worth noting that a Teckal arrangement
will need to act differently than a traditional DSO (in terms of accountability etc.); and there is also
a risk that in the Teckal arrangement the Teckal company develops its own culture which runs
contra to the ethos that is required.
5.2.19 All of this points to the need for significant one-off support during any set-up, which (in our
experience) is likely to cost more than for support in a procurement.
Benefits
5.2.20 One major benefit in having the services delivered in-house could be in terms of direct control and
thereby improved standards through this process.

However, it is not the case that in-house

operations always deliver higher standards (some of the lowest recycling/composting rates are
achieved by councils using DSOs); and at HDC the general service standards are good and in some
39

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

118

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

cases excellent, so this benefit might be in relation to particular aspects of service delivery, not
generally.
5.2.21 Although a contracted-out service will always have some provisions for making changes (e.g. a
variation mechanism), there is no doubt that there is greater control over such changes if the
organisation is directly controlled: to that extent, the in-house service has greater flexibility than
the other options (and the Teckal arrangement would have potentially more flexibility than a
contracted-out service). Clearly, this factor might not come into play during a contract period (e.g.
the services, as reviewed in this report, might be of a design that would be appropriate for the
entire period of the contract): but it is a point to consider nonetheless.
5.2.22 Another key benefit of having an in-house organisation is that any surpluses generated in the form
of budget underspends would be retained by the Council as opposed to being taken as contractor
profits. The converse of this is that any losses or overspends must be funded by the Council as
opposed to being the contractor’s risk.
5.2.23 Given the high level of labour costs, the increased costs for infrastructure and the one-off costs,
together with normal (i.e. at no less than the private sector would incur) running costs for transport
and materials etc., we cannot see any obvious financial benefits in terms of an in-house operation;
and we see some potential risks to the reputation of the Council also.
5.2.24 The key advantages of the Teckal arrangement (as opposed to a ‘simple’ in-house DSO) are: first,
that the organisation can (to a point) determine its own terms and conditions for employees,
including pay levels (thereby avoiding any additional costs in this area as discussed above); and,
second, that there is a separate arms-length governance process, meaning that decisions can be
taken within the Teckal company that are more akin to decisions that might be taken in a
(responsible) private sector company, thereby giving the Teckal company a commercial edge (as
compared to a DSO). Apart from these differences, the situation is similar as for a DSO.
5.2.25 The key disadvantages of a Teckal arrangement (at least, as far as HDC is concerned) are:
 First, the Teckal option raises many of the same questions in terms of a suitable management
infrastructure that a DSO does (but these could be less significant in the longer term given the
work involved in establishing HTS (P&E));

40

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

119

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

 Second, there would be a need to set up not only the infrastructure within the Teckal company
but the need to set up an infrastructure to manage the Teckal company, which would add
further cost to this option: and these costs, associated with setting up the structure,
recruiting/transferring staff, establishing systems etc. would need to be in place before any
operational work associated with service delivery could commence.

Again, there is some

mitigation given that a structure for managing HTS and HTS (P&E) is being established.
 Third, the very fact that management of the service would be through a Teckal arrangement
means that there is less direct control than with an in-house service; indeed, some would argue
that a well-structured contract can give a similar level of control.

5.3

Contracted-Out Service

5.3.1

Clearly this is the option which is the current means of service delivery: and in the sense that it
currently performs well and that the necessary structures and support mechanisms are in place, it
is a low-risk option.

5.3.2

One risk might be that there would be insufficient market interest in the contract: to assess
whether this might be the case, WYG has consulted with a number of commercial operators to
ascertain the appetite for a contract at HDC.

5.3.3

The market for these services has changed somewhat since the last procurement, as a result of
takeovers and consolidation. That said, there are still a good number of operators that offer these
services to local authorities.

5.3.4

Whilst we were not able to have lengthy discussions with all of the operators, we can give the
following feedback:
 We believe that the HDC contract is too small to be attractive to two operators, Amey and Kier
(the first of which acquired Enterprise recently and the second of which is bidding for very few
contracts currently following its acquisition of May Gurney). There is the added complication for
Kier regarding the contract which is being terminated in relation to street cleansing and housing
maintenance.
 We think it likely that the contract would be of interest to Serco, largely through a combination
of the size of the contract and its location. Serco was the under-bidder for the Epping Forest
41

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

120

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

contract. It would also be of interest to Biffa (who have recently acquired Cory, who operate in
Epping Forest and who have a MRF at Edmonton); to Veolia (as incumbent); to Suez (formerly
branded as Sita, recent winners of the Maldon contract. It would probably be attractive to FCC
and Urbaser too.
 Only one operator (Norse) showed any interest in a Joint Venture: but the location and history
of the HDC contract makes this not particularly attractive to them.
 All stressed that they are very busy in terms of bidding: and that they would therefore look for a
simple process for what they see as a relatively small contract. They would also hope for a
sensible timetable (around three months for tendering, at least a six-month mobilisation period)
and would be looking for the Council to provide a depot. They would also hope for as large a
contract as possible and feel that they could deliver all of the services covered by the HDC
contract.
 All are concerned as to risk exposure from recyclate values and would require separate
indexation for this activity, given that the treatment and marketing activity be included in the
contract.

They could see the logic for continuing to include this activity in the contract as

separating it means little or no interest from the collection contractor in managing contamination
etc.
 All welcomed the option of the Council providing capital (as described in 6.2) for vehicle
purchase.
 All said that they would prefer to have discussions with the Council as part of the procurement
process: they recognised however the higher costs (to them and to the Council) that a process
such as Competitive Dialogue (CD) brings; and that CD may not be appropriate to this case.
There was greater enthusiasm for the new Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (CPN) than
for the standard Restricted Procedure.
5.3.5

We consider procurement options in 6.5 below.

42

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

121

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

5.4

Risk Analysis

5.4.1

We have used Risk Analysis to evaluate HDC’s options against a range of criteria that are relevant
to the achievement of the policy objective, which we have taken to be securing high quality
services at competitive prices.

5.4.2

Risk Analysis:
 helps to understand the nature and likelihood of any problems which may arise with the
implementation of each option; and
 attempts to quantify the relative ‘riskiness’ of each option.

5.4.3

Risk Analysis does not:
 predict the success or failure of each option; or
 guess at the likely quality or price associated with each option.

5.4.4

The Risk Analysis examines the three main options for securing the waste collection and recycling
treatment service for HDC. They are:
 Continue with a contracted-out model;
 Bring the services in-house; and
 Deliver through a Teckal arrangement.

5.4.5

The identification of the best option for HDC should turn on the evidence available. We should
make it clear that we hold no brief for or against any of the options above. Our approach is to
support the Council in taking whatever decision the evidence suggests is best for them. For other
clients, we have recommended in-house operations be retained and also that they be subject to
competitive market testing; we have recommended joint tendering and also that solo tenders be
sought. We have considered bringing services in-house and prepared dummy bids on behalf of
potential in-house operations. In each case, we have relied of the evidence and our best analysis
of that evidence.

43

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

122

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

5.4.6

A weakness of Risk Analysis is that it has a heavy focus on things that might go wrong, and it is
difficult to express the more optimistic analysis of things that might go right in the same table. We
have tried to bring out this positive element in the column headed ‘opportunity’.
Methodology

5.4.7

The same 12 risks have been analysed for each option and a 5x5 risk scoring approach has been
used as described in the table below.

Each risk is given a score out five for ‘Likelihood of

Occurrence’; and another score out of five for ‘Severity of Impact’. The two numbers are then
multiplied together to give an overall risk score. These are then allocated to three categories Green
(1-4 points: low risk), Amber (5-10 points: medium risk) or Red (11-25 points: high risk). Table 1
below shows the general principles.
GENERAL PRINCIPLES OF RISK ASSESSMENT

Likelihood

Severity of Impact

1
Rarely, if ever
occurs
2
Weak likelihood
of occurrence
3
More likely than
not to occur
4
Strong likelihood
of occurrence;
needs to be
anticipated
5
Highly likely,
almost certain to
occur

1
Low impact,
negligible
consequences

2
Minor impact
with some
consequences at
an operational
level

3
Noticeable
impact with
measurable
consequences

4
Major impact
which could
disrupt
finances
and/or
services

5
Severe
impact in
damage to
life and limb,
cash and/or
reputation

1

2

3

4

5

2

4

6

8

10

3

6

9

12

15

4

8

12

16

20

5

10

15

20

25

44

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

123

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Results of the Risk Analysis
5.4.8

In the detailed Risk Analysis which is included in Appendix A, each risk is described, and possible
mitigating actions are suggested. An assessment of the opportunity presented by each factor is
given. The scores represent our assessment of the risk factor before mitigation. This assessment is
necessarily subjective, but represents our best conclusion on the basis of the evidence available to
us at this point in time.

5.4.9

A summary of the three analyses shows the number or red, amber and green risks for each option.
This table should be read with caution, as receipt of further and better particulars about the inhouse and Teckal options might reduce the risks as currently assessed (particularly as regards the
potential use of skills and resources from the new Teckal arrangement which will replace Kier
Harlow). It does not reflect the opportunities, nor does it assess which option might lead to the
best benefits for HDC.
Number of factors assessed as:
Green

Amber

Red

Total Risk
Points

Contracted-out service

9

3

0

44

Bring the services in-house

7

3

2

62

Deliver through
arrangement

5

7

0

60

a

Teckal

5.4.10 This table shows that on the current risk scores:
 The option for an in-house service has the highest overall risk and two Red risks;
 The Teckal option has the second highest overall risk but with no Red risks (though the scores
could be mitigated further in the longer term through synergies with HTS);
 The option to re-tender carries the lowest overall risk, and has no Red risks;
 The differential between the three options is not great: but the Red risks make the in-house
option the least attractive (in our view);
 The Amber risks within the other two options could be ‘managed out’ but more effort would be
required in the case of the Teckal option, particularly in this early stage of its development.

45

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

124

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

5.4.11 The contracted-out option, essentially the status quo option, offers the lowest risk. The challenge
to this proposal may be to identify the potential rewards, since some would argue that simply
avoiding risks is not a compelling argument. The evidence of the current market for tendered
services indicates that benefits can be had without aggregating demand. Confirmation from
potential suppliers that the combined contract package remains attractive and (from Veolia) that
the contract does not lose money are important pieces of evidence that inform our assessments.
5.4.12 We see the other options as more risky, although the amber risks could be managed out; and
particularly in the case of the in-house option potentially more expensive.

46

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

125

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

6.0 ADDITIONAL MATTERS FOR CONSIDERATION
6.1

Four-Day Working

6.1.1

The general principle behind four-day working (which is practiced by a number of authorities) is
first to avoid Bank Holiday collections and also ‘slipped-day’ arrangements for catching up Bank
Holidays as far as possible; but also to use a longer working day on the days that waste is
collected.

6.1.2

The position regarding Bank Holidays differs (significantly!) from council to council.


Some councils prefer to collect on some Bank Holidays if tipping facilities are available
(collecting on Good Friday is the most common);



Some councils collect on all Bank Holidays except those in the Christmas / New Year period: for
those councils the advantages of moving to four-day collections are therefore less obvious; and



Some councils are hampered as to what decisions they can make since no tipping facilities are
available on Bank Holidays (chiefly because of planning permission).

6.1.3

Councils that operate slipped-day arrangements incur costs in publicising them; and may incur costs
in e.g. opening the call centre on such days (although some do not open the call centre on those
days). Equally, those councils collecting on Bank Holidays may incur costs in e.g. opening the call
centre on such days. Four-day working reduces these costs (though they may still exist for e.g.
Good Friday and for the Christmas / New Year period).

6.1.4

Whether there are economies in collection through a longer working day depends upon a number
of factors. The most economic practice for standard five-day working is (usually) to try and collect
two full loads and tip them over an eight hour day (sometimes 7.4 or 7.5 hours). However, there
are situations where the tipping point is so distant from the collection area, or where the properties
are geographically spread out, that it is not possible to tip twice per day; or where volumes are
such that the second load is a partial load.

6.1.5

WYG has worked with a number of such authorities and has found that it is often possible to collect
two full loads over a longer than standard day – and these have then introduced a longer working
day (which would e.g. be a 10-hour working day where the standard working week is 40 hours).

47

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

126

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

In some cases this has meant a four-day working week (so the staff work Tuesday to Friday, four
days working and three days off).

This is popular with the staff and often results in lower

absenteeism. A good example local to HDC is at Uttlesford DC. In some other (but fewer) cases
there is still working on five days, but the staff individually work four days on and three days off by
rota (which is much less popular with the staff).
6.1.6

In the first case additional payments for Bank Holidays are much less; and servicing, plating etc.
can be phased so that a lot of work is done on the Monday, so it can be possible to reduce the cost
of spare vehicles. In the second case, the vehicles collect ten loads per week rather than eight, so
fewer vehicles tend to be needed than for a four-day working week (though obviously this depends
upon the tonnages and property numbers etc.).

6.1.7

In some cases where the client chooses a four-day week, the operation uses 32-tonne vehicles,
meaning that the loads collected over these longer working days are significantly increased. This is
almost certainly impractical in HDC.

6.1.8

In some cases the move to a four-day week offers no significant savings to the council: but does
provide an impetus for change (particularly the case for in-house operations: but this is irrelevant
to this case).

6.1.9

It has to be said however that in some cases four-day working simply doesn’t offer economies at
all. One of the reasons that it may not is due to the tonnages that need to be picked up: moving to
a four-day week reduces the maximum collection capacity by 20%. The first test that we would
undertake is to see if this is a problem. A second reason is related to the locations of properties,
depot(s) and tipping point(s): but if the first test fails, this is largely irrelevant.

6.1.10 Whether there are economies in collection through a longer working day depends upon a number
of factors. The most economic practice for standard five-day working is (usually) to try and collect
two full loads and tip them over an eight hour day (sometimes 7.4 or 7.5 hours in the case of
DSOs). However, there are situations where the tipping point is so distant from the collection area,
or where the properties are geographically spread out, that it is not possible to tip twice per day; or
where volumes are such that the second load is a partial load.

48

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

127

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

6.2

Model
Household numbers

6.2.1

For this calculation we are working on a figure of 39,000 households. Which is what we are advised
could become the number during a contract period.

In our calculation we therefore allow for

18,500 collections per week for residual waste and dry recycling; and 37,000 collections per week
for food waste.
Tonnages
6.2.2

6.2.3

Current arisings in terms of kg / hh / year are as set out below:
Current arisings kg/hh/year

HDC

Residual waste

366

Recycling

207

Food

87

This results in the following annual tonnages collected if we allow for 37,000 properties:
Current arisings tonnes/year

HDC

Residual waste

13,542

Recycling

7,659

Food

3,219

6.3

Modelled Resources

6.3.1

The daily workload on a five-day week is such that:


There is a requirement to collect 54.17 tonnes of residual waste from 3,700 properties;



There is a requirement to collect 29.46 tonnes of recycling from 3,700 properties; and

49

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

128

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services


6.3.2

There is a requirement to collect 12.38 tonnes of food waste from 7,400 properties.

The front-line resources that we estimate are required are three rounds for residual waste and four
for recycling (the latter have a further distance to the disposal point. We believe that between
three and four rounds would be required to collect food waste.
Re-model for the four-day week

6.3.3

6.3.4

The daily workload on a five-day week is such that:


There is a requirement to collect 67.71 tonnes of residual waste from 4,625 properties;



There is a requirement to collect 36.82 tonnes of recycling from 4,625 properties; and



There is a requirement to collect 15.48 tonnes of food waste from 9,250 properties.

In terms of resources, we believe that four rounds for residual waste would be a more likely
resource, since using three implies more than two tips per vehicle per day; and that four rounds for
recycling would be quite tight. We do not see how a four-day week offers greater savings than the
current five-day design.

6.3.5

That said, a contractor might find a design whereby a four-day option could work: one answer
might be to use 32-tonne vehicles on some of the rounds to give greater capacity: whilst we are
sure that this might be feasible in some areas, in others it would not.
Conclusion

6.3.6

At this stage we feel that the Council should not prescribe a four-day week collection pattern as
part of its specification.

6.3.7

It may be appropriate to allow bidders to tender on the basis of either a four-day week or a fiveday week (but with households retaining the same collection day, meaning a hybrid approach is not
appropriate), according to their choice as to which is the most economic: but if a four-day week is
chosen as the bid that is offered, then we believe that:


First, the Council should insist on a thorough worked model to be supplied so that they can be
satisfied that the proposals are robust;

50

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

129

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services



Second, if larger-than-standard RCVs are proposed then evidence should be submitted to show
that their use has been properly tested for the areas where they are proposed;



Third, the introduction of a four-day week will incur significant one-off costs to the Councils in
terms of communicating a day change and our experience is that these are higher than for a
simple day change in a standard week, since they will almost certainly be more significant.
This should be factored into the evaluation model.

6.3.8

We advise in 6.5 that the Council should consider using the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation
to procure its contract. The use of this Procedure would allow detailed discussion on the points
above.

6.4

Provision of Capital

6.4.1

Over the years we have been able to reduce the costs of waste services to our local authority
clients by using council-provided capital for vehicle purchase (including recently at Epping Forest
DC). This sub-section explains the principles behind this action.

6.4.2

We should first emphasise that we are not accountants, nor are we financial advisers. Further, we
know that the financial circumstances of each council that we deal with in this regard is subtly
different e.g. some have large cash reserves which at present earn very little interest whilst others
have no such reserves but do have the capacity to borrow. When councils do decide to provide
capital in this way, the precise methodology for so doing is therefore different; and the precise
accounting arrangements are also different.

Should HDC believe that there could be savings

through this action, more precise financial advice should be sought.
6.4.3

If HDC were to actually procure the vehicles themselves, then our understanding is that they would
have to do so using an OJEU process: it might be that a compliant framework arrangement could
be used but even so there would be a cost incurred for such a process and the timetable would
need to be considered carefully. We are, of course, aware that the UK has recently voted to leave
the EU: but this will not be effected before this contract is due to be re-procured.

6.4.4

Following this through, at the time of such a procurement HDC would need to know precisely how
many vehicles of what type were required: and although our estimate might give some guidelines it
is possible that the contractor who offers the most economically advantageous tender might use a
slightly different configuration either in terms of numbers or vehicle types. What we are saying
51

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

130

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

here is that if HDC were to purchase the vehicles then they would need to know the precise
resources that the contractor would wish to use. This implies awarding the contract for waste
collection and then procuring the vehicles; or alternatively HDC deciding on the level of resource
that it will provide and lose the opportunity of contractor innovation by way of service design.
6.4.5

There is an added complication were HDC to procure the vehicles themselves: they might end up
with a result which is subtly different to that which the contractor would prefer: for example, the
contractor might prefer a certain configuration of chassis and body or a particular type of bin-lift. It
is the nature of OJEU-compliant procedures that they be open and are not anti-competitive and
therefore cannot be restricted to such requirements and so it is not possible for the HDC to specify
requirements in the way that a private sector company can. This could lead to the complication, if
HDC purchased the vehicles, where during the later years of the contract the contractor complains
that the vehicles are not fit for purpose and claims for costs against HDC.

6.4.6

For these reasons we believe that it is more appropriate for the contractor to purchase and own the
vehicles: but many of the waste companies cannot borrow money as cheaply as local authorities
can; and in the case where the local authority in question has cash balances, the loss of interest (in
the current market) on those balances would be very much less than the borrowing costs of a
contractor.

6.4.7

We estimate the capital cost for the vehicle resource at HDC to be up to £2.5 million, including for
spare vehicles. Our understanding is that typically waste companies will depreciate their main fleet
over a period of seven years: we further understand that this is the case even if the contract period
is somewhat longer.

6.4.8

Clearly the borrowing costs for each individual contractor will vary: we are assuming for this model
that they might range from 4% to 7%. Using a purchase value of £2.5 million, a repayment period
of seven years and an interest rate of 4%, the annual repayment would be £410,064; and if the
interest rate was 7% the annual repayment would be £452,780.

6.4.9

As stated, we are not accountants or finance experts: but we understand that HDC could borrow
from the PWLB at a rate of ca. 1.2%. If HDC were to borrow £2.5 million over seven years at this
rate the annual repayment would be £372,531 – a saving of £37,533 per annum over the 4%
calculation and a saving of £80,249 per annum over the 7% calculation. If, instead of borrowing

52

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

131

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

the £2.5 million some or all of it could be financed from reserves then the potential annual savings
would be even greater.
6.4.10 As far as the mechanics of such a transaction are concerned, we have seen two methods used:


An up-front payment is made (but only paid when the vehicles are delivered and in the
ownership of the contractor). The contractor then reduces the monthly invoice; as a security
the council has a lien over the vehicles (this was the method used by Epping Forest DC).



A loan is made to the contractor which the contractor repays each month by means of a
deduction from the monthly invoice. There is a separate legal agreement to cover the loan;
and it generally involves some interest being charged. Again, as a security the council has a
lien over the vehicles.

6.4.11 We recommend that, having reviewed the principles as set out in this report, HDC seeks financial
advice to see which approach best suits their overall financial position e.g. use of reserves,
prudential borrowing etc. If, having done this the matter is still of interest, WYG can advise on how
this should be dealt with in the contract documentation, including (if appropriate and required)
provision of a draft loan agreement.

6.5

ICT

6.5.1

All waste collection contractors have developed their own ICT systems which are used (for their
own purposes) to track the collection vehicles, record collection activities (access difficulties, bins
not presented or not collected for a technical reason) etc. and which involve in-cab technology.

6.5.2

Some councils have their own systems for capturing data which can be used to liaise with
customers who might make enquiries or complaints e.g. in relation to missed collections.

6.5.3

Councils with very sophisticated internal systems often require their waste collection contractor to
build interfaces between the contractor’s system and their own system. Sometimes this adds cost
or complication to the exchange of information. An alternative approach, particularly if a council’s
systems are less sophisticated, is for the council to have access to the contractor’s system and
receive reports from it.

53

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

132

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

6.5.4

Whichever choice is made, we believe that there can be difficulties in understanding precisely what
the contractor’s system does and how it works. In Competitive Dialogue (CD) procedures it is
normal for at least one session to involve the tenderers demonstrating their system; this is also
possible using CPN but not under Restricted Procedure.

6.5.5

Whichever choice is made, provided there is clarity as to what is required and how and when it will
be delivered there can be great benefit to the customer in terms of better quality information as
well as faster and more economic communication between the council and the contractor.

6.5.6

In terms of specifying requirements, it is generally best for the council to specify outcomes and
outputs, whilst describing its current methodology and systems, and invite the contractor to explain
how they can deliver an optimised solution. We would advise that the contract documentation
should say that HDC expects any contractor to use a modern ICT system using in-cab technology
which would either interface directly with HDC’s systems or give direct access to HDC staff to assist
in dealing with customer queries etc. working in real-time; and we could describe this in greater
detail (e.g. giving details of HDC’s precise systems, security etc.) in any contract documentation.
Consideration could also be given to making access to this information more generally.

6.6

Contract Period

6.6.1

There is some disagreement as to what the optimum contract period should be. In the past a
period of seven years was generally used, since this was (historically) the period over which the
major assets (vehicles) were depreciated.

6.6.2

With many fewer deliveries to landfill sites, plus improvements in vehicle design, contractors find
that they can deliver a contract most economically over a ten-year period. WYG has recently tested
different contract periods through Competitive Dialogue procurements: and the answer at both (at
Epping Forest and at Rushmoor) was that 10 years was the optimum period.

6.6.3

The argument against a 10-year contract period is that changes may be required during the
contract term which cannot be foreseen. If HDC were sure that no such changes were likely then a
10-year period is most likely to deliver the most economic contract.

6.6.4

One way of testing this would be to ask for different submissions, although this can be difficult if
the Restricted Procedure is used for procurement.

54

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

133

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

6.7

Procurement Process

6.7.1

We note from this report that there are several matters on which the Council could be unsure and
could be asking for different submissions from any tenderers. These might include the option for
the four-day or five-day service or for different contract periods (as described above) as well as the
potential provision of capital and use of ICT systems.

6.7.2

There are other matters where we are sure that tenderers would wish for some discussion: these
would certainly include processes for dealing with the changing values and composition for the comingled dry recyclables.

6.7.3

We believe that the best way of making the most of these options would be to use the new
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (CPN) which was introduced under the Public Contracts
Regulations 2015.

6.7.4

Under this procedure, contract documents are published with the Contract Notice as with all other
procedures. Tenders are invited whereby the participants are required to submit some variant
scenarios, and may choose to submit others. In this particular case, we might expect tenderers to
describe options for four-day and five-day collection services; different prices for different contract
periods (e.g. ranging from an initial seven to 10 years); to clarify the discount they would give if
the Council provided the capital, and clarifying the amount of capital required; and to comment
upon some specific terms and conditions.

6.7.5

Tenders are then evaluated. Under the CPN it should always be possible to award the contract
without negotiation: and if the same tenderer offers the best tender in any scenario with no
amendments required to the terms and conditions then that would indeed be possible. Where this
is not the case then the Council would invite the highest scoring tenderers (using set criteria to
determine how many etc.) to separate negotiation meetings, which might include e.g. a
demonstration of the contractor’s ICT system. Following these meetings the Council would finetune its requirements and invite those who have participated in the negotiations to re-tender: and
then re-evaluate the submissions. The fine-tuned requirements would need to be such so that
there is a clear winner.

55

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

134

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

6.7.6

By these means the Council can evaluate variants and award the contract with low risk attached to
the process. This would not be possible using Restricted Procedure: and we believe that CD would
be too cumbersome (and expensive) for variants such as these.

6.7.7

6.7.8

The key stages in a CPN process might be as follows:
 Development of contract documentation

To March 2017

 Placing of contract notice

March / April 2017

 Shortlisting from questionnaires

May 2017

 Inviting tenderers

May 2017

 Receiving initial tenderers

August / September 2017

 Evaluating initial tenders

September 2017

 Negotiations

October 2017

 Inviting final tenders

Late October 2017

 Evaluating final tenders

November 2017

 Contract award

December 2017

The contract award date allows six months for mobilisation, essential for vehicle deliveries and for
ICT configuration. We believe this to be entirely achievable.

56

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

135

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Appendices

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

136
February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and
Recycling Collection and Allied Services

Appendix A – Detailed Risk Analysis

www.wyg.com
Harlow District Council
A099013

creative minds safe hands

137
February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services
DETAILED RISK ANALYSIS
Option 1 – Continue with a contracted-out service
Introduction to HDC re-tender for a contracted-out service
In order to analyse the risks for HDC associated with re-tendering, we have had to make a number of assumptions about the detail of the proposal.
The main assumptions are listed below. The analysis is necessarily a preliminary one, and could need revisiting as and when further and better
particulars become available. The main point to make here is that this option essentially proposes to continue with the status quo, which is inherently
contains fewer risks than those options proposing radical change. In general terms, the strength or weakness of the status quo option depends on
the relative quality and merit of the current arrangements. Change for change’s sake can be a costly aberration. On the other hand, complacent
defence of a mediocre and/or costly service can be equally damaging.

138

Assumptions
We have assumed that if HDC re-tenders alone, it will be for:


a combined waste collection and recycling treatment contract;



to be let as one contract to a single contractor;



to be let on HDC contractual conditions;



with HDC specifications;



and managed by the existing client team.

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services

Topic
1.

2.

4.

5.

6.

Impact

Risk
Score

2

2

4

2

2

4

2

1

2

Cost improvements are possible
if HDC is willing to relax some
conditions, or share risks with
the contractor

2

2

4

Need to understand the extent to
which the existing client
arrangements are efficient and
economic

Cost improvements are possible
if HDC feels that further
reductions in the client team
can be made. This is considered
unlikely though improved ICT
should aid effectiveness and
efficiency

2

1

2

Need to understand the extent to
which the existing client
arrangements are efficient and

Cost improvements are possible
if HDC feels that further
reductions in the client team
can be made. This is considered

2

1

2

Mitigation

The contract may be unattractive to
contractors who would have little interest
in bidding; or might attract uncompetitive
bids

WYG’s discussions with the market
have identified that, provided
certain aspects of the contract are
favourable, there is interest in this
contract

Use of capital could reduce
costs

Management
of savings
and/or
overruns

By choosing this option, HDC will have to
live with the result and costs could
increase

WYG’s discussions with Veolia
when assisting with the current
extension suggest that, although
tight, the contract does better
than break-even: and by sharing
risk on recyclate values and
providing capital the cost may be
similar to current

Evidence may show that HDC
could gain more from retendering than by any other
arrangement

TUPE
transfers

HDC currently does not have in-house
services that are proposed for
externalisation. The TUPE implications of
changed contractors are not expensive

None necessary

None

Contractual
arrangement

HDC can use contract clauses and
specification conditions that reflect the
existing service patterns

Need to assess the extent to
which the current conditions and
specifications add unnecessarily to
the contractors costs

Response to
unsatisfactory
Contractor
performance

HDC has to be confident that it has
resourced its client team sufficiently to be
able gain and hold the contractor’s
attention should performance deteriorate

Client
Arrangements

HDC has to be confident that it has
resourced its client team sufficiently to be
able gain and hold the contractor’s

Costs Affordability

139
3.

Likelihood

Risk

www.wyg.com

Opportunity

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services

Topic

Risk

Mitigation

Opportunity

attention should performance deteriorate

economic

unlikely though improved ICT
should aid effectiveness and
efficiency

Links to
Customer
Strategy

HDC has to review its current
arrangements to satisfy itself that the
current configuration of customer contact
strategy and these services is efficient and
effective

Need to understand the extent
HDC could gain from further
business process improvements

Cost improvements are possible
if further streamlining of
processes can be achieved. This
is considered unlikely though
improved ICT should aid
effectiveness and efficiency.

8.

Cost of Cooperation

Not applicable in this option

Not applicable in this option

None

9.

Economies of
Scale

HDC may fail to access economies of scale
available to larger operations

Need to benchmark current costs
to understand the extent to which
the current scale of operation is
uneconomic

None

10.

Sovereignty
and control

That the contractor will not be responsive
to requests for change

Include strong variations clause in
the contract

None

11.

Links
between
services

The current configuration of an integrated
contract may be less efficient than
appointing specialist contractors in each
field

Need to benchmark current costs
to understand the extent to which
the current arrangement is
uneconomic – although evidence
from extension and from WYG
consultation is that an integrated
arrangement was best

None

HDC will have to review its current
arrangements and satisfy itself that these
risks are appropriately and efficiently
managed

Need to benchmark current
arrangements to gain evidence of
their suitability: but risks are
mostly transferred to the
contractor

None

7.

140
12.

Regulatory
risks –
transport,
waste, H&S

www.wyg.com

Likelihood

Impact

Risk
Score

2

1

2

1

1

1

2

3 (or lower
if evidence
is
produced)

6

2

3

6

2

3 (or lower
if evidence
is
produced)

6

2

2

4

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services

Option 2 – Bring operations in-house
Introduction to in-house risk analysis
In order to analyse the risks for HDC associated with an in-house service, we have had to make a number of assumptions about the detail of the
proposal. The main assumptions are listed below. The analysis is necessarily a preliminary one, and may need revisiting as and when further and
better particulars become available. The main point to make here is that this option could have far reaching implications for the remainder of HDC,
and it is very difficult to understand the extent to which central services such as payroll, health and safety, procurement etc. are ready willing and
able to provide responsive central services to a newly formed DSO at the price a competitive service would want to pay.

141

Assumptions
We have assumed that if the in-house option is chosen, it will cover:


a combined waste collection and recycling treatment service though with the latter outsourced;



it will buy central services from the main departments of HDC;



it will incorporate client and contractor functions;



it will deliver to HDC specifications.

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services

Topic
1.

Costs Affordability

Risk
That equal pay for work of equal
value considerations will drive up
labour costs as HDC will fit DSO
staff into the job evaluation
scheme.
That vehicle and sundry supply
contracts for a single service
operator will be more expensive
than private contractors can
achieve

2.

142
3.

4.

5.

Mitigation
Need to understand the extent to
which improved pay and conditions
will control turnover and promote
productivity

Opportunity

Impact

Risk Score

3

4

12

3

4

12

2

2

4

1

1

1

2

2

4

It is extremely unlikely that
this option will be the
cheapest.

Need to research collaborative
buying arrangements available
through public sector purchasing
consortia and use SHDC skills and
processes

Management
of savings
and/or
overruns

In this scenario, HDC will have to
live within its means and absorb
cost overruns, or enjoy the full
benefit of any savings

Need to assess whether this
presents any problems beyond the
capacity of HDC’s financial
management, especially as there is
no contractual limit that can be
applied to a DSO

None

TUPE transfers

See 1 above. TUPE transfer of staff
into HDC is not expensive, it is the
equal pay obligation that will raise
costs

See 1 above

None

Contractual
arrangement

Not applicable in this option except
for the recyclate treatment contract
(which may bring a new challenge
not assessed)

Not applicable in this option except
for the recyclate treatment contract
(which may bring a new challenge
not assessed)

None

Response to
unsatisfactory
Contractor
performance

HDC has to be confident that its
own management team will be
capable of tackling and remedying
any defects in its own staff’s
performance

None

None

www.wyg.com

Likelihood

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services
Topic
6.

Risk

Mitigation

Client
Arrangements

Not applicable in this option

Links to
Customer
Strategy

HDC has to review its current
arrangements to satisfy itself that
the current configuration of
customer contact strategy and
these services is efficient and
effective

Need to understand the extent
HDC could gain from further
business process improvements

Cost improvements are
possible if further streamlining
of processes can be achieved.
This is considered unlikely.

8.

Cost of Cooperation

Not applicable in this option

Not applicable in this option

None

9.

Economies of
Scale

By bringing the services in-house,
HDC may fail to access economies
of scale available to larger
operations

Need to benchmark proposed costs
to understand the extent to which
the proposed scale of operation is
uneconomic

None

10.

Sovereignty &
control

Not applicable in this option

Not applicable in this option

None

11.

Links between
services

The current configuration of an
integrated arrangement may be
less efficient than separate
arrangements

Need to benchmark current costs
to understand the extent to which
the current arrangement is
uneconomic

None

Regulatory
risks –
transport,
waste, H&S

HDC will have to carry these risks
directly, most notably for the
Heavy Vehicle O Licence, for Health
and Safety of the staff and for
Environment Agency Waste
Management

Not clear

None

7.

143

12.

www.wyg.com

Not applicable in this option

Opportunity

Likelihood

Impact

Risk Score

1

1

1

2

1

2

1

1

1

2

3 (or lower if
evidence is
produced)

6

1

1

1

3 (or lower if
evidence is
produced)

3 (or lower if
evidence is
produced)

9

3

3

9

None

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services
Option 3 – Delivery through a Teckal arrangement
Introduction to Teckal arrangement risk analysis
In order to analyse the risks for HDC associated with delivery through a Teckal arrangement, we have had to make a number of assumptions about
the detail of the proposal. The main assumptions are listed below. The analysis is necessarily a preliminary one, and will need revisiting as and when
further and better particulars become available. The main point to make here is that this option will have far reaching implications for the remainder
of HDC, and it is very difficult to understand the extent to which central services such as payroll, health and safety, procurement etc. are ready
willing and able to provide responsive central services to a newly formed organisation at the price a competitive service would want to pay.
Additionally, the timetable in terms of setting up such an arrangement is relatively short.

144

Assumptions
We have assumed that if the Teckal option is chosen, it will cover:


a combined waste collection and recycling treatment service operating in one Teckal company (with the latter outsourced);



It will operate within the HTS structure but separately from HTS (P&E);



it will buy central services from the main departments of HDC or from HTS;



it will incorporate contractor functions only, with a separate client structure;



it will deliver to HDC specifications.

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services
Topic
Costs 1. Affordability

Risk
That equal pay for work of equal
value considerations will drive up
labour costs.
That vehicle and sundry supply
contracts for a single service
operator will be more expensive
than private contractors can
achieve

Mitigation
Need to understand the extent to
which improved pay and conditions
will control turnover and promote
productivity

Opportunity

145

Likelihood

Impact

Risk Score

3

2

6

3

3

9

2

2

4

1

1

1

2

3

6

It is possible to develop a
separate set of terms and
conditions that are less
expensive than for a DSO.

Need to research collaborative
buying arrangements available
through public sector purchasing
consortia
In the longer term the HTS
arrangement could help: but the
timetable is such that this is likely
to pose challenges just now.

2.

3.

Management
of savings
and/or
overruns

Under this arrangement, the Teckal
company will have to absorb cost
overruns, or enjoy the benefit of
any savings. There will be costs in
setting up and running the
company

Need to assess whether this
presents any problems beyond the
capacity of the company’s financial
management: Teckal ultimately
underpinned by Council(s)

Within the Teckal company
there may be other services
which are delivered on a basis
that generates a surplus,
enabling costs to be absorbed

TUPE transfers

See 1 above. TUPE transfer of staff
into the Teckal company is not
expensive, it is the equal pay
obligation that will raise costs

See 1 above

None

4.

Contractual
arrangement

Not applicable in this option

Not applicable in this option

None

5.

Response to
unsatisfactory
Contractor
performance

HDC has to be confident that the
management team will be capable
of tackling and remedying any
defects in (effectively) its own
staff’s performance

Not clear

None

www.wyg.com

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Report Regarding the Procurement of a Contract for Domestic Waste and Recycling Collection and Allied
Services
Topic
6.

Risk

Mitigation

Client
Arrangements

Not applicable in this option

Links to
Customer
Strategy

HDC has to review its current
arrangements to satisfy itself that
the current configuration of
customer contact strategy and
these services is efficient and
effective

Need to understand the extent
HDC could gain from further
business process improvements

Cost improvements are
possible if further streamlining
of processes can be achieved.
This is considered unlikely.

8.

Cost of Cooperation

Not applicable in this option

Not applicable in this option

None

9.

Economies of
Scale

By bringing the services into a
small company HDC may fail to
access economies of scale

Need to benchmark proposed costs
to understand the extent to which
the proposed scale of operation is
uneconomic

None

10. Sovereignty &
control

That the Teckal company develops
its own culture which does not fit
with HDC culture

Strong governance structures need
to be developed

None

11. Links between
services

The current configuration of an
integrated arrangement may be
less efficient than separate
arrangements

Need to benchmark current costs
to understand the extent to which
the current arrangement is
uneconomic

None

12. Regulatory
risks –
transport,
waste, H&S

The Teckal company will have to
carry these risks directly, most
notably for the Heavy Vehicle O
Licence, for Health and Safety of
the staff and for Environment
Agency Waste Management

Not clear

None

7.

146

www.wyg.com

Not applicable in this option

Opportunity

Likelihood

Impact

Risk Score

1

1

1

2

1

2

1

1

1

2

3

6

2

3

6

2

3

9

3

3

9

None

creative minds safe hands

Harlow District Council
A099013

February 2017

Agenda Item 15a

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

REFERRAL FROM CABINET OVERVIEW
WORKING GROUP– ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY FOR HARLOW

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR TONY DURCAN, PORTFOLIO
HOLDER FOR REGENERATION AND
ENTERPRISE

LEAD OFFICERS:

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY
WELLBEING (01279) 446406

CONTRIBUTING
OFFICER(S)

JULIE HOUSTON, STRATEGY & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER
(01279) 446445

This is a Key Decision
It is on the Forward Plan as Decision Number I004195
Call-in Procedures may apply
This decision will affect no ward specifically.
RECOMMENDED that:
A The Economic Development Strategy attached at Appendix A is approved.
REASON FOR DECISION
A The Cabinet Overview Working Group considered a report on the Economic
Development Strategy and recommended that the Strategy was adopted.
BACKGROUND
1. At its meeting on 9 March 2017, the Cabinet Overview Working Group
considered a report on the Economic Development Strategy for Harlow.
2. The Working Group noted the progress made on producing the Strategy and
recommended to Cabinet that it was adopted.
IMPLICATIONS
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section
of the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1.

147

APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Cabinet Overview Working Group, ‘Economic
Development Strategy – Final Report’
BACKGROUND PAPERS
All original reports to the Cabinet Overview Working Group can be viewed from
http://moderndb/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=818&Ver=4

148

APPENDIX 1
REPORT TO:

OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP

DATE:

9 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY –
FINAL REPORT

PORTFOLIO HOLDER

COUNCILLOR TONY DURCAN, PORTFOLIO
HOLDER FOR REGENERATION &
ENTERPRISE

LEAD OFFICER(S):

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY
WELLBEING (01279) 446406

CONTRIBUTING
OFFICER(S):

JULIE HOUSTON, STRATEGY & ECONOMIC
DEVELOPMENT MANAGER
(01279) 446445

RECOMMENDED that:
A Overview Working Group notes the progress made in the development of an
Economic Development Strategy for Harlow.
B The Overview Working Group recommends to Cabinet that the Economic
Development Strategy at Appendix A is approved.
REASON FOR DECISION
1.

Regeneration and a thriving economy is a priority for Harlow Council. The
Council requires a clear statement of policy to guide its economic
development activity and make the case for investment in Harlow. This is
particularly important in the context of the development of the Local Plan.

INTRODUCTION
2.

The Overview Working group established a working group to review the
Council’s current economic development activity and reach conclusions for
future policy and activity in order to develop the Economic Development
Strategy for Harlow.

3.

The Working Group engaged with a variety of stakeholders through two
workshop based discussions. Participants included representatives from
Harlow College, Sir Charles Kao University Technical College, Harlow and
District Chamber of Commerce, Essex County Council, the London Stansted
Cambridge Consortium and the South East Local Enterprise Partnership. A
separate consultation took place with Harlow Youth Council.

149

4.

The feedback from the workshops and the above consultation has been used
in development of the Economic Development Strategy at Appendix A.

CONTEXT AND STRATEGIC IMPORTANCE
5.

Harlow’s location and connectivity to London and Cambridge (and further
afield) means the Town is in a unique position to attract both national and
international employers and support a vibrant small and medium sized
business community.

6.

Harlow has a key role to play in achieving the economic potential of the
London Stansted Cambridge Corridor and as a sub-regional centre Harlow
and the wider area is a key focus for both housing and economic growth,
playing a complementary role to London and Cambridge.

7.

Harlow has huge potential for business growth and improving resident
prosperity. Harlow’s importance and role in the corridor is further evidenced
by the establishment and growth of the Enterprise Zone and the decision of
Public Health England to locate its headquarters and national Science Hub in
Harlow. These two initiatives together have the potential to deliver and
support 9,000 jobs.

8.

Increasing economic prosperity within the Town and for all its residents is a
key priority. Harlow’s residents currently earn some of the lowest wages in
the County of Essex and yet earnings on offer from the jobs located in the
town in fact command much higher wages. Skills levels within the town are
also below the Essex and National averages. Improving the prosperity of
Harlow’s residents will improve quality of life, health and well-being and
opportunity.

KEY OUTCOMES
9.

The Economic Development Strategy is organised around three key themes:a) Business and Jobs
b) Place
c) People

10. The critical challenges are :a) Securing investment, jobs and new business growth.
b) Ensuring that local employers access the skills they need and that
local residents can benefit.
c) Addressing the Town’s infrastructure deficits which are preventing
private and public investment.
d) Delivering the top quality locations and communities that knowledgebased business and their employees demand.

150

11. There are key principles which drive every aspect of the Strategy:a) Maintaining and delivering on the momentum achieved for the local
economy.
b) Keeping the pressure on to deliver the transport and enabling
infrastructure that is critical to major developments.
c) Sharing prosperity.
d) Working in partnership.
e) Financial sustainability.
12. Key measures of success of the Economic Development Strategy will be:a) Narrowing the gap between resident and workplace earnings through
the raising of resident earnings.
b) Increasing the numbers of residents qualified at each level from 2 and
above, again closing the gap with the national average.
c) Maintaining growth in the numbers of businesses locating in Harlow.
d) Maintaining growth in the number of employees’ jobs in Harlow.
WAY FORWARD
13. It is proposed that following the approval of the Economic Development
Strategy, the Council will establish an Economic Development Officer Group
that will be tasked with delivering the Strategy through the development of an
Action Plan.
14. The Group will comprise of Officers with responsibility for economic
development, regeneration, planning and Harlow Enterprise Zone.
15. The Group will be responsible for executing the Action Plan, reporting to the
Corporate Management Team as required and to the Portfolio Holder for
Regeneration and Enterprise.

IMPLICATIONS
Place (includes Sustainability)
As set out in the report
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place
Finance (Includes ICT)
The development and encouragement of a strong economy will provide wide
ranging financial benefits to the town and the Council. The current review being
carried out by the Government in to Local Authority funding is focused almost
entirely on removing central government support and forcing councils to become
reliant on income generation, housing growth and business rates specifically for
their future funding streams. The themes and priorities set out in the strategy

151

align with this direction of travel for the Council’s future funding arrangements
under Business Rates Retention.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
As outlined in the body of the report.
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
As contained within the report.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
Whilst working in partnership the Council should be minded that when it is
providing advice on succession planning, human resources management,
recruitment, employment matters and workforce skills that this advice is
signposted and caveated with being subject to those being advised to procure
their own independent advice. This will mitigate risk to the Council of reliance on
advice given without being held accountable.
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance
Background Papers
None.
Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
None
Appendices
Appendix A – Harlow Economic Development Strategy

152

APPENDIX A

HARLOW ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT
STRATEGY

153

INTRODUCTION
Harlow Economic Development Strategy
This document sets out Harlow’s Economic Development Strategy for the next 5 years, building on the
incredible success of the past five years in terms of business investment, new jobs, transport upgrade
announcements and new housing developments.
Focusing on the three themes of 1) business and jobs; 2) place; and 3) people we set out our priorities and
ideas for delivery which will lead to:
I.

10,000 new jobs in Harlow.

II.

16,000 new homes in Harlow and neighbouring areas.

III.

A world class location for ICT, Advanced Manufacturing and Life Sciences Industries,
complementing the offer from Cambridge and London.

IV.

Measures to ensure residents benefit from new job opportunities.

V.

Higher quality of life, with a thriving culture and leisure offer, with increased health and wellbeing
outcomes.

VI.

A vibrant, creative Town Centre that is an asset to our communities and businesses.

RECENT INVESTMENTS AND SUCCESSES DEMONSTRATE THAT HARLOW IS A KEY UK
LOCATION FOR ICT, AEROSPACE AND LIFE SCIENCES INDUSTRIES.
Harlow is growing in significance as a location for world class knowledge-based businesses and
organisations including Life Sciences (Public Health England), ICT & Digital (Arrow Electronics) and
Advanced Manufacturing (Raytheon). There is increasing recognition that Harlow has an important role to
play in delivering economic growth, particularly with an emphasis on our key growth sectors of life sciences,
advanced manufacturing and ICT/Digital. This is evidenced by Government decisions to award Harlow an
Enterprise Zone, and to locate the new Public Health England headquarters and Science Hub here.
The renaissance of Harlow as a location for high tech industries builds on its strong legacy. Harlow
has long been a location for innovation – it was where fibre-optic telecommunication was invented, and
where devices delivering asthma medication were developed. Innovation will continue to be the hallmark of
our economy going forward.
Recent growth in jobs and businesses. Harlow now has 41,000 jobs and the business population has
grown at almost twice the rate of the national average.
Harlow Council has proven that it can have the vision and leadership to succeed. Harlow Council
took the initial bold steps to seek Enterprise Zone status, which included gaining control of some of the key
sites which were then designated as the Science and Technology Park, and then attracted Vinci as a
development partner. Harlow Council has taken a leading role and has secured effective partnerships with
the private sector.

HARLOW OFFERS DISTINCT ADVANTAGES AS AN ECONOMIC LOCATION

2
154

Harlow lies at the centre of a rich and diverse workforce catchment that brings in talent for its
knowledge industries. Harlow lies within easy reach of London, Cambridge, and the towns of East
Hertfordshire and West Essex.
Harlow is on or adjacent to high capacity transport infrastructure and international gateways. As
part of the West Anglia Main Line and situated with easy access to the M11 Motorway, our proximity to a
growing London Stansted Airport affords both Harlow and the London Stansted Cambridge corridor, access
to international markets, jobs and business opportunities.
Harlow is the growth node for technology and knowledge businesses, strategically situated at the
heart of the London Stansted Cambridge corridor, well-connected to London and Cambridge. Harlow can
play a new role in relation to London, in supporting and benefitting from London’s economic success,
providing mutually beneficial economic activity as our global capital city continues to evolve.

WITH THE OPPORTUNITY TO PROVIDE A HIGH-QUALITY LOCATION FOR BUSINESSES
AND RESIDENTS
Harlow and its neighbouring localities are poised to deliver high quality homes, communities and
business locations. The Government's decision to support Garden Town status for Harlow and Gilston
Park, delivering in excess of 16,000 homes will place an even greater emphasis on the ability of Harlow
and its environs to deliver space for quality businesses and employment with the necessary infrastructure
in place to support that growth. It is in this context and the environment of uncertain impacts generated by
Brexit that Harlow must look to the future and make the best possible case to attract investment, business
and employment.

Harlow faces several critical challenges to delivering shared
prosperity
SECURING INVESTMENT, JOBS AND NEW BUSINESS GROWTH
Continuing to ensure that business investment and development continues. Harlow’s economy has
changed dramatically from its New Town origins. Large companies are no longer the hallmark of our
economy, as only 0.5% of Harlow businesses have 250 or more employees. Manufacturing has declined
but still remains a very important element of our economy supporting 3,500 jobs. The economic sectors
offering growth potential for Harlow and therefore those that are prioritised in this strategy are ICT,
Advanced Manufacturing and Life Sciences Industries. These sectors are based not only on historic, but
current economic strengths and are reflective of economic growth sectors in the wider London Stansted
Cambridge corridor. In addition to this, and linked to the ambition to provide a high quality place, supporting
the growth of our cultural and creative assets to support economic and social value, and therefore the
development of the visitor economy will be an area of focus.
There is the potential for 9,000 jobs to be delivered in the Harlow Enterprise Zone and Public Health
England. In the context of Harlow’s employee jobs peaking at 41,300 in 2008, falling to 37,000 in 2011,
and recovering to 41,000 in 2015, it is critical to continue to work hard to maintain this momentum and
secure the inward investment successes of the Harlow Enterprise Zone and the establishment of Public
Health England.
There will also be many supply chain and follow-on opportunities from the Enterprise Zone and
Public Health England. Public Health England is developing an open campus approach that will actively
encourage the co-location of a supply chain, research partners and supporting services. Harlow’s business
stock has also grown from 2,060 in 2010 to 2,750 in 2016 at a growth rate almost twice the national

3
155

average. There will be opportunities for local entrepreneurs and new business investors – and our Strategy
must deliver support to make this happen.

ENSURING THAT LOCAL EMPLOYERS ACCESS THE SKILLS THEY NEED AND THAT
LOCAL RESIDENTS CAN BENEFIT
Ensuring that local employers can access the skills and qualifications that they need. What is clear
is that our labour market skills need to evolve to support the identified growth sectors. Skills gaps are
identified in each of these sectors and therefore education and skills provision needs to meet not only
current needs but anticipate the needs of future economic growth.
Ensuring local residents benefit. Currently, Harlow residents do not take advantage of the higher-skilled,
higher-paid jobs in the Town. This problem is illustrated by the fact that residents are earning
approximately, on average £60 per week less than the average pay available for the jobs present in
Harlow. Our Strategy needs to bring learning and skills to the fore to enable Harlow residents to take
advantage of the better paid opportunities on offer in the town. This will ensure that economic prosperity in
our businesses translates to local residents and the local community.

ADDRESSING OUR INFRASTRUCTURE DEFICITS, WHICH ARE PREVENTING PRIVATE
AND PUBLIC INVESTMENT
Our infrastructure deficits must also be addressed to achieve economic success. We welcome the
recent announcement of Government funding to deliver a new junction on the M11 north of Harlow (junction
7a) and this, along with associated highway access improvement, is imperative for Harlow to meet current
and future economic and housing growth. The new junction must be delivered as soon as practicably
possible and this means with the appropriate linking highway through Gilden Way. This will also enable an
additional link road that would deliver access to the north of the town, supporting future housing and
economic growth. The new junction 7a is imperative to the Harlow Enterprise Zone development and
therefore the delivery of jobs at that location.

DELIVERING THE TOP QUALITY LOCATIONS AND COMMUNITIES THAT KNOWLEDGEBASED BUSINESSES AND THEIR EMPLOYEES DEMAND
Our ability to attract and retain leading technology firms and knowledge-based industries is dependent
upon our ability to attract and retain the talent that they employ. Attracting talent relies on our ability to offer
exciting career opportunities, host leading global firms, and provide vibrant, affordable and accessible
homes and communities. One of the clear findings from the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor Growth
Commission was that all international competitor regions are promoting or have established comprehensive
place-making strategies and cross-jurisdictional collaboration, with the express intention of increasing the
quality and competitiveness of location for these firms and the talent which they depend upon. A hall mark
of successful locations is a strong cultural and leisure offer, with a quality of place that supports good health
and wellbeing outcomes.

Setting out our economic strategy: key principles
This document proposes a strategy and suggests a range of actions to deliver which will realise our Harlow
Ambition and ensure that prosperity is shared.

4
156

Whilst there is much more detail in the following chapters, there are several important principles which will
drive every aspect of the strategy:
Principle 1: Maintaining and delivering on the momentum achieved for the local economy. Harlow
Council wants to make more from the fact we are already a successful business location – as evidenced by
our successful global firms and the growth of our business stock numbers is almost twice the national
average.
Principle 2: Keeping the pressure on to deliver the transport and enabling infrastructure that is
critical to our major developments. Harlow Council will continue to campaign tirelessly for the delivery of
major transport enablers such as motorway junctions and rail service upgrades, as well as superfast
broadband.
Principle 3: Sharing prosperity. The Council will strive to support inclusive economic growth whereby all
sections of our community and businesses are able to benefit from increased economic prosperity.
Principle 4: Working in partnership. The Council cannot achieve the activities and outcomes outlined
here alone and we will work with partners, both within the public and private sector – within Harlow, with our
neighbours and with Cambridge and London. Our approach to the delivery of the Harlow Enterprise Zone is
a clear demonstration of this commitment to partnership.
Principle 5: Financial sustainability. From 2020 onwards the government has stated that 100% of
business rates collected will remain with the local authority. At this stage, it is unclear how this and the
more recent announcements of increased small business rates relief will impact the Council’s finances.
Therefore, the Council’s Economic Development Strategy needs to support increased volumes and/or
values of commercial floor-space in order that the local authority can deliver and sustain public services
that our community needs. Our Strategy must therefore address how this can best be achieved.

5
157

ECONOMIC PRIORITIES AND
OBJECTIVES
1. Businesses and jobs
CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES
Harlow has the opportunity to further capitalise on recent successes in retaining and attracting
large businesses in knowledge-based industries and in growing the entrepreneurial base. Harlow is
growing in significance as a location for world class knowledge-based businesses and organisations
including Life Sciences (Public Health England), ICT & Digital (Arrow Electronics) and Aerospace
(Raytheon). Harlow has also experienced very strong growth in its business population.
The market and private sector, on their own, will not deliver a successful business location and
sustainable community. The recent developments on the Enterprise Zone would have not occurred at all
without public sector intervention. There is a need for Harlow Council as well as its public and private sector
partners to remain active and engaged in shaping the development of the local economy as a business
location.
Harlow has significant strengths in the national priority sectors of life sciences, advanced
manufacturing and ICT/Digital. The local area has been very successful at attracting and retaining jobs in
these sectors over recent years. There are also emerging opportunities in creative businesses.
Knowledge-based industries and their workforce have very demanding location requirements.
Knowledge-based industries are highly selective in terms of location, requiring access to talent, who in-turn
want to be located in localities with vibrant career opportunities, communities of practice, and high
quality/high amenity places to live.
The attractiveness of Harlow as a place to live and do business is also dependent upon its creative,
cultural and leisure offer. It is also important to stress the importance of improving the cultural and leisure
offer of Harlow, and the role that can play in assisting the promotion of the town as a location for
investment, visitors and residents.
The positive messages and progress are not being adequately communicated or promoted. Harlow’s
great progress and competitive offer as a business location could be more widely recognised and
marketed, and the cultural and leisure offer should be more widely communicated, in order to secure further
investment and jobs. Its value as a community and residential location, with some outstanding housing
development opportunities also needs to be developed and promoted.
Continuing to support and promote entrepreneurship and SMEs. 99.5% of our businesses are now
classified as small & medium-sized enterprises, employing less than 250 people. The vast majority of our
businesses, 86.9% employ less than 10 people. The sustainability and resilience of Harlow’s economy
rests primarily with these businesses and it is therefore of the utmost importance that these business
continue to thrive.
Harlow Council has proven that it has the vision and leadership to succeed – via the success of the
Enterprise Zone, and the successful campaigns for junction improvements to the M11. To successfully
meet the potential for up to 10,000 new jobs, and the development of supply chain and other business
opportunities, we will need to continue to remain active and focused on where we can make the most
impact.
6
158

HARLOW’S TRANSFORMATION AS A SUCCESSFUL LOCATION FOR BUSINESS
INVESTMENT AND ENTREPRENEURSHIP CONTINUES
The number of businesses in Harlow has steadily increased over recent years. There has been a significant
increase in investment, growth and jobs in Harlow’s target sectors – which include Life Science and
MedTech, ICT and Digital, and Advanced Manufacturing.

FUTURE PRIORITIES
Businesses and jobs - Priority 1: Maintain and enhance business investment and activities
in Harlow’s key areas of industrial specialism
The Council will continue to support the development of the target growth sectors of Harlow Enterprise
Zone through paying attention to the wider ecosystem that supports successful economic sector clusters
and encourages others to choose to locate with them. This ranges from partnership work with One Nucleus
to support the M11 Health Enterprise Sector Forum, to delivering the right facilities for those sectors and
their staff at the Science Park.
Proposed actions could include:
 The Council will seek to enable local businesses to understand the supply chain opportunities that arise
from the major economic growth opportunities of the Harlow Enterprise Zone occupiers, London
Stansted Airport and the arrival of Public Health England in the town.
 Continued support for sector-based forums that support existing businesses and those are targets for
investment attraction. Examples of current forums include M11 Health Enterprise Forum, and the
Manufacturing and Engineering Forum. Further support for the development of forum/networks relevant
to the ICT and creative digital sectors.
 Seek to join up with wider sector opportunities relevant to the wider geography of clusters e.g. London,
Hertfordshire and Cambridge particularly for ICT and Life Sciences.

Businesses and jobs - Priority 2: Effectively promote Harlow as a business and visitor
destination
The Council will lead the promotion and development of Harlow as a location for investment, building on the
success of our work to bring businesses to Harlow Enterprise Zone, and securing Public Health England’s
location into the town. We will strive to ensure that Harlow’s standing as a successful business location is
improved nationally and globally through its position in the London Stansted Cambridge corridor. We will
also improve our marketing collateral and the promotion of Harlow as a visitor destination, ensuring this is
complementary with inward investment promotion.
Proposed actions could include:
 Refine and refresh our propositions for the town and to our target economic growth sectors, developing
a new inward investment website.
 Develop a strategy and a marketing plan to improve the locational offer in terms creative, cultural and
leisure activities, businesses and assets.
 Provide high impact branding and marketing collateral inward investment and the visitor economy.
 Establish good working relations with property agents to ensure they are well briefed of the Harlow offer
and able to have confidence in referencing our materials will be a key task.
7
159

 Continue to work in partnership with Invest Essex, UKTI and Vinci where appropriate to ensure that the
Harlow message is delivered to and understood by current and prospective investors.

Businesses and jobs - Priority 3: Support new enterprises and SME growth
Harlow has a high rate of business formation, and encouraging business start-ups and SME growth will
continue to be a priority. We will encourage businesses from Harlow to access business support of
relevance to them to ensure they can be successful, and particularly in the context of uncertainties or
opportunities that may arise as plans for Brexit emerge and progress. We will also encourage business
activities which can help with our aim of making Harlow a competitive and attractive business and
residential location, including creative, cultural and leisure activities.
Proposed actions could include:
 Harlow Enterprise Hub will support Harlow residents that wish to start their own business and those
businesses from innovative and knowledge-based sectors that may wish to move to Harlow.
 Continue to promote enterprise and ensure that businesses are referred to the most appropriate source
of assistance. Work with the SELEP BEST Growth Hub and other local providers to ensure that our
businesses are able to access face to face business support and mentoring, and innovation support
appropriate to their business.
 Deliver support and measures to stimulate new businesses and growth in creative, cultural and leisure
activities.
 Continued provision of the Council’s business pages, which provide access to a wealth of web-based
business support information.
 Promotion of enterprise education in our schools and further education facilities.
 Support for independent and neighbourhood retail businesses through promotion of the Council’s web
portal Harlow Shops Local, and providing access to support for business advice and customer service
training.
 Promotion of social enterprise and co-operative forms of business.
 Provide advice for succession planning to ensure that businesses can continue following the departure
of key personnel or owners.
 Advice and support for businesses for human resources management, recruitment, and workforce
skills.

OUTCOMES: BUSINESSES AND JOBS
Delivering on these priorities will lead to •

Securing more investment and jobs from key industries such as Life Sciences, MedTech, ICT & digital
and Aerospace.

•

More jobs and investment by businesses that are part of the supply chain of key industries.

•

Continued growth in the business base.

•

A healthy business start-up and survival rate.

8
160

•

Young people and adults gaining entrepreneurial skills and experience to help with future career
success and entrepreneurship.

9
161

2. Place
CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES
Providing the locations and premises that businesses want. Harlow Council has consistently sought to
recover the high-quality jobs lost to Harlow (over 4,000) through the global collapse of Nortel and the
decision of GSK to focus its investment in Hertfordshire. A significant initiative has been the successful
negotiation of Enterprise Zone status for several sites in Harlow.
Providing additional managed workspace to meet high demand and a lack of vacant space. Harlow’s
managed workspaces are a success, currently with low vacancy rates. We will review the need, with a view
to creating more supply, for additional managed workspaces for both office and flexible business space,
and the availability of quality move-on space from those businesses growing out of smaller managed
spaces.
Addressing the shortage of high quality office accommodation in the context of residential
conversion. The town is now facing a shortage of good quality office accommodation outside of that which
exists and will be delivered at the Enterprise Zone. There are two issues associated with this. The first is
that high quality office space will need to be provided to accommodate the jobs of new residents in the new
housing developments. Second, offices and employment land are being eroded by residential conversion
and housing developments. Residential conversion of office space is a national planning policy issue and
the Council is unable to prevent it. The Council will continue to monitor this, and will raise concerns and
issues as they arise.
Housing is a high priority for Harlow and inextricably linked to economic prosperity. This is a
challenge for Harlow given the estate based nature of much of the original new town housing stock and
affordability issues for many residents. In addition to local housing needs, inevitably economic growth will
be an additional driver of need for housing for a growing workforce.
The quality and offer of Harlow Town Centre is important not only to residents but to inward
investment aims. Quality of life, the cultural and leisure offer, and living environment issues can influence
not only residents’ decisions about where they spend their money but are also critical to business decisions
about location.
Improving and maintaining transport connectivity and superfast broadband infrastructure,
particularly to support housing and employment site development continues to be a challenge.
Harlow and its environs will continue to demonstrate the need for a programme of transport investments to
ensure the town is able to maintain and improve connectivity with key transport assets such as the M11,
London Stansted Airport and the West Anglia mainline. The West Anglia Mainline provides important
access to London and Cambridge, the London Underground through Tottenham Hale and the Stratford
interchange for London Underground, Overground rail services and the Docklands Light Railway. However,
journey times are constrained and significant investment is required to address the growth envisaged along
the line, at Harlow and Gilston, London Stansted Airport and Cambridge. Discussions have taken place
with Network Rail and Transport for London concerning the potential for Crossrail 2 northern terminus to
terminate at Harlow which will bring substantial benefit to the town, supporting planned housing and
economic growth.
Superfast Broadband is now considered as the fourth utility and essential for economic success.
Harlow requires increased investment in the infrastructure supporting business parks and employment
areas to increase access, reliability and speed/capacity. Much of the residential areas of Harlow are fibre
cabled to the premises but there are some pockets of areas of residential areas with poor connectivity and
capacity which should also be addressed. To continue to support existing knowledge-based industries, and
10
162

to promote the development of new ones such as creative industries (many of which require high speed
access to cloud data storage) – high speed broadband is essential.

THERE HAS BEEN SIGNIFICANT PROGRESS IN EMPLOYMENT SITES AND HOUSING
DEVELOPMENT, AND THE RECENT ANNOUNCEMENT OF THE FUNDING FOR
IMPROVEMENTS TO JUNCTION 7A
The Council has invested in Harlow Enterprise Zone and will enable the development of the London Road
Science Park through our partnership with developers Vinci UK. This parallels the development of Kao Park
in the south of the London Road site, which has already secured tenants and will also deliver data centre
capacity on site to act as a further attractor to business. The Anglia Ruskin MedTech Innovation Centre will
be an early occupier of the Science Park and will be a key asset in our aspiration to support and grow the
MedTech sector which has a strong presence in Harlow.
Harlow Council welcomes the announcement of Government support for a new motorway junction to the
north of Harlow (known as 7a) and will continue to press the case for construction at the earliest practicable
opportunity. This is essential to provide confidence for much needed investment and the attraction of
businesses and jobs to Harlow and critically the Harlow Enterprise Zone.
The Airport continues to grow, with 24.3 million passengers during the calendar year 2016, beating the
previous high of 23.8 million set in 2007. Cargo also recorded a significant increase with the airport
handling 250,000 tonnes during 2016. London Stansted Airport has recently unveiled plans for a new £130
million arrivals building to significantly improve the passenger experience. The Airport is a key attractor to
international businesses and MAG continues to work to attract long haul flights particularly to the USA.
Developing these routes will be an important factor for the continued success of the Life Science and Tech
Sectors present in the LSC corridor and for those businesses it is hoped to attract to the Harlow Enterprise
Zone.
The airport also plays an important role in delivering short haul flights which connect businesses in our
growth sectors with major European markets and European Hubs to worldwide connections. In addition to
this, the Airport handles increasing freight and cargo tonnage, with capacity for more. MAG is seeking to
maximise the airports approved growth potential and has outlined further growth opportunities on the
existing runway and further.
Investment in the Town Centre is progressing with the opening of a new multiplex cinema and the
reconfiguration of retail space with new stores and services continuing to choose Harlow as a business
location. Proposals for residential development in the town centre are also being promoted. However, what
is needed is continued transformative change that will make the Town Centre a place where people will
choose to shop, socialise, spend leisure time, enjoy arts and culture, and, live. Certainty for housing growth
development will support the case for that transformation and regeneration.

FUTURE PRIORITIES
Place - Priority 1: Continue to effectively deliver existing development sites and
opportunities, including Harlow Enterprise Zone
The Council will continue to promote and develop the Harlow Enterprise Zone in order to recover and
surpass the high-quality jobs lost to Harlow several years ago. We seek to meet our aspiration to attract
business from our target growth sectors, with the provision of high quality accommodation appropriate to
their needs.
Proposed actions could include:
11
163

 Continued leadership and delivery of the Enterprise Zone, including Harlow Science and Technology
Park.
 Continued work to support the Public Health England Campus.
 Provide a regular ‘statement of need’ for employment sites, land and specification of premises. It is
important that the Council, its partners, and businesses are well informed about the locational needs of
businesses.

Place - Priority 2: With partners, develop a pipeline of employment sites and premises to
provide opportunities for business investment and jobs
Harlow will need to maintain its current levels of employment land and consider how the additional
employment needs of the residents of the proposed Garden Town development at Harlow and Gilston Park
are to be met, giving rise to the need to identify additional employment land opportunities. There is also a
need to review the availability and development of managed workspaces, as current premises are full.
Proposed actions could include:
 An employment land and premises strategy that provides high level commitment and proposes tools
and approaches to employment land allocation and assembly will help to secure a viable long-term
supply. It is critical to develop this in partnership with neighbouring authorities.
 Through our business engagement with existing business located in Harlow, we will identify increased
investment and site development opportunities, and seek to support these, addressing any barriers to
investment.
 Work in partnership to understand the additional employment needs of the residents of the proposed
Garden Town development at Harlow and Gilston Park.
 Harlow’s managed workspaces are a success, currently with low vacancy rates. We will review the
need for additional managed workspaces for both office and flexible business space, and the availability
of quality move on space from those businesses growing out of smaller managed spaces.
 Monitor residential conversion of office space and raise concerns about its prospective impacts.

Place - Priority 3: Provide new high quality housing in sustainable communities with
appropriate tenure mix and affordability
For Harlow, housing is a high priority and inextricably linked to economic prosperity. Harlow and
neighbouring authorities will need to address this issue in their Local Plans. This will ensure that
businesses have confidence that a range of appropriate housing will be available for their workforces
should they choose to locate to Harlow. The announcement of Garden Town status for Harlow and Gilston
Park will offer a positive opportunity to deliver that aspiration.
Proposed actions could include:
 The Council will promote the delivery of a high quality and diverse housing offer to ensure that people,
working at all levels in Harlow, will increasingly want to live in Harlow for its housing and quality of life
offer.

Place - Priority 4: Transformation of Harlow Town Centre

12
164

The Town Centre needs a transformation into a high quality, high amenity centre that provides for residents
of all backgrounds and aspirations, and also provides attractions for the workforce of key employers.

Proposed actions could include:
 The Council is actively pursuing plans and has committed capital investment to deliver public realm
improvements, increase community, leisure and commercial activity, deliver quality residential
opportunities and a vision to secure longer term investment and regeneration.
 Embed modern working environments into future Town Centre developments. Ensure that opportunities
to deliver space and resources to enable business activity and development, such as shared/coworking space, meeting spaces, access to wi-fi, live/work accommodation are considered as these town
centre plans progress.
 Support continued space for creative industries and cultural activities, recognising the contribution this
makes to a vibrant town centre.

Place - Priority 5: Ensure the key enabling infrastructural investments are supported
We will continue to ensure that the right physical infrastructure is in place to facilitate delivery and ensure
that businesses and investors are assured that they can benefit from Harlow’s excellent local and national
connectivity. This will include, continuing to work on the improvement of the road infrastructure between the
Harlow Enterprise Zone sites and the M11 motorway and the A414, bringing forward M11 Junction 7a at
the earliest practicable opportunity, as well as ensuring superfast broadband infrastructure to the sites.
Proposed actions could include:
Motorway junctions
M11 Motorway Improvements. The M11 is a key national transport asset and its optimum
functioning is imperative for the success of the economy in Harlow and the wider London Stansted
Cambridge corridor. There are a series of investments required to deliver the improvements
required to ensure this can be achieved, enabling Harlow Enterprise Zone, London Stansted Airport,
the establishment of Public Health England and the anticipated housing growth to the north of
Harlow and in the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor.
M11 Junctions 7 & 7a. Junction 7 is currently operating above capacity at peak times and requires
investment to ensure the maximum benefit can be achieved at this junction. This alone will not
provide the solution to supporting current and future economic and housing growth at Harlow. The
new junction at 7a will reduce congestion at junction 7, deliver additional connectivity with the town
and provide capacity for economic and housing growth, which is essential for the long term
economic development of the town.
The Council will continue to advocate for resources to deliver the junction and the appropriate
highway connectivity to the town (including the potential for the northern link road), taking the case
to Essex and Hertfordshire County Councils, the South East Local Enterprise Partnership, Highways
England and the Department of Transport through the town’s MP and our representation through
the LSCC.

13
165

M11 Junction 8. Improvements at Junction 8 are a necessity for ensuring that London Stansted
Airport can reach its optimum approved capacity, bringing additional jobs and business
opportunities for Harlow and wider West Essex.
Rail. The West Anglia Mainline is a key piece of infrastructure, critical to the economic success of
the London Stansted Cambridge corridor and therefore Harlow’s future. The Council supports the
call for major improvements to the line, including 4 tracking from Coppermill Lane to Broxbourne at
the earliest opportunity and further on to provide for Crossrail 2 servicing Harlow as the end
destination station. The Council will seek to ensure that the Stansted Express will continue to serve
Harlow ensuring that both employees of the airport and businesses can continue to access the
airport. This will be increasingly important as Harlow Enterprise Zone grows.
London Stansted Airport. Harlow Council will continue to work with London Stansted Airport on
workforce and skills issues, and also to understand future expansion plans on the airport and
surrounding sites. We will continue our support for the airport to attract long-haul flights that serve
our business community. We will continue to advocate the benefits of Junction 8 for servicing
access to the airport.
High speed internet access. The Council will identify any superfast broadband deficits and promote
these for early solutions through the Superfast Essex programme or other appropriate avenues. We
will promote optimum superfast broadband provision in new developments through Planning policy.
We will aim to deliver the fastest speeds and capacity to enable competitive edge for Harlow as a
location for successful business.
The Council will also ensure that any new residential developments are provided with adequate
telecoms and broadband access in recognition of the path of many small businesses that are either,
run from residential premises, or start in such premises until the times when the business has grown
and requires different or additional facilities.

OUTCOMES: PLACE
Delivering on these priorities will lead to •

An outstanding location and environment for businesses, particularly those where Harlow has existing
strengths - including ICT, Advanced Manufacturing and Life Sciences industries.

•

Attract and retain more jobs in Harlow.

•

A world class Public Health Campus.

•

A sufficient, high quality, viable employment land supply to meet future demand and provide a credible
offer to prospective inward investors.

•

New managed workspace and a mix of premises sizes and styles that cater for existing and future
demand.

•

A vibrant, inclusive Town Centre that attracts and retains existing and new residents and workers and
where expenditure and footfall increases.

14
166

3. People
RATIONALE AND OBJECTIVES
Ensuring that businesses are able to access the workforce they need and that individuals can
achieve their best in terms of educational and skills achievement, is fundamental for economic
success, and social and community prosperity.
What is clear is that our labour market skills need to evolve to support the identified growth
sectors. Skills gaps are identified in each of these sectors and therefore education and skills provision
needs to meet, not only current needs, but to also anticipate the needs of future economic growth. Whilst
rates of school qualifications attainment have improved remarkably over the past 10 years, overall
qualifications attainments amongst the adult population are lower than the national average, particularly in
degree-level and professional skills.
Harlow residents will typically face a diverse range of barriers to entering and progressing in
employment, and these could potentially relate to health and wellbeing, caring responsibilities, personal
problems, lack of confidence and work experience, or lack of peer or mentor support.
Currently, Harlow residents do not take advantage of the higher-skilled, higher-paid jobs in the
Town. This problem is illustrated by the fact that residents are earning approximately, on average £60 per
week less than the average pay available for the jobs present in Harlow. Our Strategy needs to bring
learning and skills to the fore to enable Harlow residents to take advantage of the better paid opportunities
on offer in the town. This will ensure that economic prosperity in our businesses translates to local
residents and the local community.
There is a need to deliver initiatives and closer joint working between employers, educational and
training institutes and Harlow Council to ensure that existing and future skills needs are identified and
catered for, and to ensure that adults in work are able to identify and progress into new job opportunities.

MUCH PROGRESS HAS BEEN MADE TO DELIVER SKILLS PROVISION THAT ALIGNS WITH
BUSINESS NEED
The Harlow Enterprise Zone Skills Plan has enabled Harlow College and the University Centre to develop a
curriculum offer responsive to target growth sectors. The Sir Charles Kao University Technical College is a
direct response to enabling young people to access the skills required by businesses in the fields of
medical technology and smart environments. In addition, engineering, the sciences and computer science
skills feature strongly. The Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering Centre (AMC) at Harlow College,
opening in March 2017, will similarly offer a curriculum and skills required by the advanced manufacturing
and engineering sector, and the College is actively engaged with employers to ensure that this is core to
the development and delivery of the AMC.

FUTURE PRIORITIES
People - Priority 1: Understanding future skills needs
It is essential that the Council, with partners, understands the labour and skills requirements of new
occupiers (and their supply chains), for example at the Harlow Enterprise Zone, Public Health England and
from the expansion of London Stansted Airport. This will enable future provision responsive to these needs.
Understanding the future needs of existing employers is also critical – for example, Harlow’s largest
employer is The Princess Alexandra Hospital NHS Trust (PAH) with approximately 3,000 people employed
on site.
15
167

Proposed actions could include:
 A labour market intelligence network which will provide analysis and evidence as well as provide a
forum for discussing the workforce and skills requirements of key employers.
 A partnership with the Council, employers and education and skills providers (including the College) to
discuss future skills needs and curriculum development, apprenticeship, and workplace skills
development provision.

People - Priority 2: Providing the skills and levels educational attainment that both
businesses and residents need – now and in the future
Provision of skilled and learning needs to reflect employers’ workforce and skills needs. The Council wants
to play a role in ensuring that the employment needs are met and that local residents are able to acquire
the education and skills to enable them to secure employment and progress once in work. There are
shared education and skills needs between PAH, PHE and the life science sector where joint planning and
provision would seem sensible.
Proposed actions could include:
 Establishing workforce development plans with large employers.
 Brokerage and negotiation between employers and skills and education providers to build an agenda
for change and for delivering to employer needs.
 Working with partners, the education authority, and Skills Funding Agency to ensure the education and
training funding and delivery matches need.
 Promote more business/employer engagement in offering curriculum enrichment opportunities.
 Continue to scrutinise and engage with educational provision and attainment in order to ensure that
recent gains in education and skills attainment continues.

People - Priority 3: Dedicated promotion and delivery of STEMC skills
Harlow Council is not a statutory provider of education or skills provision, but recognises that the landscape
in these areas would benefit from more strategic co-ordination, particularly in the field of Science,
Technology, Engineering, Maths and Computing (STEMC) skills.
Proposed actions could include:
 The Council will seek to bring additionality and co-ordination of a sustained campaign, in partnership
with education and skills providers to raise the profile of STEMC at all levels and in the community.
 The establishment of Harlow Science & Technology week.
 Explore ways in which individuals can access and participate in national and regional science based
events, such as Stargazing, the Cambridge Science Fair, and Royal Institution lectures.
 Explore and promote opportunities that encourage girls and women into the fields of STEMC where
they may be under-represented.
 Explore and promote wider opportunities were the STEMC skills interface with the arts, digital and
creative sectors.
16
168

 Achieve greater visibility of the importance of STEMC to a breadth of career opportunities.
 Offer opportunities for teachers to understand the local and sub-regional economy, job and career
opportunities, and the importance of STEMC to these for their pupils' future success.
 Promotion of the breadth of career opportunities available in the London Stansted Cambridge Corridor
including interventions for primary age school children.

People - Priority 4: Ensuring that adult residents in Harlow can access, and are equipped to
take advantage of job opportunities from new investments and business growth
To progress in work and access new and better job opportunities, some of Harlow’s adults will need
support. Earnings and employment data reveal that Harlow adult residents do not fully benefit from the
skilled and better paid jobs in local employers.
Proposed actions could include:
 Harlow jobs dialogue – working with employers to develop a view of future jobs opportunities, careers
progression, and communicating this in appropriate ways with adult residents.
 Analysis and action plan to identify main barriers to entering work and progressing in-work, including
health and wellbeing, lack of qualifications and basic skills, lack of work experience, caring and other
responsibilities.
 Harlow in-work progression initiative – exploring the opportunities from initiatives and tools that can help
delivery in-work skills progression, such as job escalators and adult apprenticeships
 Deliver a sustained publicity campaign to promote learning and skills opportunities and to celebrate
success in Harlow related to STEMC, including business innovations.

OUTCOMES: PEOPLE
Delivering on these priorities will lead to What we want to achieve in Harlow are the following outcomes:
•

Harlow Council, education and training institutions, individuals and local industries will have an informed
view of future skills needs that provides a basis for education and training planning and provision.

•

Businesses can access the workforce they need.

•

Local residents are better placed to meet businesses’ workforce requirements, particularly in skilled
jobs.

•

Increased education and skills attainment that helps Harlow residents to access to better employment
opportunities and meet local employers’ needs.

•

A rise in earnings of Harlow residents, closing the gap when compared with workplace earnings.

17
169

4. WORKING IN PARTNERSHIP TO
DELIVER OUR ECONOMIC STRATEGY
Understanding our Local Economy and Businesses
Increasing our understanding of the local economy and our businesses will enable us to develop intelligent
policy and practical solutions to supporting economic growth, managing impacts of economic shock or any
uncertainties arising from Brexit.
Business Engagement is a vital part of maintaining this understanding. We will ensure that an
ongoing dialogue with business is sustained to enable us to both understand their needs and aspirations
and secondly, to influence Council policy.
We will hold an annual Business Forum where we will ensure that businesses are able to hear about the
Council and its Plans and approach to economic growth, and, have the opportunity to input their views and
thereby influence policy.
We will publish a bi-monthly business e-newsletter to ensure that information we receive of relevance to
business is shared with the business community. It will also offer the opportunity for business to contribute
articles which may be of interest to their business colleagues.
We will also ensure a business friendly approach through all Council departments, using our website and
‘Supporting Enterprise’ materials to ensure businesses can navigate Council services effectively and
efficiently.
The Council will ensure that our business engagement programme ensures that we have direct dialogue
with our large employers and corporates, key sector companies and the Harlow & District Chamber of
Commerce and Federation of Small Businesses. We will ensure that this dialogue and key issues are
captured in a Client Management System.
Economic Intelligence will be gathered to ensure that we understand our key economic sectors and we
will also undertake a bi-annual Business Survey.
Community Engagement. The Council will also consult with the community, and, local community and
voluntary sector organisations, to understand what economic success looks like from their perspective. We
want to explore what opportunities there may be for community economic initiatives that will promote
economic value and resilience.

Promoting the Economic Objectives of Harlow and West Essex
The Council will continue to act as community leader to influence the deployment of resources and
opportunities with the aim of achieving the objectives outlined above to secure the economic success of the
town.
We will seek to deliver this in partnership, recognising the reality of economic geographies and the role of
the private sector wherever shared objectives are apparent. This may take different organisational forms as
evidenced through our formalised partnerships to deliver the Harlow Enterprise Zone through to our
continued relationships with business representative organisations and economic sector forums. The
Council will ensure that Harlow’s needs for resourcing the fundamental assets for economic success will be
promoted at every level of governance, including at national level.
18
170

The Council supports collaboration between the districts of Epping Forest, Harlow, Uttlesford and East
Hertfordshire to achieve common economic objectives, recognising Harlow’s role as an economic subregional centre. This is increasingly important with the announcement of the Garden Town development at
Harlow and Gilston Park.
We will bring together economic development and planning officers to form an Officer Group. The Group
will support West Essex/East Hertfordshire as the sub-regional economic area and support its members
and representatives role in relation to the LSCC, Essex & Hertfordshire County Councils, the South East
and Hertfordshire Local Enterprise Partnerships and national Government.

London Stansted Cambridge Consortium
Harlow Council is a member of the London Stansted Cambridge Consortium and recognises the value to
Harlow of our role in the future economic development of London Stansted Cambridge corridor.
The LSCC will enable Harlow to continue to forge relationships with neighbouring local authorities such as
East Hertfordshire and, with the Hertfordshire and Greater Cambridgeshire and Greater Peterborough
Local Economic Partnerships, and the north-east London Boroughs and London LEP.
We will continue to work on issues of common interest, supporting the economic growth aspirations of
Harlow, through the London Stansted Cambridge Consortium and the Core Group.
The LSCC offers us the opportunity to ensure that Harlow is on the national and global map both as a
successful business location offering a positive invitation for other businesses to locate here and to make
the case for the infrastructure investment we need that brings substantial economic, social and housing
growth to benefit the wider LSC corridor.

Delivery
The Economic Development Strategy outlines a clear direction for the Council’s economic development
priorities and aspirations, with specific activities.
The Council will establish an Economic Development Officer Board that will be tasked with delivering the
Strategy through the development of an Action Plan with specified outcomes and timeframes.
The Board will be comprised of officers with responsibility for Economic Development and Regeneration,
Planning and Harlow Enterprise Zone. It will be the Board’s responsibility to execute the Action Plan,
reporting to the Corporate Management Team as required and to the Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and
Enterprise.

19
171

Agenda Item 15b

REPORT TO:

CABINET

DATE:

23 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

REFERRAL FROM SCRUTINY COMMITTEE –
REVIEW OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT – FINAL
REPORT

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:

COUNCILLOR EMMA TOAL, DEPUTY LEADER
AND PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR YOUTH AND
COMMUNITY

LEAD OFFICERS:

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY
WELLBEING (01279) 446406

CONTRIBUTING
OFFICER(S)

SIMON PIPE, CUSTOMER AND MEDIA SERVICES
MANAGER (01279) 446888

This is not a Key Decision
Call-in Procedures may apply
This decision will affect no ward specifically
RECOMMENDED that:
A The toolkit developed by the Local Government Association and the
Campaign Company, as part of the New Conversations Project, is referred to
the Overview Working Group with a view to developing a new Community
Engagement Strategy.
REASON FOR DECISION
A The Scrutiny Committee considered a report on the review of community
engagement and had one recommended action for Cabinet.
BACKGROUND
1. At its meeting on 14 March 2017, the Scrutiny Committee considered a report
on the review of community engagement, as well as a presentation by Will
Heywood from the Campaign Company.
2. The Committee considered the toolkit and recommended to Cabinet that the
matter is referred to the Cabinet Overview Working Group with a view to
developing a new Community Engagement Strategy.

172

IMPLICATIONS
Implications of the recommended decision are outlined in the ‘Implications’ section
of the original report, which is attached as Appendix 1.
APPENDICES
Appendix 1 – Original report to the Scrutiny Committee, ‘Review of Community
Engagement Strategy – Final Report’
BACKGROUND PAPERS
All original reports to the Scrutiny Committee can be viewed from
http://moderndb/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=250&MId=818&Ver=4

173

REPORT TO:

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

DATE:

14 MARCH 2017

TITLE:

REVIEW OF COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT FINAL REPORT

LEAD OFFICER(S):

JANE GREER, HEAD OF COMMUNITY
WELLBEING (01279) 446406

CONTRIBUTING
OFFICER(S):

SIMON PIPE, CUSTOMER AND MEDIA
SERVICES MANAGER (01279) 446888

RECOMMENDED that the Scrutiny Committee:
A Considers the toolkit developed by the Campaign Company (TCC) and the
Local Government Association (LGA) attached to this report as Appendix A.
B Recommend to Cabinet that the toolkit, as part of the New Conversations
project, is referred to the Overview Working Group with a view to developing
a new Community Engagement Strategy.
BACKGROUND
1.

As part of the LGA peer review that was carried out in November 2014, there
was a request to look at the way the community engagement process was
carried out within the Council. The current Community Engagement Strategy
expired in March 2016.

2.

Although some initial exploratory work was undertaken to refresh the
Strategy in 2015, this was superseded by an offer from the LGA to be part of
a project that they were running with TCC.

3.

This work started in early 2016 and the aim of the project was to produce a
best practice and practical guide to consultation and engagement for local
authorities.

4.

An update on the progress of the work was given to the Scrutiny Committee
on 31 January 2017 by Will Heywood from TCC, prior to the national project
titled New Conversations being launched on Monday 27 February 2017.

ISSUES/PROPOSALS
5.

A presentation on the findings is to be presented to the Committee by Will
Heywood. It recommends a series of models for consideration for inclusion in
a future community engagement strategy.

174

6.

The project itself has also delivered an in depth toolkit that can be used in
relation to community engagement (Appendix A).

CONCLUSION
7.

To ensure that a more strategic approach is adopted in relation to community
engagement, a new Community Engagement strategy is required that builds
on the work already undertaken and develops a deliverable strategy and
associated action plan.

IMPLICATIONS
Place (includes Sustainability)
Contained within the report and associated attachments
Author: Graeme Bloomer, Head of Place
Finance (Includes ICT)
There are no identified financial implications at this stage although any form of
community engagement is likely to require some level of financial resource.
Author: Simon Freeman, Head of Finance
Housing
Any outcomes from the review will need to align to the housing regulatory role of
effective Tenant and Leaseholder engagement in order that a “joined-up”
approach can be achieved with resources targeted at council priorities
Author: Andrew Murray, Head of Housing
Community Wellbeing (includes Equalities and Social Inclusion)
Included within report.
Author: Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Governance (includes HR)
There are no legal implications at this stage. Any form consultations will though
need to ensure appropriate data security is adhered to.
Author: Brian Keane, Head of Governance
Background Papers
New Conversations: LGA guide to engagement.
http://www.local.gov.uk/web/guest/publications//journal_content/56/10180/8287322/PUBLICATION

175

Glossary of terms/abbreviations used
LGA – Local Government Association
TCC – The Campaign Company
Appendices
Appendix A – Harlow LGA Toolkit

176

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Harlow District Council
177

Embedding
Community
Engagement
Through Change

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Introduction
This tool has been developed to support Harlow Council in its efforts to embed engagement within its working practices throughout
the organisation. It is designed to be accessible to staff and councillors and to help them to consider engagement implications and
opportunities in work they are undertaking.
The tool is based on a model of continuous engagement, with a clear engagement narrative that articulates the importance of
engagement in the authority. There are three elements to this:
1.

Engagement mandate

178

The engagement narrative set out the authority’s
fundamental aims around engagement. This tool can help
to ensure that engagement possibilities are considered at
the outset of any project or initiative. Many of the points
involve thinking about how this will fit in with wider council
objectives, and how it might impact on residents and
stakeholders. This helps to ensure that the work can be
justified and receive support both internally and by external
stakeholders.
2.

Planning for engagement
Once the Engagement Mandate has been agreed, more
practical planning for any engagement elements can
begin. This tool focuses on the practicalities of undertaking
engagement work, from initial resourcing through to the
methods and impact it will have. There needs to be an
explicit commitment to this step from the start, as it is on
this that the work’s success will be judged by the wider
community.

3.

Evaluation
It is vital to take a step back and evaluate what you have
done. Evaluation should not be confined to after the project
– it should be continuous. The steps outlined in this tool
can be applied to stages throughout the project. At very
least this gives structure to the final, post project evaluation,
which needs to follow swiftly after the completion of
Mandate and Planning stages.
For each of these elements there is a grid of actions below,
to help think through a change within a service department
or team. You can use the middle column to tick off the
stages or write in the outcomes.
The tool can be adapted and built upon depending on the
particular circumstances of the change you’re trying to
create.

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Engagement mandate
Key questions

Outcome

Things to think about and build in

179

What changes, adaptions or
developments are you proposing?

What is your model of governance? If you are a council looking for continuous
engagement, then do you already have engagement routes on this service? If not,
how do you relate this service to the users? How can you place and test these
changes against people’s needs?

How do these changes contribute to
the overall objectives of the council?

Cross-reference against the Harlow Engagement Narrative.

Has there been any involvement or
participation from stakeholders? (Y/N)

If there has been engagement before it needs to be built upon and incorporated.
If there hasn’t then the need to engage becomes all the more important.

What is the impact likely to be on
people’s day-to-day experience?

Do you know how people will be impacted? If people are significantly impacted,
acting without engagement may damage the perception of the service and the
council.

Have you talked to people about that
impact? (Y/N)

If yes detail, if no, why not?

Are there assumptions that you need to
test? (Y/N)

Detail any assumptions and how you intend to test them.

What other issues or areas might
benefit from stakeholder input?

Test the scope of what you are trying to achieve, what else may be appropriate to
engage on.

Have you considered the
communication implications of this
work? Is it aligned with other messages
that you are putting forward?

How does this fit within the overall narrative for the authority and communications
priorities? Get advice and guidance from your communications team to ensure
alignment.

Head of Service sign off

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Planning for engagement
Key questions

Outcome

Things to think about and build in

180

What resource do you have and how
will it be used?

Resource is your ultimate limiting factor, although, the more you build on existing
relationships and reach out from that basis, the greater your resource. For
example, good connections with Council Voluntary Services means leveraged
reach.

What do you already know (from
previous engagement, knowledge or
experience)?

We are rarely starting from scratch. If you are putting together areas for
investigation state assumptions and context to ensure the engagement is focused.

How will the engagement be
communicated/publicised?

This needs to be aligned with other engagement and communication priorities.
Speak to the communications team, who should have a ‘master list’ of ongoing
campaigns and engagement projects.

What do you expect to get out of it
and, importantly, what will participants
get out of it?

Envisioning the exercise form both perspectives helps to ensure relevant design.
Walk through it and scenario plan/play to understand how expectations will be
developed and met.

What methods will be used?

Referring to good practice from within your organisation and from elsewhere,
define methods that are appropriate for the audience and resource available.

Who will assess and monitor the
response?

This is an important skill, if you are to make the most of engagement process then
analysis of the findings needs to be as comprehensive as possible.

Who will analyse the results from the
engagement?

Analysis is a skill in itself. Practical frameworks for analysis are available from
organisations such as the LGA. Invest in understanding these and adapting them
to your needs.

Who will act on the engagement? And
in what ways?

Where will this output go, and how will it be adequately driven into the decision
making and thought processes? (There is nothing worse than engaging and then
ignoring what has been found out).

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Who will the results be reported to and
when?

What is the accountability for this piece of work?

How will you follow up and feedback to
participants

Feedback is a critical part of the cycle, this is the opportunity to maintain links and
foreshadow future involvement, manage expectations and reward and recognise
people for what they have put in. Don’t underestimate the value of this step in
building trust.

Who will evaluate how successful the
engagement has been and when?

Was it any good? Have a plan to evaluate internally and externally with
participants. The more you can learn and absorb today the less work you need to
do next time.

Head of Service sign off
181

EMBEDDING COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT THROUGH CHANGE

Evaluation
Key questions

Outcome

Things to think about and build in

182

Did the exercise meet its objectives?
(Y/N)

Did the exercise meaningfully contribute to the overall objectives of the authority?
If so in what ways? If not how can this be done better in future?

Was the exercise fit for purpose in
terms of scope and scale? (Y/N)

Have you used a sledgehammer to crack a nut? This is an important learning point
for teams, scoping work of any sort is difficult and comes with experience. Teams
need to articulate when they have over and underplayed it. A value for money
element can be built in here.

Did the people involved understand
and value the purpose of the
engagement? (Y/N)

This is an objective question but entails a great deal of subjective thought. What
you need to think about here is: did participants have the experience that they
expected and that you intended?

What methods were used and did they
provide the intended value?

There are many methods that can be used, but not all are appropriate all of the
time. Building up an analysis of techniques used can produce insight into habits
of the organisation and to assess new approaches.

Did the people receiving the output
view it as relevant to their design/
decision/development? (Y/N)

Did it produce something that was not only relevant but useful in the development
of the service?

How was feedback developed and
was it adequately disseminated?

Tracking how and when you have fed back is part of assessing the process but
also in creating records of engagement. This has the potential to contribute to
CRM activities.

What new information has this exercise
provided and how will it be shared with
other teams?

Engaging when done at an organisational level is continually throwing up texture
of people’s understanding and perception of what the authority does. Capturing
that and reporting it can surface potential issues and trends early.

Head of Service sign off

Agenda Item 16a

HOUSING STANDARDS BOARD
Minutes

24 January 2017

7.00pm – 8.10pm

PRESENT:
Committee Members
Cllr Mark Wilkinson (MW) - Chair
Cllr Simon Carter (SC)

Leaseholder Standards Panel:
Darrell Thomas (DT)

Tenant & Leaseholder Representatives:
Property Standards Panel:
Hugh Hoad (HH)
Tenancy Standards Panel:
Jane Steer (JS)

Officers:
Zulfi Kiani (ZK)
Cara Coxhead (CC)
Wendy Makepeace (WM)
Jim Preston (JPr)
Christopher Smith (CS)
Viv Hales (VH)
Jordan Gallagher (JG)
Action

1.

2.

Apologies
Cllr Bob Davis (Vice-Chair) (BD), Cllr Bill Pryor (BP), Andrew Murray
(AM), Sheila Robson (SR), Jo West (JW), Jenny Pearce (JPe).

Noted

Christopher Smith was introduced as the Asset Manager who will be
replacing Jim Preston for future meetings.

Noted

Declaration of Interest
Cllr Simon Carter declared an interest in HTS Group.

3.

Noted

Minutes of last meeting (06.12.16) and Matters arising
The minutes were agreed.

Noted

It was advised that the action points from the minutes would be
covered under agenda item 6.
4.

Cabinet Work plan 2016/17
The work plan was noted.

5.

Noted

Briefing Notes:
The briefing notes were noted:
Page 1 of 2

183

A number of questions were raised and answered respectively and a
full set of questions and answers was sent to all members of the
HSB on the 25 January 2017.
6.

Major Works Toolkit including Out of Hours
Officers confirmed that the processes are robust. Contractor
handbooks were circulated to HSB members for information.

7.

Noted

Noted

However, following previous concerns raised with regards responses
to a heating appliance breakdown, a review of the process was
carried out, re-affirming customer contact points, outlining roles and
responsibilities
Current Consultations
None

8.

Formal questions and answers
None

9.

Any other Business
None

The Date of the Next meeting is: 21 February 2017
Background Papers
None

Page 2 of 2

184

Agenda Item 16b

MINUTES OF THE CABINET OVERVIEW WORKING GROUP
HELD ON
7 February 2017

7.30 - 8.50 pm

PRESENT
Overview Working Group Members
Councillor Ian Beckett (Chair)
Councillor Mark Ingall (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Simon Carter
Councillor Maggie Hulcoop
Councillor Clive Souter
Councillor John Strachan
Other Councillors
Councillor Joel Charles
Councillor Tony Durcan
Officers
Lisa Thornett, Customer Services Officer
Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing
Andrew Bramidge, Project Director - Enterprise Zone
Maureen Pearman, Community, Leisure and Cultural Services Manager

26.

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
Apologies of Absence were received by Councillors Rod Truan, Stefan
Mullard, David Carter and Mike Garnet.
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

27.

MINUTES
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 1 December
2016 be agreed as a correct record subject to adding Councillor
Maggie Hulcoop to Agenda item 18 ‘apologies for absence’

28.

MATTERS ARISING
None.

29.

NON HOUSING ASSET MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
Councillor Ian Beckett, Chair of Cabinet Working Overview Group
informed the group that having spoken with Graeme Bloomer, Head of

185

Place, that he would prefer the report to be presented to the group in full
rather than incomplete.
Councillor Simon Carter advised that he had his concerns in the fact the
report was taking far too long to produce. Councillor Ian Beckett advised
that he is confident it would be dealt with thoroughly and presented to the
group in June 2017.
30.

REVIEW OF PETS CORNER
Jane Greer, Head of Community Wellbeing, gave a presentation on the
progress made by the Pets Corner Working Group.
RESOLVED that the report would be submitted to Cabinet with the
following amendment.
A Overview Working Group notes the progress made by the Pets’ Corner
Working Group.
B Overview Working Group recommends to Cabinet that the current
subsidy of £195,000 in 2017/18 and £198,500 in 2018/19 is maintained
and notes the Overview Working Group’s opinion that funding of some
scale will be required beyond 2018/19, albeit in a potentially
diminishing level.
C The Overview Working Group recommends to Cabinet that Pets’
Corner develop a number of initiatives to increase income targets in
order to reduce the level Council subsidy in the future.

31.

UPDATE ON TOWN CENTRE
Councillor Tony Durcan, Portfolio Holder for Regeneration and Enterprise,
gave a presentation on the proposed developments of the Town Centre
RESOLVED that the report would be submitted to Cabinet with the
following amendment.
A The Overview Working Group notes the contents of the report.
B An update report is provided to the Overview Working Group in six
months’ time and ask that a sub group is established to support this
on-going work.
Councillors Simon Carter and Maggie Hulcoop have already
volunteered and the group would require a further two Councillors who
would be willing to volunteer.

186

32.

WORK PLAN
The Cabinet Overview Working Group reviewed the Work Plan for the
year.
RESOLVED that
a) The 2016/17 Work Plan is noted.
b) It was agreed that the Economic Development Strategy
Interim Report would in fact be the FINAL report.

33.

MATTERS OF URGENT BUSINESS
None.

CHAIRMAN OF THE OVERVIEW
WORKING GROUP

187

